

# COMPOSITIO MATHEMATICA

# Classification of two-dimensional split trianguline representations of p-adic fields

Kentaro Nakamura

Compositio Math. 145 (2009), 865–914.

 ${\rm doi:} 10.1112/S0010437X09004059$ 





# Classification of two-dimensional split trianguline representations of p-adic fields

### Kentaro Nakamura

#### Abstract

The aim of this article is to classify two-dimensional split trianguline representations of p-adic fields. This is a generalization of a result of Colmez who classified two-dimensional split trianguline representations of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{\mathbb{Q}}_p/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  for  $p \neq 2$  by using  $(\varphi, \Gamma)$ -modules over a Robba ring. In this article, for any prime p and for any p-adic field K, we classify two-dimensional split trianguline representations of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{K}/K)$  using B-pairs as defined by Berger.

#### Contents

| Introduction |   |   | 866 |
|--------------|---|---|-----|
|              | 0.1   | Background  | 866 |
|              | 0.2   | Layout of the article   | 867 |
| 1            | B-pairs and $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules. |   | 871 |
|              | 1.1   | Review of $p$ -adic period rings and the definition of $B$ -pairs                       | 871 |
|              | 1.2   | $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over a Robba ring  | 876 |
|              | 1.3   | Equivalence between B-pairs and $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules                          | 881 |
|              | 1.4   | Classification of rank-one $E$ - $B$ -pairs   | 882 |
| 2            | Cal   | culations of cohomologies of $E$ - $B$ -pairs   | 885 |
|              | 2.1   | Definition of Galois cohomology of $E$ - $B$ -pairs                                     | 885 |
|              | 2.2   | Euler–Poincaré characteristic formula and Tate local duality for $B$ -pairs             | 888 |
|              | 2.3   | Calculations of cohomologies of rank-one $E$ - $B$ -pairs                               | 889 |
| 3            | Clas  | ssification of two-dimensional split trianguline $E$ -representations                   | 892 |
|              | 3.1   | Parameter spaces of two-dimensional split trianguline $E$ -representations              | 892 |
|              | 3.2   | Irreducibility of $V(s)$  | 896 |
|              | 3.3   | The conditions for $V(s) = V(s')$   | 897 |
| 4            | Clas  | ssification of two-dimensional potentially semi-stable split                            |     |
|              | tria  | $egin{array}{c} \mathbf{nguline} \ \mathbf{\emph{E}}	ext{-representations} \end{array}$ | 899 |
|              | 4.1   | de Rham split trianguline $E$ -representations  | 899 |
|              | 4.2   | Potentially crystalline split trianguline $E$ -representations                          | 902 |
|              | 4.3   | Potentially semi-stable and non-crystalline split trianguline                           |     |
|              |   | E-representations   | 907 |
|              |   |   |     |

Received 8 January 2008, accepted in final form 7 December 2008, published online 15 June 2009. 2000 Mathematics Subject Classification 11F80 (primary), 11F85, 11S25 (secondary). Keywords: p-adic Hodge theory, trianguline representations, B-pairs. This journal is © Foundation Compositio Mathematica 2009.

| Acknowledgements  | 909 |  |
|---|-----|--|
| Appendix A A relation between two-dimensional potentially semi-           |     |  |
| stable trianguline $E$ -representations and classical local Langlands     |     |  |
| correspondence for $\mathrm{GL}_2(K)$ .                                   | 910 |  |
| A.1 Classical local Langlands correspondence for $\operatorname{GL}_2(K)$ | 910 |  |
| A.2 Two-dimensional trianguline representations and non-supercuspidal     |     |  |
| representations   | 911 |  |
| Appendix B List of notation   |     |  |
| References  |     |  |

# Introduction

# 0.1 Background

Let p be a prime number. In this article, we study two-dimensional trianguline representations of any p-adic field K, i.e. a finite extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ . A trianguline representation is a class of p-adic representations of  $G_K := \operatorname{Gal}(K/K)$ , which has turned out to be an important notion. The trianguline representation was defined by Colmez and is defined by using  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over a Robba ring  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  which is non-canonically isomorphic to a ring of Laurent power series which converge in some annulus and is equipped with a Frobenius  $\varphi$  action and with  $\Gamma_K := \operatorname{Gal}(K_\infty/K)$ actions. Here  $K_{\infty} := K(\zeta_{p^{\infty}})$  is the extension of K obtained by adjoining  $p^n$ th roots of unity  $\zeta_{p^n}$ for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . The  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  are defined as finite free  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ -modules with semi-linear  $\varphi$  and  $\Gamma_K$  actions. By the work of Kedlaya [Ked04], the notion of slopes of  $\varphi$ -modules over a Robba ring is very important and we say that a  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -module over  $B_{\text{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  is étale if it is pure of slope zero as a  $\varphi$ -module. Using the works of Fontaine [Fon90], Cherbonnier and Colmez [CC98] and Kedlaya [Ked04], the category of p-adic representations of  $G_K$  is equivalent to the category of étale  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ . This equivalence enables us to see the category of p-adic representation of  $G_K$  as a full subcategory of the category of  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  (without slope conditions). We say that a p-adic representation V of  $G_K$  is split trianguline if  $D_{\text{rig}}(V)$ , the  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -module corresponding to V, is a successive extension of rankone objects in the category of  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ . We also say V is trianguline if V is split trianguline after making a finite extension of coefficients.

Trianguline representations can be seen as generalizations of ordinary representations. However, many interesting irreducible representations can be trianguline. For example, all semi-stable representations are trianguline. Moreover, there are many interesting trianguline representations which are not de Rham. For example, when  $K = \mathbb{Q}_p$ , Kisin showed that two-dimensional p-adic representations of  $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$  attached to finite-slope overconvergent modular forms are trianguline, and this fact was key to his p-adic Hodge theoretic approach to the study of Coleman–Mazur eigencurves [Kis03]. Recently Bellaïche–Chenevier generalized Kisin's method and studied higher-dimensional trianguline representations of  $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$  to study higher-dimensional eigenvarieties [BC06]. Another example is Colmez's p-adic Langlands correspondence for  $\mathrm{GL}_2(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ : trianguline representations are at the heart of his theory of p-adic Langlands correspondence. When  $K = \mathbb{Q}_p$  and  $p \neq 2$ , he classified two-dimensional split trianguline representations of  $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$  and, based on this classification, he proved that the sets of points corresponding to trianguline representations are Zariski dense in deformation spaces of two-dimensional p-adic representations of  $G_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$ . By combining some constructions of Colmez and of Berger–Breuil, we obtain the p-adic Langlands correspondence for trianguline

representations [BB06, Col04, Col07]. The correspondence for trianguline representations and the Zariski density of trianguline points played essential roles in his construction of p-adic Langlands correspondence for  $GL_2(\mathbb{Q}_p)$  (see [Col08b]).

The main purpose of this article is the complete classification of two-dimensional split trianguline representations of  $G_K$  for any finite extension K of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  for any prime p (we do not need to assume that  $p \neq 2$ ). We determine the parameter space of all split trianguline representations and we also determine the parameter space of potentially crystalline or potentially semi-stable split trianguline representations, then we explicitly describe the filtered  $(\varphi, N, G_K)$ -modules associated with them. Currently, the only interesting examples of trianguline representations are in the case  $K = \mathbb{Q}_p$ . The author hopes that this article will be useful in giving many interesting examples of trianguline representations in the general  $K \neq \mathbb{Q}_p$  case. For example, we want to know whether p-adic representations attached to finite-slope overconvergent Hilbert modular forms are trianguline or not. In this article, we could not attack the problem regarding the Zariski density of trianguline representations as the author does not know whether the set of trianguline points is Zariski dense or not in the general  $K \neq \mathbb{Q}_p$  case. These problems will be the subject of study in future works.

# 0.2 Layout of the article

In  $\S 1$ , we define trianguline representations and split trianguline representations by using B-pairs instead of  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  for some technical reasons. The B-pair was defined by Berger [Ber08b]. We write  $B_e := B_{\text{cris}}^{\varphi = 1}$ . An E-B-pair (the E-coefficient version of a B-pair; here E is a finite extension of K which contains the Galois closure of K) is a pair  $W := (W_e, W_{\text{dR}}^+)$  where  $W_e$  is a finite free  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -module with a continuous semi-linear  $G_K$ -action such that  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \subseteq$  $W_{\mathrm{dR}} := B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e$  is a  $G_K$ -stable  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -lattice of  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}$ . In [Ber08b, Theorem 2.2.7], Berger established an equivalence between the category of E-B-pairs and the category of E- $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ , which are also the E-coefficient version of  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules. The category of E representations of  $G_K$  (the E-coefficient version of p-adic representations) is embedded in the category of E-B-pairs by  $V \mapsto W(V) := (B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} V, B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} V)$ . So, to define trianguline representations, we can use both B-pairs and  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules. In this article, we choose to use B-pairs for some technical reasons. Then, we say that an E-B-pair Wis split trianguline if W is a successive extension of rank-one E-B-pairs. We say that an E-representation V is split trianguline if W(V) is split trianguline. We say that an E-B-pair W (respectively, an E-representation V) is trianguline if  $W \otimes_E E'$  (respectively,  $V \otimes_E E'$ ) is split trianguline for a finite extension E' of E. The main purpose of this article is the complete classification of two-dimensional split trianguline E-representations of  $G_K$ . The classification is made through the following steps.

- Step 1: Classification of rank-one E-B-pairs.
- Step 2: Calculation of the dimensions of extension groups  $\dim_E \operatorname{Ext}^1(W_2, W_1)$  for any rank-one E-B-pairs  $W_1, W_2$ .
- Step 3: Determination of the conditions for W to be étale, here W is an extension of  $W_1$  by  $W_2$  as in Step 2.
- Step 4: Classification of de Rham split trianguline E-representations.

We describe Step 1 in § 1, Step 2 in § 2, Step 3 in § 3 and Step 4 in § 4.

From now on, we explain these steps more precisely.

For Step 1, let  $\delta: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  be a continuous character with respect to p-adic topology on both sides. Then we can define a rank-one E-B-pair  $W(\delta)$  as follows. Let  $\pi_K$  be a uniformizer of K. We decompose  $\delta$  into  $\delta:=\delta_0\delta_1$  such that  $\delta_0|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}}=\delta|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}},\ \delta_0(\pi_K):=1,\ \delta_1|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}}$  is a trivial character,  $\delta_1(\pi_K):=\delta(\pi_K)$ . Then  $\delta_0:K^{\times}\to\mathcal{O}_E^{\times}$  is a unitary character, so by local class field theory we obtain a character  $\tilde{\delta}_0:G_K^{\mathrm{ab}}\to\mathcal{O}_E^{\times}$  such that  $\delta_0=\tilde{\delta}_0\circ\mathrm{rec}_K$ , here  $\mathrm{rec}_K:K^{\times}\to G_K^{\mathrm{ab}}$  is the reciprocity map such that  $\pi_K$  is mapped to a lifting of the inverse of the qth power Frobenius (here,  $q:=p^f$ ,  $f:=[K_0:\mathbb{Q}_p]$ ,  $K_0$  is the maximal unramified extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  in K). For  $\delta_1$ , we define a rank-one E-B-pair  $W(\delta_1)$  such that  $D(\delta_1)$ , the  $(\varphi,\Gamma_K)$ -module corresponding to  $W(\delta_1)$ , is defined by  $D(\delta_1):=B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p}Ee_{\delta_1},\ \varphi^f(e_{\delta_1}):=\delta_1(\pi_K)e_{\delta_1},\ \gamma(e_{\delta_1}):=e_{\delta_1}$  for any  $\gamma\in\Gamma_K$ . We define  $W(\delta):=W(\delta_0)\otimes W(\delta_1)$ . We can show that  $W(\delta)$  does not depend on the choice of  $\pi_K$  (see Remark 1.44). Then the main theorem of § 1 is as follows.

THEOREM 0.1 (Theorem 1.45). Let W be a rank-one E-B-pair of  $G_K$ . Then there exists unique continuous character  $\delta: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  such that  $W \xrightarrow{\sim} W(\delta)$ .

Remark 0.2. We can see this theorem as a natural generalization of one-to-one correspondence  $\{\delta: K^{\times} \to \mathcal{O}_{E}^{\times}: \text{ continuous character}\} \xrightarrow{\sim} \{\tilde{\delta}: G_{K}^{ab} \to \mathcal{O}_{E}^{\times}: \text{ continuous character}\}$ , which is induced by local class field theory. This theorem is also a generalization of [Col08a, Proposition 3.1].

For Step 2, from this theorem, it suffices to calculate  $\dim_E \operatorname{Ext}^1(W(\delta_2), W(\delta_1))$  for any continuous characters  $\delta_1, \delta_2: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$ . In § 2, for this purpose we define the Galois cohomology of E-B-pairs. Let  $W := (W_e, W_{dR}^+)$  be an E-B-pair. Put  $W_{dR} := B_{dR} \otimes_{B_e} W_e$ . Then we define the Galois cohomology  $H^*(G_K, W)$  of W as the Galois cohomology of the complex  $W_e \oplus$  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \to W_{\mathrm{dR}}: (x,y) \mapsto x-y$ , here  $W_e \oplus W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  sits in the zeroth part of this complex. These cohomology groups are finite-dimensional E-vector spaces. We can show in the usual way that there is a natural isomorphism  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(B_E,W) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{H}^1(G_K,W)$ , here  $B_E := (B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E, B_{dR}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)$ is the trivial E–B-pair. By Bloch–Kato's fundamental short exact sequence  $0 \to \mathbb{Q}_p \to B_e \oplus \mathbb{Q}_p$  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \to B_{\mathrm{dR}} \to 0$ , for any E-representation V, we have a natural isomorphism  $H^*(G_K, V) \xrightarrow{\sim}$  $H^*(G_K, W(V))$ . So we can see this cohomology as a natural generalization of Galois cohomology of p-adic representations. As in the classical case, this cohomology satisfies the Euler-Poincaré characteristic formula and Tate local duality theorem. For this, we review the results of Liu [Liu08] concerning these theorems for  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ . By using his theorems, we can calculate all of the extension groups that we want. For any embedding  $\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E$  and  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , we define  $\sigma(x)^k : K^{\times} \to E^{\times} : y \mapsto \widehat{\sigma}(y)^k$ . We define  $N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p} : K^{\times} \to \mathbb{Q}_p^{\times} : y \mapsto \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(y)$ ,  $|-|:\mathbb{Q}_p^{\times}\to E: p\mapsto 1/p,\ a\mapsto 1$  for any  $a\in\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}, |N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x)|:=|-|\circ N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}$ . Then the main result of  $\S 2$  is as follows.

THEOREM 0.3 (Theorem 2.15). Let  $\delta_1, \delta_2 : K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  be continuous characters. Then  $\dim_E \operatorname{Ext}^1(W(\delta_2), W(\delta_1))$  is equal to:

- (1)  $[K:\mathbb{Q}_p] + 1$  if  $\delta_1/\delta_2 = \prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_\sigma}$  such that  $k_\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}_{\leq 0}$  for any  $\sigma$ ;
- (2)  $[K:\mathbb{Q}_p] + 1$  if  $\delta_1/\delta_2 = |N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x)| \prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_\sigma}$  such that  $k_\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$  for any  $\sigma$ ;
- (3)  $[K:\mathbb{Q}_p]$  otherwise.

Remark 0.4. This theorem is a generalization of the dimension formula of Galois cohomology of one-dimensional p-adic representations. This is also a generalization of [Col08a, Theorem 2.9].

From this theorem we can determine all of the split trianguline E-B-pairs of rank two. Let W(s) be a split trianguline E-B-pair which is an extension corresponding to  $s \in \mathbb{P}_E(\operatorname{Ext}^1(W(\delta_2),W(\delta_1)))$ ; here for any finite-dimensional E-vector space M we put  $\mathbb{P}_E(M):=\{[v] \mid v \in M - \{0\}, [v] = [v'] \iff v' = av$  for some  $a \in E^{\times}\}$ . Then the isomorphism class of W(s) as an E-B-pair depends only on s.

For Step 3, we must determine the conditions on  $(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  and s for W(s) to be étale, i.e. to be  $W(s) \xrightarrow{\sim} W(V(s))$  for an E-representation V(s). In § 3, we determine all of the conditions by using Kedlaya's slope filtration theorem of  $\varphi$ -modules over a Robba ring. The idea is essentially the same as Colmez's when  $K = \mathbb{Q}_p$  and  $p \neq 2$  (see the proof of [Col08a, Proposition 4.7]), but we have to deal with all of the additional complications which come from working with  $K \neq \mathbb{Q}_p$ . In fact, in the general  $K \neq \mathbb{Q}_p$  case, the parameter space of split trianguline representations is more complicated than that of the  $K = \mathbb{Q}_p$  case. For any two continuous characters  $\delta_1, \delta_2 : K^\times \to E^\times$ , we put  $S(\delta_1, \delta_2) := \mathbb{P}_E(\operatorname{Ext}^1(W(\delta_2), W(\delta_1)))$ . We put  $S^+ := \{(\delta_1, \delta_2) \mid \delta_1, \delta_2 : K^\times \to E^\times$  continuous characters such that  $\operatorname{val}_p(\delta_1(\pi_K)) + \operatorname{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K)) = 0$ ,  $\operatorname{val}_p(\delta_1(\pi_K)) \geq 0$ } (here  $\operatorname{val}_p$  is a valuation of E such that  $\operatorname{val}_p(p) := 1$ ). For any  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$ , in § 3 we explicitly define a certain subspace  $S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2) \subseteq S(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  which corresponds to non-étale split trianguline E-E-pairs. All of these spaces  $S^+$  and  $S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  naturally appear when we consider the slope zero conditions by using Kedlaya's slope filtration theorem. Then our main result of § 3 is as follows.

THEOREM 0.5 (Lemma 3.1 and Theorem 3.4). Let  $\delta_1, \delta_2 : K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  be continuous characters. Let W(s) be the split trianguline E-B-pair corresponding to  $s \in S(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ .

- (1) If W(s) is étale, then  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$ .
- (2) The following conditions are equivalent:
  - (i) W(s) is étale, i.e.  $W(s) \xrightarrow{\sim} W(V(s))$  for an E-representation V(s);
  - (ii)  $s \notin S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ .

Remark 0.6. This theorem is a generalization of [Col08a, Proposition 4.7]. The space  $\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{ncl}}_+$  in [Col08a, §0.2] corresponds to  $\sqcup_{(\delta_1,\delta_2)\in S^+}S^{\mathrm{non-\acute{e}t}}(\delta_1,\delta_2)$  in this article. Moreover, we can determine the conditions when we have  $V(s)\stackrel{\sim}{\to} V(s')$  for distinct parameters  $s\in S(\delta_1,\delta_2)\setminus S'^{\mathrm{non-\acute{e}t}}(\delta_1,\delta_2), s'\in S(\delta'_1,\delta'_2)\setminus S'^{\mathrm{non-\acute{e}t}}(\delta'_1,\delta'_2)$  under certain conditions (Theorem 3.7).

For Step 4, we have to determine the conditions on  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$  and  $s \in S(\delta_1, \delta_2) \setminus S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  for V(s) to be potentially semi-stable or potentially crystalline. In the p-adic representations case, Bloch–Kato finite cohomology is useful for this kind of problems. We define Bloch–Kato cohomology for a B-pair W as follows (Definition 2.4). By the definition of  $H^*(G_K, W)$ , we have natural maps  $H^*(G_K, W) \to H^*(G_K, W_e) \to H^*(G_K, B_{\text{cris}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e) \to H^*(G_K, B_{\text{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e)$ . As in the classical case, we define  $H_?^1(G_K, W) := \text{Ker}(H^1(G_K, W) \to H^1(G_K, B_* \otimes_{B_e} W_e))$ , here when ? = e (respectively ? = f, respectively ? = g) then \* = e (respectively \* = cris, respectively \* = dR). By calculating these, in  $\S 4$  we explicitly define the parameter spaces  $S_{\text{cris}}^{\acute{e}t}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ ,  $S_{\text{st}}(\delta_1, \delta_2) \subseteq S(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  for any  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$  such that  $\delta_i = \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{i,\sigma}} \tilde{\delta}_i$  such that  $k_{i,\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\tilde{\delta}_i$  are locally constant characters for i = 1, 2. Then the conditions for V(s) to be potentially semi-stable are as follows.

THEOREM 0.7 (Lemma 4.1 and Proposition 4.4). Let  $s \in S(\delta_1, \delta_2) \setminus S'^{non-\acute{e}t}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ . Let V(s) be the split trianguline E-representation corresponding to s.

- (1) If V(s) is potentially semi-stable, then  $\delta_i = \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{i,\sigma}} \tilde{\delta}_i$  such that  $k_{i,\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$  and  $\tilde{\delta}_i$  are locally constant characters for i = 1, 2.
- (2) If  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$  satisfies the condition in (1), then the following conditions are equivalent:
  - (i) V(s) is potentially crystalline;
  - (ii)  $s \in S_{\text{cris}}^{\acute{e}t}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ .
- (3) If  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$  satisfies the condition in (1), then the following conditions are equivalent:
  - (i') V(s) is potentially semi-stable and not potentially crystalline;
  - (ii')  $s \in S_{\mathrm{st}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ .

Remark 0.8. These parameter spaces  $S_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ ,  $S_{\text{st}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  are generalizations of  $\mathcal{S}_{+}^{\text{cris}}$  or  $\mathcal{S}_{+}^{\text{st}}$  defined in [Col08a, 0.2]. We can also see these spaces as the parameter spaces of weakly admissible filtrations of a  $(\varphi, N, G_K)$ -module corresponding to V(s). Moreover, we can explicitly calculate the filtered  $(\varphi, N, G_K)$ -modules associated with V(s) as above (Theorems 4.6 and 4.8).

By this theorem, we complete the classification of two-dimensional split trianguline E-representations. This is the main content of this article.

In Appendix A, we study a relation between two-dimensional potentially semi-stable trianguline representations and local Langlands correspondence for  $\operatorname{GL}_2(K)$ . Let V be a two-dimensional potentially semi-stable E-representation of  $G_K$ . Fontaine defined a two-dimensional Weil–Deligne representation  $\bar{D}_{\operatorname{pst}}(V) := D_{\operatorname{pst}}(V) \otimes_{K_0^{\operatorname{un}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E} \bar{K}$  of K from the filtered  $(\varphi, N, G_K)$ -module  $D_{\operatorname{pst}}(V) := \bigcup_{K \subseteq L, \operatorname{finite}} (B_{\operatorname{st}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} V)^{G_L}$ . By local Langlands correspondence for  $\operatorname{GL}_2(K)$ , we can attach an irreducible smooth admissible representation  $\pi(\bar{D}_{\operatorname{pst}}(V)^{\operatorname{ss}})$  of  $\operatorname{GL}_2(K)$  (here  $\bar{D}_{\operatorname{pst}}(V)^{\operatorname{ss}}$  is the Frobenius semi-simplification of  $\bar{D}_{\operatorname{pst}}(V)$ ). Irreducible smooth admissible representations of  $\operatorname{GL}_2(K)$  are classified into supercuspidal representations and non-supercuspidal representations (i.e. one-dimensional representations, principal series or special series). Then the main result of Appendix A is as follows.

Theorem 0.9 (Theorem A4). Let V be a potentially semi-stable E-representation. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) V is trianguline, i.e.  $V \otimes_E E'$  is split trianguline for some finite extension E' of E;
- (2)  $\pi(\bar{D}_{pst}(V)^{ss})$  is non-supercuspidal.

### Notation

Let p be a prime number. We use: K to denote a finite extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ ;  $\bar{K}$  to denote a fixed algebraic closure of K;  $K_0$  to denote the maximal unramified extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  in K;  $K^{\text{nor}}$  to denote the Galois closure of K in  $\bar{K}$ . We use  $G_K := \operatorname{Gal}(\bar{K}/K)$  to denote the absolute Galois group of K equipped with profinite topology. Here  $\mathcal{O}_K$  is the integer ring of K,  $\pi_K \in \mathcal{O}_K$  is a uniformizer of K,  $k := \mathcal{O}_K/\pi_K\mathcal{O}_K$  is the residue field of K,  $q = p^f := \sharp k$  is the order of k, and  $K_\infty := K(\zeta_{p^\infty})$  is the extension of K obtained by adjoining the  $p^n$ th roots of unity  $\zeta_{p^n}$  for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . We use  $K'_0$  to denote the maximal unramified extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  in  $K_\infty$ , so  $K_0 \subset K'_0$ . We have  $H_K := \operatorname{Gal}(\bar{K}/K_\infty)$ ,  $\Gamma_K := G_K/H_K = \operatorname{Gal}(K_\infty/K)$ , and  $\chi : G_K \to \mathbb{Z}_p^\times$  is the p-adic cyclotomic character which factors through the inclusion  $\Gamma_K \hookrightarrow \mathbb{Z}_p^\times$  (i.e.  $g(\zeta_{p^n}) = \zeta_{p^n}^{\chi(g)}$  for any  $p^n$ th roots of unity  $\zeta_{p^n}$  and for any  $g \in G_K$ ). Here  $\mathbb{C}_p := \widehat{K}$  denotes the p-adic completion of K, which is an algebraically closed p-adically complete field, and  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}_p}$  is its integer ring. We

use E to denote a finite extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  such that  $K^{\mathrm{nor}} \subset E$ . In this paper, we write E as a coefficient of representations. We use  $\chi_{\mathrm{LT}}: G_K \to \mathcal{O}_K^{\times} \hookrightarrow E^{\times}$  to denote the Lubin–Tate character associated with the uniformizer  $\pi_K$ . Here  $\mathrm{rec}_K: K^{\times} \to G_K^{\mathrm{ab}}$  is the reciprocity map of local class field theory such that  $\mathrm{rec}_K(\pi_K)$  is a lifting of the inverse of qth power Frobenius of k, then  $\chi_{\mathrm{LT}} \circ \mathrm{rec}_K: K^{\times} \to \mathcal{O}_K^{\times}$  satisfies  $\chi_{\mathrm{LT}} \circ \mathrm{rec}_K(\pi_K) = 1$  and  $\chi_{\mathrm{LT}} \circ \mathrm{rec}_K|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}} = id_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}}$ .

# 1. B-pairs and $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules.

In this section, we recall the definitions and some properties of B-pairs and  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules. In particular, we recall the results of Berger concerning the equivalence between the category of B-pairs and the category of  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over a Robba ring.

## 1.1 Review of p-adic period rings and the definition of B-pairs

We begin this section by recalling some p-adic period rings [Fon94a, Fon94b, Ber02] and by recalling the definition of a B-pair [Ber08b]. First let  $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^+ := \underline{\lim}_n \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}_p} = \underline{\lim}_n \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}_p}/p\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}_p}$ , where the limits are taken with respect to pth power maps. It is known that  $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^+$  is a complete valuation ring of characteristic p whose valuation is defined by  $val(x) := val_p(x^{(0)})$  (here  $x = (x^{(n)}) \in$  $\varprojlim_{p} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}_p}$  and  $\operatorname{val}_p$  is the valuation on  $\mathbb{C}_p$  such that  $\operatorname{val}_p(p) = 1$ ). In this paper, we fix a system of  $p^n$ th roots of unity  $\{\varepsilon^{(n)}\}_{n\geq 0}$  such that  $\varepsilon^{(0)}=1$ ,  $(\varepsilon^{(n+1)})^p=\varepsilon^{(n)}$ ,  $\varepsilon^{(1)}\neq 1$ . Then  $\varepsilon:=(\varepsilon^{(n)})$ is an element of  $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^+$  such that  $\operatorname{val}(\varepsilon-1)=p/(p-1)$ .  $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}:=\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^+[1/(\varepsilon-1)]$  is the fraction field of  $\mathbb{E}^+$ , which is known to be an algebraically closed complete valuation field of characteristic p containing the subfield  $\mathbb{F}_p((\varepsilon-1))$ . Here  $G_K$  acts on these rings in natural way. We put  $\mathbb{A}^+$ :=  $W(\mathbb{E}^+)$ ,  $\mathbb{A} := W(\mathbb{E})$ , where, for a ring R, W(R) is the Witt ring of R. We put  $\mathbb{B}^+ := \mathbb{A}^+[1/p]$ ,  $\mathbb{B} := \mathbb{A}[1/p]$ . These rings also have natural continuous  $G_K$ -actions and Frobenius actions  $\varphi$ , here the topologies of these rings are defined by the p-adic topology on  $\mathbb{A}^+$  and  $\mathbb{A}$ . Then we have a continuous  $G_K$ -equivariant surjection  $\theta: \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^+ \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{C}_p}: \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} p^k[x_k] \mapsto \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} p^k x_k^{(0)}$ , where  $[\ ]: \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^+ \to \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^+$  is the Teichmüller character. By inverting p, we obtain a surjection  $\widetilde{\mathbb{B}}^+ \to \mathbb{C}_p$ . We put  $B_{dR}^+ := \underline{\lim}_n \widetilde{\mathbb{B}}^+ / (\operatorname{Ker}(\theta))^n$ , which is a complete discrete valuation ring with residue field  $\mathbb{C}_p$ and is equipped with the projective limit topology of the p-adic topology on  $\widetilde{\mathbb{B}}^+/(\mathrm{Ker}(\theta))^n$ . Let  $A_{\max}$  be the *p*-adic completion of  $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^+[[\widetilde{p}]/p]$ , where  $\widetilde{p}:=(p^{(n)})$  is an element in  $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^+$  such that  $p^{(0)} = p$ ,  $(p^{(n+1)})^p = p^{(n)}$ . We put  $B_{\text{max}}^+ := A_{\text{max}}[1/p]$ . Here  $A_{\text{max}}$  and  $B_{\text{max}}^+$  have continuous  $G_K$ -actions and Frobenius actions  $\varphi$ , and the topology on these rings is also p-adic topology. We have a natural continuous  $G_K$ -equivariant embedding  $B_{\max}^+ \hookrightarrow B_{dR}^+$ . If we put  $t := \log([\varepsilon])$ , then we can see that  $t \in A_{\max}$ ,  $\varphi(t) = pt$ ,  $g(t) = \chi(g)t$  for any  $g \in G_K$  and  $\operatorname{Ker}(\theta) = tB_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \subset B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  is the maximal ideal of  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$ . If we put  $B_{\max} := B_{\max}^+ [1/t]$ ,  $B_{\mathrm{dR}} := B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ [1/t]$ , which are equipped with the inductive limit topology of  $(1/t^n)B_{\max}^+$  and  $(1/t^n)B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have a natural continuous embedding  $B_{\max} \hookrightarrow B_{dR}$ . We put  $B_e := B_{\max}^{\varphi=1}$ ,  $(B_e \subseteq) \widetilde{B}_{rig}^+ := \bigcap_{n=0}^{\infty} \varphi^n(B_{\max}) \subset B_{\max}$ (these are closed sub-rings of  $B_{\text{max}}$ ),  $\text{Fil}^i B_{\text{dR}} := t^i B_{\text{dR}}^+$  for any  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ . We put

$$\log([\tilde{p}]) := \log(p) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{(n-1)}}{n} \left(\frac{[\tilde{p}]}{p} - 1\right)^n \in B_{dR}^+,$$

where  $\log : \mathbb{C}_p^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}_p$  is a branch of log which we fix in this article. Let  $B_{\log} := B_{\max}[\log([\tilde{p}])] \subseteq B_{dR}$ . There is a derivation  $N : B_{\log} \to B_{\log}$  over  $B_{\max}$  such that  $N(\log([\tilde{p}])) := -1$ . We have the

following fundamental short exact sequence [BK90, Proposition 1.17]

$$0 \to \mathbb{Q}_p \to B_e \oplus B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \to B_{\mathrm{dR}} \to 0.$$

DEFINITION 1.1. An E-representation of  $G_K$  is a finite-dimensional E-vector space V with a continuous E-linear action of  $G_K$ . We use the term E-representation for simplicity when there will be no risk of confusion regarding K.

Next we define the E-B-pair of  $G_K$ , which is the E-coefficient version of a B-pair.

DEFINITION 1.2. An E-B-pair of  $G_K$  is a couple  $W = (W_e, W_{dB}^+)$  such that:

- (1)  $W_e$  is a finite  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -module with a continuous semi-linear  $G_K$ -action which is free as  $B_e$ -module;
- (2)  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \subseteq W_{\mathrm{dR}} := B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e$  is a  $G_K$ -stable  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -lattice, i.e.  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  is a finitely generated  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -module that generates  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}$  as a  $B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -module.

Here  $G_K$  acts on  $B_? \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  by  $g(x \otimes y) := g(x) \otimes y$  for any  $g \in G_K$ ,  $x \in B_?$ ,  $y \in E$  for  $? \in \{e, dR\}$ .

We use the term E-B-pair for simplicity when there will be no risk of confusing regarding K. We simply use the term B-pair when  $E = \mathbb{Q}_p$ , then this definition is the same as that of Berger [Ber08b, Introduction].

Remark 1.3. Later we prove that  $W_e$  is also free over  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  (Lemma 1.7) and that  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  is also free over  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  (Lemma 1.8).

DEFINITION 1.4. Let  $W_j := (W_{e,j}, W_{\mathrm{dR},j}^+)$  be E-B-pairs for j = 1, 2. Then a morphism of E-B-pairs  $f : W_1 \to W_2$  is defined as a  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -linear  $G_K$ -equivariant morphism  $f : W_{e,1} \to W_{e,2}$  such that  $id_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}} \otimes_{B_e} f : B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_{e,1} \to B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_{e,2}$  maps  $W_{\mathrm{dR},1}^+$  to  $W_{\mathrm{dR},2}^+$ .

Remark 1.5. Let V be an E-representation of  $G_K$ . Then  $W(V) := (B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} V, B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} V)$  is an E-B-pair of  $G_K$ . By the fundamental short exact sequence  $0 \to \mathbb{Q}_p \to B_e \oplus B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \to B_{\mathrm{dR}} \to 0$ , it is easy to see that the functor  $V \mapsto W(V)$  is a fully faithful functor from the category of E-representations of  $G_K$  to the category of E-B-pairs of  $G_K$  [Ber08b, Introduction].

Next, we prove a technically important lemma concerning the Bézout property of  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ . This lemma is a generalization of [Ber08b, Proposition 1.1.9] to any coefficient case.

LEMMA 1.6. We have that  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  is a Bézout domain, i.e. a domain and every finitely generated ideal is generated by one element.

Proof. The proof is essentially same as that of [Ber08b, Proposition 1.1.9]. First, we have a natural isomorphism of rings  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E \xrightarrow{\sim} B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} (E_0 \otimes_{E_0} E) \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{\max}^{\varphi^{f'}=1} \otimes_{E_0} E$ . (Here  $E_0$  is the maximal unramified extension of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  in E and  $f' = [E_0 : \mathbb{Q}_p]$ .) Because the natural map  $B_{\max}^{\varphi^{f'}=1} \otimes_{E_0} E \hookrightarrow B_{dR}$  is injective by [Col02, Proposition 7.14], so  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  is a domain. Next, we show that for any  $f, g \in B_{\max}^{\varphi^{f'}=1} \otimes_{E_0} E$ , the ideal generated by f and g in  $B_{\max}^{\varphi^{f'}=1} \otimes_{E_0} E$  is generated by one element. For this, we first note that  $\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0} E$  (for the definition of  $\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger}$ , see Definition 1.2 of this paper) is a Bézout domain by [Ked05, Theorem 2.9.6]. (In the definition of [Ked05, §2.1], if we take  $K_0 := k_E$  the residue field of E,  $\mathcal{O} := \mathcal{O}_E$ ,  $\sigma := \varphi^{f'} \otimes_{W(k_E)} \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{O}_E}$ , then  $\Gamma_{\mathrm{an,con}}^{\mathrm{alg}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0} E$ .) Because we have the injection  $B_{\max}^{\varphi^{f'}=1} \otimes_{E_0} E \hookrightarrow \widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger}[1/t] \otimes_{E_0} E$ ,

for large  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  we have  $t^n f, t^n g \in \widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0} E$ . Because  $\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0} E$  is Bézout, there exists an  $h \in \widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0} E$  such that  $t^n f \widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0} E + t^n g \widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0} E = h \widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0} E$ . And  $h \widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0} E$  is a  $\sigma$ -module over  $\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0} E$  because  $t^n f, t^n g$  are preserved by  $\sigma$ -action. So, by [Ked05, Proposition 3.3.2], we can choose the generator h such that  $\sigma(h) = \pi_E^k h$  for some  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . By using the element  $t_E \in B_{\mathrm{max}}^+ \otimes_{E_0} E$  defined in [Col02, Proposition 8.10] and by [Col02, Lemma 8.17], we obtain  $h/t_E^k \in (\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger}[1/t])^{\varphi^{f'}=1} \otimes_{E_0} E = B_{\mathrm{max}}^{\varphi^{f'}=1} \otimes_{E_0} E$  (here, for the last equality, we use the fact  $(\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger}[1/t])^{\varphi^{f'}=1} = B_{\mathrm{max}}^{\varphi^{f'}=1}$ , see [Ber08b, Lemma 1.1.7]). Then we can show that the ideal generated by f and g in  $B_{\mathrm{max}}^{\varphi^{f'}=1} \otimes_{E_0} E$  is generated by  $h/t_E^k$  in the same way as in [Ber08b, Proposition 1.1.9].

From the above lemma, we obtain the following lemmas which are also technically important.

LEMMA 1.7. Let  $W_e$  be a finite  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -module which is free over  $B_e$ . Then  $W_e$  is also free over  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ . In particular, for any E-B-pair  $W := (W_e, W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+)$ ,  $W_e$  is finite free over  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ .

Proof. Because  $W_e$  is finitely generated over  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  which is Bézout domain, by the remark after [Ked04, Lemma 2.4] it suffices to show that  $W_e$  is torsion free over  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ . Let  $\operatorname{Frac} B_e$  be the fraction field of  $B_e$ . Because  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  is a domain and  $(\operatorname{Frac} B_e) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  is a localization of  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ , then  $(\operatorname{Frac} B_e) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  is also a domain and the natural map  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E \hookrightarrow (\operatorname{Frac} B_e) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  is injective. In addition, because  $(\operatorname{Frac} B_e) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  is finite over the field  $\operatorname{Frac} B_e$ , then  $(\operatorname{Frac} B_e) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  is also a field. Because  $W_e$  is free over  $B_e$  by assumption, the natural map  $W_e \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Frac} B_e \otimes_{B_e} W_e$  is injective. Of course,  $\operatorname{Frac} B_e \otimes_{B_e} W_e$  is also torsion free over  $(\operatorname{Frac} B_e) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  which is a field. By these remarks, we conclude that  $W_e$  is torsion free over  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ .

LEMMA 1.8. Let  $W := (W_e, W_{dR}^+)$  be an E-B-pair. Then  $W_{dR}^+$  is finite free over  $B_{dR}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ .

Proof. By Lemma 1.7,  $W_e$  is free over  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ . So  $W_{\mathrm{dR}} := B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e$  is also free over  $B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ . Because  $E \subseteq B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$ , we have natural isomorphisms  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\sigma: E \hookrightarrow B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+} B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ : a \otimes b \mapsto (a\sigma(b))_{\sigma} \ (a \in B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+, b \in E)$  and  $B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\sigma: E \hookrightarrow B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+} B_{\mathrm{dR}}$ . By using these decompositions, we obtain decompositions  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\sigma: E \hookrightarrow B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+} W_{\mathrm{dR},\sigma}^+$  and  $W_{\mathrm{dR}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\sigma: E \hookrightarrow B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+} W_{\mathrm{dR},\sigma}$  ( $W_{\mathrm{dR},\sigma}^+$  and  $W_{\mathrm{dR},\sigma}$  are the  $\sigma$ -components). Then, for each  $\sigma$ ,  $W_{\mathrm{dR},\sigma}^+$  is a  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$ -lattice of  $W_{\mathrm{dR},\sigma}$ . So  $W_{\mathrm{dR},\sigma}^+$  is finite free over  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  of same rank as that of  $W_{\mathrm{dR},\sigma}$  over  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}$  because  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  is a discrete valuation ring. Also, because  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}$  is free over  $B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ , then  $W_{\mathrm{dR},\sigma}$  have the same rank for any  $\sigma$ . So  $W_{\mathrm{dR},\sigma}^+$  also have the same rank for any  $\sigma$ . So  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  is finite free over  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ .

By using these lemmas, we can define rank, tensor products and duals of E-B-pairs.

Definition 1.9. We make the following definitions.

- (1) Let  $W := (W_e, W_{dR}^+)$  be an E-B-pair, then we define the rank of W by  $\operatorname{rank}(W) := \operatorname{rank}_{B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_n} E}(W_e)$ .
- (2) Let  $W_1 := (W_{e,1}, W_{\mathrm{dR},1}^+)$  and  $W_2 := (W_{e,2}, W_{\mathrm{dR},2}^+)$  be E-B-pairs. Then we define the tensor product of  $W_1$  and  $W_2$  by  $W_1 \otimes W_2 := (W_{e,1} \otimes_{B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E} W_{e,2}, W_{\mathrm{dR},1}^+ \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E} W_{\mathrm{dR},2}^+)$ .

(3) Let  $W := (W_e, W_{dR}^+)$  be an E-B-pair. Then we define the dual of W by  $W^{\vee} := (\operatorname{Hom}_{B_e}(W_e, B_e), \operatorname{Hom}_{B_{dR}^+}(W_{dR}^+, B_{dR}^+))$ . Here, we define the E-action on  $W^{\vee}$  by af(x) := f(ax) for any  $a \in E$ ,  $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{B_e}(W_e, B_e)$  (respectively  $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{B_{dR}^+}(W_{dR}^+, B_{dR}^+))$ ,  $x \in W_e$  (respectively  $x \in W_{dR}^+$ ).

LEMMA 1.10. Let  $W_1$ ,  $W_2$  be finite free  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -modules with continuous semi-linear  $G_K$ -actions. Let  $f: W_1 \to W_2$  be a  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -linear  $G_K$ -morphism. Then  $\mathrm{Ker}(f)$ ,  $\mathrm{Im}(f)$  and  $\mathrm{Cok}(f)$  are all finite free over  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ .

Proof. Because  $\operatorname{Im}(f)$  is a finite torsion free  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -module, it is free by the remark following [Ked04, Lemma 2.4]. From this, we obtain a splitting (as  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -modules) of the short exact sequence  $0 \to \operatorname{Ker}(f) \to W_1 \to \operatorname{Im}(f) \to 0$ . So  $\operatorname{Ker}(f)$  is finite over  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ , and  $\operatorname{Ker}(f)$  is finite torsion free over  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ . So  $\operatorname{Ker}(f)$  is also finite free. By [Ber08b, Lemma 2.1.4],  $\operatorname{Cok}(f)$  is free over  $B_e$ . Then by Lemma 1.7,  $\operatorname{Cok}(f)$  is free over  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ .

The category of E-B-pairs is not an abelian category since cokernels of morphisms do not exist in general. We define the exactness in the category of B-pairs.

DEFINITION 1.11. Let  $W_i := (W_{e,i}, W_{\mathrm{dR},i}^+)$  be E-B-pairs of  $G_K$  for i = 1, 2, 3. Let  $f : W_1 \to W_2, g : W_2 \to W_3$  be morphisms of E-B-pairs. Then we say that

$$0 \rightarrow W_1 \rightarrow W_2 \rightarrow W_3 \rightarrow 0$$

is exact if the following two sequences are exact in the usual sense

$$0 \to W_{e,1} \to W_{e,2} \to W_{e,3} \to 0,$$
  
 $0 \to W_{\text{dR},1}^+ \to W_{\text{dR},2}^+ \to W_{\text{dR},3}^+ \to 0.$ 

LEMMA 1.12. Let  $W_1 := (W_{e,1}, W_{dR,1}^+)$ ,  $W_2 := (W_{e,2}, W_{dR,2}^+)$  be E-B-pairs. Let  $f : W_1 \to W_2$  be a morphism of E-B-pairs. We put  $Ker(f) := (Ker(f_e : W_{e,1} \to W_{e,2}), Ker(f_{dR} : W_{dR,1}^+ \to W_{dR,2}^+))$ ,  $Im(f) := (Im(f_e : W_{e,1} \to W_{e,2}), Im(f_{dR} : W_{dR,1}^+ \to W_{dR,2}^+))$ . Then Ker(f) and Im(f) are E-B-pairs.

Proof. We know that  $\operatorname{Ker}(f_e)$  and  $\operatorname{Im}(f_e)$  are finite free  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -modules by Lemma 1.10. From this, we obtain the canonical isomorphisms  $\operatorname{Ker}(id_{B_{\operatorname{dR}}} \otimes_{B_e} f_e) \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{\operatorname{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} \operatorname{Ker}(f_e)$ ,  $\operatorname{Im}(id_{\operatorname{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} f_e) \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{\operatorname{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} \operatorname{Im}(f_e)$ . As for  $B_{\operatorname{dR}}^+$ -modules,  $B_{\operatorname{dR}}$  is a flat  $B_{\operatorname{dR}}^+$ -module because  $B_{\operatorname{dR}}^+$  is a principal ideal domain. So we obtain the canonical isomorphisms  $\operatorname{Ker}(id_{B_{\operatorname{dR}}} \otimes_{B_{\operatorname{dR}}^+} f_{\operatorname{dR}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{\operatorname{dR}} \otimes_{B_{\operatorname{dR}}^+} \operatorname{Im}(f_{\operatorname{dR}})$ . So we obtain the natural isomorphisms  $B_{\operatorname{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} \operatorname{Ker}(f_e) \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{\operatorname{dR}} \otimes_{B_{\operatorname{dR}}^+} \operatorname{Ker}(f_{\operatorname{dR}})$  and  $B_{\operatorname{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} \operatorname{Im}(f_e) \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{\operatorname{dR}} \otimes_{B_{\operatorname{dR}}^+} \operatorname{Im}(f_{\operatorname{dR}})$ , i.e.  $\operatorname{Ker}(f)$  and  $\operatorname{Im}(f)$  are B-pairs. As these maps are all E-linear,  $\operatorname{Ker}(f)$  and  $\operatorname{Im}(f)$  are E-B-pairs.  $\square$ 

DEFINITION 1.13. Let  $W_1 \subset W_2$  be two E-B-pairs such that  $W_1$  is a sub-E-B-pair of  $W_2$ . Then we say that  $W_1$  is saturated in  $W_2$  if  $W_{\mathrm{dR},2}^+/W_{\mathrm{dR},1}^+$  is a free  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$ -module. Then  $W_2/W_1 := (W_{e,2}/W_{e,1}, W_{\mathrm{dR},2}^+/W_{\mathrm{dR},1}^+)$  is an E-B-pair by Lemma 1.10.

LEMMA 1.14. Let  $W_1 \subset W_2$  be two E-B-pairs. Then there exists unique E-B-pair  $W_1^{\mathrm{sat}} := (W_{e,1}^{\mathrm{sat}}, W_{\mathrm{dR},1}^{+,\mathrm{sat}})$  such that  $W_1 \subset W_1^{\mathrm{sat}} \subset W_2$ ,  $W_{e,1} = W_{e,1}^{\mathrm{sat}}$  and  $W_1^{\mathrm{sat}}$  is saturated in  $W_2$ . We call  $W_1^{\mathrm{sat}}$  the saturation of  $W_1$  in  $W_2$ .

*Proof.* We put  $W_{e,1}^{\text{sat}} := W_{e,1}$  and put  $W_{\text{dR},1}^{+,\text{sat}} := W_{\text{dR},1} \cap W_{\text{dR},2}^{+}$ . Then it is easy to see that  $W_1^{\text{sat}} := (W_{e,1}^{\text{sat}}, W_{\text{dR},1}^{+,\text{sat}})$  is an E-B-pair satisfying all of the desired conditions. Conversely,

if  $W_1' := (W_{e,1}', W_{\mathrm{dR},1}'^+)$  satisfies the same conditions, it is easy to see that  $W_{\mathrm{dR},1}'^+$  satisfies  $W_{\mathrm{dR},1}'^+ = W_{\mathrm{dR},1} \cap W_{\mathrm{dR},2}^+$ . The uniqueness of  $W_1^{\mathrm{sat}}$  follows from this.

Now we can define trianguline or split trianguline E-representations and trianguline or split trianguline E-B-pairs.

Definition 1.15. We make the following definitions.

- (1) Let W be an E-B-pair. We say that W is a split trianguline E-B-pair if there is a filtration  $0 = W_0 \subset W_1 \subset \cdots \subset W_l = W$  by sub-E-B-pairs such that for any i,  $W_i$  is saturated in  $W_{i+1}$  and the quotient  $W_{i+1}/W_i$  is a rank-one E-B-pair.
- (1') Let W be an E-B-pair. We say that W is a trianguline E-B-pair if  $W \otimes_E E' := (W_e \otimes_E E', W_{dR}^+ \otimes_E E')$  is split trianguline for some finite extension E' of E.
- (2) Let V be an E-representation. We say that V is a split trianguline (respectively trianguline) E-representation if W(V) is a split trianguline (respectively trianguline) E-B-pair.

In this paper, we classify two-dimensional split trianguline E-representations.

Next we recall the generalization of the usual p-adic Hodge theory to the case of B-pairs following [Ber08b, § 2.3]. First we recall the definition of a filtered  $(\varphi, N, G_K)$ -module over K.

DEFINITION 1.16. Let L be a finite Galois extension of K. An E-filtered  $(\varphi, N, \operatorname{Gal}(L/K))$ module over K is a finite  $L_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -module D (where  $L_0$  is the maximal unramified extension
of  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  in L) such that:

- (1) D has a Frobenius semi-linear operator  $\varphi_D: D \hookrightarrow D$  such that  $id_{L_0} \otimes \varphi_D: L_0 \otimes_{\varphi, L_0} D \xrightarrow{\sim} D$  is an  $L_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -linear isomorphism (here  $\varphi$  acts on  $L_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  by  $\varphi(x \otimes y) = \varphi(x) \otimes y$  for any  $x \in L_0, y \in E$ );
- (2)  $N: D \to D$  is an  $L_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -linear morphism such that  $p\varphi N = N\varphi$ ;
- (3)  $D_L := L \otimes_{L_0} D$  has a decreasing filtration by sub- $L \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -modules  $\mathrm{Fil}^i D_L$  for  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $\mathrm{Fil}^{-i} D_L = D_L$  and  $\mathrm{Fil}^i D_L = 0$  for sufficiently large  $i \geq 0$ ;
- (4)  $\operatorname{Gal}(L/K)$  acts on  $L_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  (or  $L \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ )-semi-linearly on D (or  $D_L$ ) such that  $g\varphi = \varphi g$  and gN = Ng and  $g(\operatorname{Fil}^i D_L) = \operatorname{Fil}^i D_L$  for any  $g \in \operatorname{Gal}(L/K)$  and  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$  (here  $\operatorname{Gal}(L/K)$  acts on  $L \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  by  $g(x \otimes y) = g(x) \otimes y$  for any  $x \in L$ ,  $y \in E$  and  $g \in \operatorname{Gal}(L/K)$ ).

We call D an E-filtered  $(\varphi, N, G_K)$ -module if D is an E-filtered  $(\varphi, N, Gal(L/K))$ -module for some finite Galois extension L of K.

DEFINITION 1.17. Let  $W := (W_e, W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+)$  be an E-B-pair of  $G_K$  and let L be a finite Galois extension of K. Then we define  $D_{\mathrm{cris}}^L(W) := (B_{\mathrm{max}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e)^{G_L}$ ,  $D_{\mathrm{st}}^L(W) := (B_{\mathrm{log}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e)^{G_L}$ ,  $D_{\mathrm{dR}}^L(W) := (B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e)^{G_L}$ , i.e. fixed parts of  $G_L$ . As in the case of usual p-adic representations, we can show that  $\dim_{L'}(D_?^L(W)) \le \mathrm{rank}_{B_e}(W_e)$  where  $L' = L_0$  if  $? \in \{\mathrm{cris}, \mathrm{st}\}$  and L' = L if  $? = \mathrm{dR}$ . We say that W is potentially crystalline (respectively potentially semi-stable, respectively de Rham) if  $\dim_{L'}(D_?^L(W)) = \mathrm{rank}_{B_e}(W_e)$  for  $? = \mathrm{cris}$  (respectively  $? = \mathrm{st}$ , respectively  $? = \mathrm{dR}$ ) for some finite Galois extension L of K.

For a potentially semi-stable E-B-pair W and for sufficiently large L such that  $\dim_{L_0} D^L_{\mathrm{st}}(W) = \mathrm{rank}_{B_e} W_e$ , we can equip  $D^L_{\mathrm{st}}(W)$  with an E-filtered  $(\varphi, N, \mathrm{Gal}(L/K))$ -module structure as follows. The  $(\varphi, N, \mathrm{Gal}(L/K))$ -module structure on  $D^L_{\mathrm{st}}(W)$  is induced from the action of  $\varphi$  and N on  $B_{\mathrm{log}}$  and from the action of  $G_K$  on  $B_{\mathrm{log}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e$ . The filtration on  $D^L_{\mathrm{dR}}(W) \overset{\sim}{\to} L \otimes_{L_0} D^L_{\mathrm{st}}(W)$  is defined by  $\mathrm{Fil}^i D^L_{\mathrm{dR}}(W) := D^L_{\mathrm{dR}}(W) \cap t^i W^+_{\mathrm{dR}} \subseteq W_{\mathrm{dR}}$ . So we obtain a functor  $W \mapsto D^L_{\mathrm{st}}(W)$  from the category of potentially semi-stable E-B-pairs of  $G_K$  which are

semi-stable E-B-pairs of  $G_L$  to the category of E-filtered  $(\varphi, N, \operatorname{Gal}(L/K))$ -modules over K. Berger generalized p-adic monodromy theorem and 'weakly admissible implies admissible' theorem to the case of B-pairs.

THEOREM 1.18. We have the following results.

- (1) All de Rham E-B-pairs are potentially semi-stable.
- (2) The functor  $W \mapsto D_{\mathrm{st}}^L(W)$  realizes an equivalence of categories between the category of potentially semi-stable E-B-pairs of  $G_K$  which are semi-stable E-B-pairs of  $G_L$  to the category of E-filtered  $(\varphi, N, \mathrm{Gal}(L/K))$ -modules over K.
- (3) The functor  $W \mapsto D_{\text{cris}}^L(W)$  realizes an equivalence of categories between the category of potentially crystalline E-B-pairs of  $G_K$  which are crystalline E-B-pairs of  $G_L$  to the category of E-filtered  $(\varphi, \text{Gal}(L/K))$ -modules over K.

*Proof.* See [Ber08b, Proposition 2.3.4 and Theorem 2.3.5].

Remark 1.19. An inverse functor of  $D_{\mathrm{st}}^L$  is defined as follows. For an E-filtered  $(\varphi, N, \mathrm{Gal}(L/K))$ -module D over K, put  $W_e(D) := (B_{\log} \otimes_{L_0} D)^{\varphi=1, N=0}$  and  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(D) := \mathrm{Fil}^0(B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_L D_L)$ . Then we can show that  $W(D) := (W_e(D), W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(D))$  is an E-B-pair of  $G_K$ . We know that  $D \mapsto W(D)$  is an inverse of  $W \mapsto D_{\mathrm{st}}^L(W)$  (see [Ber08b, § 2.3]).

Remark 1.20. The proof of (2) and (3) of the above theorem is much easier than that in the case of p-adic representations, because in this case there are no conditions about weakly admissibility of filtered  $(\varphi, N, G_K)$ -modules.

### 1.2 $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over a Robba ring

In [Ber08b], Berger established the equivalence between the category of B-pairs and the category of  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over a Robba ring  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ . In this section, we first recall the general facts about  $\varphi$ -modules over Robba rings following [Ked08] and then recall the construction of a Robba ring  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  and the definition of  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  following [Ber02].

In applications of  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules to p-adic Hodge theory, the notion of slope and the slope filtration theorem of Kedlaya are very important. So we recall the general fact about slopes of  $\varphi$ -modules over general Robba ring and the slope filtration theorem of Kedlaya following [Ked08, § 1]. Let L be a complete discrete valuation field of characteristic zero,  $\mathcal{O}_L$  its integer ring,  $k_L$  the residue field of L and  $\pi_L$  a uniformizer of L. Then we define the Robba ring of L by  $\mathcal{R}_L := \{f(x) := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} a_n x^n \mid a_n \in L, f(x) \text{ converges for any } x \in L \text{ such that } r \leq |x| < 1 \text{ for some } r < 1\}$ . We assume that there is an endomorphism  $\phi_L : L \to L$  which is a lifting of the  $q = p^f$ th power Frobenius on  $k_L$  for some  $f \in \mathbb{N}$  and we assume that there is a  $\phi_L$ -semi-linear endomorphism  $\phi : \mathcal{R}_L \to \mathcal{R}_L : \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} a_k x^k \mapsto \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \phi_L(a_k) \phi(x)^k$  such that  $\phi(x) - x^q \in \mathcal{R}_L$  has all coefficients in  $\pi_L \mathcal{O}_L$ .

DEFINITION 1.21. A  $\phi$ -module over  $\mathcal{R}_L$  is a finite free  $\mathcal{R}_L$ -module M equipped with  $\phi$ -semi-linear action  $\phi_M: M \to M$  such that  $id_{\mathcal{R}_L} \otimes \phi_M: \mathcal{R}_L \otimes_{\phi,\mathcal{R}_L} M \to M$  is an  $\mathcal{R}_L$ -linear isomorphism.

The category of  $\phi$ -modules over  $\mathcal{R}_L$  is not an abelian category because the cokernel of a morphism is not a free  $\mathcal{R}_L$ -module in general. So it is important to know when the cokernel is free.

DEFINITION 1.22. Let  $M_1 \subset M$  be a sub- $\phi$ -module of a  $\phi$ -module M over  $\mathcal{R}_L$ . Then we say that  $M_1$  is saturated in M if the quotient  $M/M_1$  is a free  $\mathcal{R}_L$  module. Then  $M/M_1$  is a  $\phi$ -module over  $\mathcal{R}_L$ .

Put  $\mathcal{R}_L^{\mathrm{bd}} := \{f(x) \in \mathcal{R}_L \mid |f(x)| \text{ is bounded in } r \leq |x| < 1 \text{ for some } r < 1\} = \{f(x) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} a_k x^k \mid \{a_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \subset L \text{ is bounded and } f(x) \text{ converges for any } x \text{ such that } r \leq |x| < 1 \text{ for some } r < 1\}.$  Put  $\mathcal{R}_L^{\mathrm{int}} := \{\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} a_k x^k \in \mathcal{R}_L \mid a_k \in \mathcal{O}_L \text{ for any } k \in \mathbb{Z}\}.$  Then  $\mathcal{R}_L^{\mathrm{bd}}$  is a discrete valuation field with the integer ring  $\mathcal{R}_L^{\mathrm{int}}$  and a valuation on  $\mathcal{R}_L^{\mathrm{bd}}$  is defined by  $w(f(x)) := \inf_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \{v_L(a_n)\}$  for any  $f(x) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} a_n x^n \in \mathcal{R}_L^{\mathrm{bd}}$ , where  $v_L$  is the valuation of L such that  $v_L(p) = 1$ . The residue field of  $\mathcal{R}_L^{\mathrm{bd}}$  is  $k_L((x))$ . By the above assumption on  $\phi$ ,  $\phi(x) \in \mathcal{R}_L^{\mathrm{int}}$ ,  $\phi$  preserves  $\mathcal{R}_L^{\mathrm{bd}}$  and  $\mathcal{R}_L^{\mathrm{int}}$  and  $w(\phi(f)) = w(f)$  for any  $f \in \mathcal{R}_L^{\mathrm{bd}}$ . Moreover, it is known that  $\mathcal{R}_L^{\times} = \mathcal{R}_L^{\mathrm{bd},\times}$  (see [Ked08, Example 1.4.2]).

DEFINITION 1.23. For a  $\phi$ -module M over  $\mathcal{R}_L$  of rank n, the top exterior power  $\wedge^n M$  has rank one over  $\mathcal{R}_L$ . Let  $\mathbf{v}$  be a generator of  $\wedge^n M$  and write  $\phi(\mathbf{v}) = r\mathbf{v}$  for some  $r \in \mathcal{R}_L^{\times} = \mathcal{R}_L^{\mathrm{bd} \times}$ . Define the degree of M by setting  $\deg(M) := w(r)$ , define the slope of M by setting  $\mu(M) := \deg(M)/\mathrm{rank}(M)$ . It is easy to check that  $\deg(M)$  and  $\mu(M)$  do not depend on the choice of the generator of  $\wedge^n M$ .

If  $M_1$ ,  $M_2$  are  $\phi$ -modules over  $\mathcal{R}_L$ , then we can see that  $\mu(M_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{R}_L} M_2) = \mu(M_1) + \mu(M_2)$  (see [Ked08, Remark 1.4.5]). Next we define pure slope  $\phi$ -modules. Before defining this, we need to recall some definitions.

DEFINITION 1.24. Let M be a  $\phi$ -module over  $\mathcal{R}_L$  and let a be a positive integer. Then we define the a-pushforward  $[a]_*M$  of M to be the  $\phi^a$ -module M over  $\mathcal{R}_L$  such that the  $\phi^a$ -semi-linear morphism is defined by  $\phi_M^a: M \to M$ .

If M is a  $\phi$ -module over  $\mathcal{R}_L$ , then it is easy to see that  $[a]_*M$  is a  $\phi^a$ -module over  $\mathcal{R}_L$  with  $\deg([a]_*M) = a\deg(M), \ \mu([a]_*M) = a\mu(M)$ . First we define pure slope zero  $\phi$ -modules, which are called étale  $\phi$ -modules.

DEFINITION 1.25. A  $\phi$ -module M over  $\mathcal{R}_L$  is said to be étale if it can be obtained by base extension from a  $\phi$ -module over  $\mathcal{R}_L^{\rm int}$ , that is, M admits a  $\phi_M$ -stable  $\mathcal{R}_L^{\rm int}$ -lattice N such that  $\phi_M$  induces an  $\mathcal{R}_L^{\rm int}$ -linear isomorphism  $\mathcal{R}_L^{\rm int} \otimes_{\phi, \mathcal{R}_L^{\rm int}} N \xrightarrow{\sim} N$ .

From the above definition, if M is an étale  $\phi$ -module over  $\mathcal{R}_L$ , then it is easy to see that  $\deg(M) = 0$  and  $\mu(M) = 0$ . On this setting, we define pure slope  $\phi$ -modules as follows. (We put  $e_L$  the absolute ramified index of L.)

DEFINITION 1.26. Let M be a  $\phi$ -module over  $\mathcal{R}_L$  with slope  $s = c/de_L$  where c, d are coprime integers with d > 0. We say that M is pure of slope s if, for some  $\phi^d$ -module N of rank one such that  $\deg(N) = -c/e_L$ ,  $([d]_*M) \otimes_{\mathcal{R}_L} N$  is an étale  $\phi^d$ -module.

Remark 1.27. In [Ber08b], the definition of pure slope  $\phi$ -modules over a Robba ring is different from this definition [Ber08b, § 1.2]. However, it is proved in the proof of [Ked08, Theorem 1.7.1] that the two definitions are the same.

Now we can state the slope filtration theorem of Kedlaya.

THEOREM 1.28. Let M be a  $\phi$ -module over  $\mathcal{R}_L$ . Then M admits a unique filtration  $0 = M_0 \subset M_1 \subset \cdots \subset M_l = M$  by sub  $\phi$ -modules over  $\mathcal{R}_L$  such that  $M_i \subset M_{i+1}$  is saturated and  $M_{i+1}/M_i$  is pure of slope  $s_{i+1}$  for any  $0 \le i \le l-1$  with  $s_1 < s_2 < \cdots < s_l$ .

*Proof.* See [Ked08, Theorem 1.7.1].

Next we recall the construction of a Robba ring  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  and some related rings following [Ber02]. First, for rational numbers  $0 \le r \le s \le +\infty$ , we put  $\widetilde{A}_{[r,s]} := \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^+ \{p/[\bar{\pi}^r], [\bar{\pi}^s]/p\}$ , the p-adic completion of  $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^+[p/[\bar{\pi}^r], [\bar{\pi}^s]/p]$  (here  $\pi := [\varepsilon] - 1, \ \bar{\pi} := \varepsilon - 1, \ \text{so} \ [\bar{\pi}] = [\varepsilon - 1]$ ). When r=0, we put  $p/[\bar{\pi}^r]:=1$  and when  $s=+\infty$ , we put  $[\bar{\pi}^s]/p:=1$ . We put  $B_{[r,s]}:=1$  $\widetilde{A}_{[r,s]}[1/p]$ . Then we have natural continuous  $G_K$ -action on  $\widetilde{A}_{[r,s]}$  and on  $\widetilde{B}_{[r,s]}$ . Frobenius induces isomorphisms  $\varphi: \widetilde{A}_{[r,s]} \xrightarrow{\sim} \widetilde{A}_{[pr,ps]}$  and  $\varphi: \widetilde{B}_{[r,s]} \xrightarrow{\sim} \widetilde{B}_{[pr,ps]}$ , here we equip these rings with p-adic topology. For  $r \leq r_0 \leq s_0 \leq s$ , it is known that the natural map  $\widetilde{A}_{[r,s]} \hookrightarrow$  $\widetilde{A}_{[r_0,s_0]}$  is injective. For r>0, we put  $\widetilde{B}^{\dagger,r}:=\widetilde{B}_{[r,+\infty]},\ \widetilde{B}^{\dagger}:=\cup_{r>0}\widetilde{B}^{\dagger,r},\ \widetilde{B}^{\dagger,r}_{\mathrm{rig}}:=\bigcap_{r\leq s<+\infty}\widetilde{B}_{[r,s]}$ (equipped with Frechet topology defined by any  $\widetilde{B}_{[r,s]}$ ) and  $\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger} := \bigcup_{r>0} \widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger,r}$  (equipped with inductive limit topology). Then we have natural inclusions  $\widetilde{B}^{\dagger,r} \subset \widetilde{B}^{\dagger,r}_{rig}$ ,  $\widetilde{B}^{\dagger} \subset \widetilde{B}^{\dagger}_{rig}$  and  $\widetilde{B}^{\dagger} \subset \widetilde{\mathbb{B}}$  (but  $\widetilde{B}^{\dagger}_{rig} \not\subseteq \widetilde{\mathbb{B}}$ ). Frobenius induces isomorphisms  $\varphi : \widetilde{B}^{\dagger,r} \xrightarrow{\sim} \widetilde{B}^{\dagger,pr}$ ,  $\widetilde{B}^{\dagger,r} \xrightarrow{\sim} \widetilde{B}^{\dagger,pr}_{rig}$ ,  $\widetilde{B}^{\dagger} \xrightarrow{\sim} \widetilde{B}^{\dagger}$  and  $\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger} \overset{\sim}{\to} \widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger}$ . Moreover, we can easily check that  $A_{\mathrm{max}} = \widetilde{A}_{[0,(p-1)/p]}$ ,  $B_{\mathrm{max}} = \widetilde{B}_{[0,(p-1)/p]}$  and  $\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^+ = \widetilde{B}_{[0,+\infty)} := \bigcap_{0 < s < +\infty} \widetilde{B}_{[0,s]}$ . The rings  $\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^\dagger$ ,  $\widetilde{B}^\dagger$  are respectively equal to  $\Gamma_{\mathrm{an,con}}^{\mathrm{alg}}$ ,  $\Gamma_{\mathrm{con}}^{\mathrm{alg}}$ defined by Kedlaya [Ked04]. We recall a relation between  $\widetilde{B}_{\rm rig}^{\dagger}$  and  $B_{\rm dR}$ . It is easy to see that  $\widetilde{B}_{[(p-1)/p,(p-1)/p]} = \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^+\{p/[\widetilde{p}],[\widetilde{p}]/p\}[1/p]$ . Then we have a natural continuous  $G_K$ equivariant injective morphism  $\widetilde{B}_{[(p-1)/p,(p-1)/p]} \hookrightarrow B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ : \sum_{k\geq 0} a_k (p/[\tilde{p}])^k + \sum_{l\geq 0} b_l ([\tilde{p}]/p)^l \mapsto$  $\sum_{k\geq 0} a_k (p/[\tilde{p}])^k + \sum_{l\geq 0} b_l ([\tilde{p}]/p)^l$ . In particular, we have a natural continuous inclusion  $i_0$ :  $\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger,(p-1)/p} = \bigcap_{(p-1)/p \leq r < +\infty} \widetilde{B}_{[(p-1)/p,r]} \hookrightarrow \widetilde{B}_{[(p-1)/p,(p-1)/p]} \hookrightarrow B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+. \text{ For any } n \in \mathbb{N}, \text{ we define a continuous } G_K\text{-equivariant injection } i_n := i_0 \circ \varphi^{-n} : \widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger,(p-1)p^{n-1}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger,(p-1)/p} \hookrightarrow B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+.$ 

Next we define  $B_{K,\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger}$  and  $B_{K}^{\dagger}$ . We put  $A_{K_0} := \{ \sum_{k \geq -\infty}^{+\infty} a_k \pi^k \mid a_k \in \mathcal{O}_{K_0}, a_k \to 0 \ (k \to -\infty) \}$ and  $B_{K_0} := A_{K_0}[1/p]$  where  $\pi := [\varepsilon] - 1$ .  $A_{K_0}$  is a complete discrete valuation ring such that p is a prime element, the residue field is  $E_{K_0} := k((\varepsilon - 1))$  and the fraction field is  $B_{K_0}$ . We can show that  $A_{K_0} \subset \widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$  and  $B_{K_0} \subset \widetilde{\mathbb{B}}$ .  $\varphi$  and the action of  $G_K$  on  $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$  preserves  $A_{K_0}$  and  $\varphi(\pi) = (\pi + 1)^p - 1$ and  $g(\pi) = (\pi + 1)^{\chi(g)} - 1$  for any  $g \in G_K$ . Let  $\mathbb{A}$  be the p-adic completion of the maximal unramified extension of  $A_{K_0}$  in  $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ ,  $\mathbb{B}$  be its fraction field. Then  $\varphi$  and the action of  $G_K$ also preserve  $\mathbb{A}$  and  $\mathbb{B}$ . We put  $A_K := \mathbb{A}^{H_K}, B_K := \mathbb{B}^{H_K}, B_K^{\dagger} := B_K \cap \widetilde{B}^{\dagger}, B_K^{\dagger,r} := B_K \cap \widetilde{B}^{\dagger,r}$ . By definition, these rings are equipped with natural continuous actions of  $\varphi$  and  $\Gamma_K$ . If we put  $E_K := (E_{K_0}^{\text{sep}})^{H_K} \subset \tilde{\mathbb{E}}$  (here  $E_{K_0}^{\text{sep}}$  is the separable closure of  $E_{K_0}$  in  $\tilde{\mathbb{E}}$ ), it is known that  $E_K$  is a separable extension of  $E_{K_0}$  of degree  $[K_\infty:K_0(\zeta_{p^\infty})]$  by the theory of fields of norm. Here  $A_K$ is a complete discrete valuation ring such that p is a prime element, the residue field is  $E_K$ and the fraction field is  $B_K$ . Let  $K'_0$  be the maximal unramified extension of  $K_0$  in  $K_{\infty}$ . For sufficiently large r > 0 such that a prime element  $\pi_{E_K} \in E_K$  lifts to  $\tilde{\pi}_{E_K} \in B_K^{\dagger,r}$ , it is known that  $B_K^{\dagger,r} = \{\sum_{k \geq -\infty}^{+\infty} a_k \tilde{\pi}_{E_K}^k \mid a_k \in K_0', \ f(X) := \sum_{k \geq -\infty}^{+\infty} a_k X^k \text{ is a bounded function on } X \in \mathbb{C}_p \text{ such } X \in \mathbb{C}_p \}$ that  $p^{-1/re_K} \leq |X| < 1$ }. We put  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,r}$  the Frechet completion of  $B_K^{\dagger,r}$  and  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} := \bigcup_{r \gg 0} B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,r}$ . Then it is known that  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,r} = \{\sum_{k \geq -\infty}^{+\infty} a_k \tilde{\pi}_{E_K}^k \mid a_k \in K_0', \ f(X) := \sum_{k \geq -\infty}^{+\infty} a_k X^k \text{ converges on } A_k X^k \}$  $X \in \mathbb{C}_p$  such that  $p^{-1/re_K} \leq |X| < 1$ . So  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,r}, B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  are the Robba rings with coefficients in  $K_0'$ . We can show that  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,r} \subset \widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger,r}$ ,  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \subset \widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger}$  and the Frechet topology on  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,r}$  is the induced topology from that on  $\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger,r}$  and  $\varphi$  induces inclusions  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,r} \hookrightarrow B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,pr}$ ,  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \hookrightarrow B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ 

and  $\Gamma_K$  continuously acts on  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,r}$ ,  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ . By restricting  $i_n: \widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger,(p-1)p^{n-1}} \hookrightarrow B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  to  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,(p-1)p^{n-1}}$  we have a  $G_K$ -equivariant injection  $i_n: B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,(p-1)p^{n-1}} \hookrightarrow B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$ .

DEFINITION 1.29. An  $E-(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -module over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  is a finite  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -module D equipped with a Frobenius semi-linear action  $\varphi_D$  and a continuous semi-linear action of  $\Gamma_K$  such that D is free as a  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ -module,  $id_{B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}} \otimes \varphi_D : B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{\varphi,B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}} D \to D$  is an isomorphism and that the actions of  $\varphi$  and  $\Gamma_K$  commute. Here  $\varphi$  and  $\Gamma_K$  act on  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  as  $\varphi \otimes id$ ,  $\gamma \otimes id$  for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma_K$ .

When  $E = \mathbb{Q}_p$ , we omit the notation  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  in the above definition, i.e. we simply call  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ .

Next we prove a lemma concerning the freeness over  $B_{\text{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  of an  $E-\varphi$ -module.

LEMMA 1.30. Let D be an  $E-\varphi$ -module over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ . Then D is also free as a  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -module.

Proof. Let  $E_0' := E \cap K_0'$ ,  $f' := [E_0' : \mathbb{Q}_p]$  and  $I := \{\sigma : E_0' \hookrightarrow E\}$ . Then we have a canonical decomposition  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\sigma \in I} B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} Ee_{\sigma}$ , where  $e_{\sigma}$  is the idempotent in  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  corresponding to 1 in  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} E$ . Then any component  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} Ee_{\sigma}$  is a Robba ring with coefficients in E, i.e. they are non-canonically isomorphic to  $\mathcal{R}_E$ . The action of  $\varphi$  is given by  $\varphi(a \otimes be_{\sigma}) = \varphi(a) \otimes be_{\sigma\varphi^{-1}|_{E_0'}}$  for any  $a \in B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  and  $b \in E$  and  $\sigma \in I$ . Because  $\varphi|_{E_0'}$  acts transitively on I, so  $\varphi$  acts transitively on the components of this decomposition. Because  $\sharp I = f', \ \varphi^{f'}$  preserves the component  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} Ee_{\sigma}$  for any  $\sigma \in I$ . Let D be an  $E - \varphi$ -module over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ . Then we also have a canonical decomposition  $D \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\sigma \in I} D \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E}$   $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} Ee_{\sigma} \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\sigma \in I} D \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} Ee_{\sigma}$ . Then, for any  $\sigma \in I$ , the component  $D \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} Ee_{\sigma}$  is a  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} Ee_{\sigma}$ -module which is finite torsion free as a  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ -module. So it is free as a  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ -module by [Ked04, Proposition 2.5]. Because  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} Ee_{\sigma}$  is also a Robba ring, in particular, it is a Bézout domain and because the natural map  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} Ee_{\sigma}$ . So it is free over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} Ee_{\sigma}$  for any  $\sigma \in I$  by [Ked04, Proposition 2.5]. Then we can take a basis  $\{v_1e_{\sigma},\dots,v_ke_{\sigma}\}$  of  $D \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} Ee_{\sigma}$  over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} Ee_{\sigma}$  for any  $\sigma \in I$  by [Ked04, Proposition 2.5]. Then we can take a basis  $\{v_1e_{\sigma},\dots,v_ke_{\sigma}\}$  of  $D \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} Ee_{\sigma}$  over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} Ee_{\sigma}$  for any  $\sigma \in I$  by the Frobenius structure on  $\sigma \in I$ . Then  $\{\sum_{i=0}^{f'-1} \varphi^i(v_1)e_{\sigma\varphi^{-i}|_{E_0'}}$  for any  $0 \leq i \leq f'-1$  by the Frobenius structure on  $\sigma \in I$ . Then  $\{\sum_{i=0}^{f'-1} \varphi^i(v_1)$ 

By this lemma, we can define the rank and the tensor products and the duals of E–( $\varphi$ ,  $\Gamma_K$ )modules as follows.

Definition 1.31. We make the following definitions.

- (1) Let D be an E- $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -module over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ . We define the rank of D by  $\mathrm{rank}(D) := \mathrm{rank}_{B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E}(D)$ , i.e. the rank of D as a free  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -module.
- (2) Let  $D_1$ ,  $D_2$  be  $E-(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ . Then we define the tensor product of  $D_1$  and

- $D_2$  by  $D_1 \otimes D_2 := D_1 \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p E} D_2$ , which is a free  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -module by Lemma 1.30, on which  $\varphi$  and  $\Gamma_K$  act by  $\varphi_{D_1 \otimes D_2} := \varphi_{D_1} \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E} \varphi_{D_2}$  and  $\gamma \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E} \gamma$  for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma_K$ .
- (3) Let D be an E-( $\varphi$ ,  $\Gamma$ )-module over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ . Then we define the dual of D by  $D^{\vee} := \mathrm{Hom}_{B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}}(D,B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger})$ ; here the E-action on  $D^{\vee}$  is defined by af(x) := f(ax) for any  $a \in E$ ,  $f \in D^{\vee}$ ,  $x \in D$ .

Next we prove the slope filtration theorem for E-( $\varphi$ ,  $\Gamma_K$ )-modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ .

THEOREM 1.32. Let D be an  $E-(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -module over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ . Then D admits unique filtration  $0 = D_0 \subset D_1 \subset \cdots \subset D_l = D$  such that  $D_i$  is an  $E-(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -module over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ ,  $D_i$  is saturated in  $D_{i+1}$  and the quotient  $D_{i+1}/D_i$  is pure of slope  $s_{i+1}$  for any  $0 \le i \le l-1$  with  $s_1 < s_2 < \cdots < s_l$ . Here the slope of an  $E-(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -module M is the slope of M as  $\varphi$ -module over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ .

Proof. Let D be an  $E-(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -module over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ . Then, by the slope filtration theorem (Theorem 1.28), D admits unique filtration  $0=D_0\subset D_1\subset\cdots\subset D_l=D$  by sub- $\varphi$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  such that  $D_i$  is saturated in  $D_{i+1}$  and the quotient  $D_{i+1}/D_i$  is pure of slope  $s_{i+1}$  for any  $0\leq i\leq l-1$  with  $s_1< s_2<\cdots< s_l$ . Then the action of E preserves  $D_i$  for any i by uniqueness of filtration. So  $D_i$  and  $D_{i+1}/D_i$  are  $E-\varphi$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  for any i. For any  $\gamma\in\Gamma_K$ ,  $0\subset\gamma(D_1)\subset\cdots\subset\gamma(D_l)=D$  also satisfies the same conditions as  $0\subset D_1\subset\cdots\subset D$  by the commutativity of  $\Gamma_K$  and  $\varphi$ . So we obtain  $\gamma(D_i)=D_i$  for any i and  $\gamma\in\Gamma_K$  by uniqueness of filtration. Hence,  $D_i$  and  $D_{i+1}/D_i$  are  $E-(\varphi,\Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  for any i.

In particular, it follows from the above theorem that when D is rank one, then D is pure of slope s for some  $s \in \mathbb{Q}$ . Concerning this slope s, we know more precise information as follows, which we need to classify rank-one E-B-pairs.

LEMMA 1.33. Let D be a rank one E– $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -module. Then D is pure and the slope  $\mu(D)$  is contained in  $(1/(fe_E))\mathbb{Z}$ .

*Proof.* The claim that D is pure follows from the above theorem. We prove that  $\mu(D)$  is contained in  $(1/(fe_E))\mathbb{Z}$  by using the  $\Gamma_K$  structure on D. First we consider the following short exact sequence of finite groups

$$1 \to \operatorname{Gal}(E_0'/K_0) \to \operatorname{Gal}(E_0'/\mathbb{Q}_p) \to \operatorname{Gal}(K_0/\mathbb{Q}_p) \to 1.$$

Here we put  $E'_0 := E \cap K'_0 \supseteq K_0$ . We put  $f'' := [E'_0 : K_0]$  and  $f' := ff'' = [E'_0 : \mathbb{Q}_p]$ . Then we have a natural surjection  $\Gamma_K \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Gal}(K'_0K/K) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \operatorname{Gal}(K'_0/K_0) \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Gal}(E'_0/K_0)$ . So, if we consider  $\varphi$  (which acts on  $B^{\dagger}_{\operatorname{rig},K}$ ) as an element in  $\operatorname{Gal}(E'_0/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ , there is a  $\gamma \in \Gamma_K$  such that  $\varphi^f = \gamma$  in  $\operatorname{Gal}(E'_0/K_0)$ . On this setting, we consider a rank-one  $E - (\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -module D over  $B^{\dagger}_{\operatorname{rig},K}$ . Put  $I := \{\sigma : E'_0 \hookrightarrow E\} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \operatorname{Gal}(E'_0/\mathbb{Q}_p)$  and  $D_{\sigma} := D \otimes_{B^{\dagger}_{\operatorname{rig},K} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E} B^{\dagger}_{\operatorname{rig},K} \otimes_{E'_0,\sigma} E$  for any  $\sigma \in I$ . Because D is rank one,  $D_{\sigma}$  is a rank-one free  $B^{\dagger}_{\operatorname{rig},K} \otimes_{E'_0,\sigma} E$ -module. Take a base  $e_{\sigma}$  of  $D_{\sigma}$  for any  $\sigma \in I$ . Then  $\varphi$  sends  $D_{\sigma}$  to  $D_{\sigma\varphi^{-1}}$  and  $\gamma \in \Gamma_K$  sends  $D_{\sigma}$  to  $D_{\sigma\gamma^{-1}}$ . We calculate the slope of D as follows. Let  $e_1$  be a base of  $D_{id}$  corresponding to  $id \in \operatorname{Gal}(E'_0/\mathbb{Q}_p)$ . Then we have  $\varphi^f(e_1) = \alpha e_{\varphi^{-f}}$  for some  $\alpha \in B^{\dagger}_{\operatorname{rig},K} \otimes_{E'_0,\varphi^{-f}} E$ . Because  $\varphi^f = \gamma \in \operatorname{Gal}(E'_0/K_0)$  and  $\gamma$  induces an isomorphism  $\gamma : D_{id} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} D_{\gamma^{-1}}$ , there exists some  $\beta \in B^{\dagger}_{\operatorname{rig},K} \otimes_{E'_0,id} E$  such that

 $\gamma(\beta e_1) = \alpha e_{\gamma^{-1}}. \text{ Because the actions of } \varphi \text{ and } \gamma \text{ commute, we have } \varphi^{2f}(e_1) = \varphi^f(\alpha e_{\varphi^{-f}}) = \varphi^f(\alpha e_{\gamma^{-1}}) = \varphi^f(\gamma(\beta e_1)) = \gamma(\varphi^f(\beta)\varphi^f(e_1)) = \gamma(\varphi^f(\beta)\gamma(\beta e_1)) = \gamma(\varphi^f(\beta))\gamma^2(\beta)\gamma^2(e_1). \text{ Repeating this procedure, we obtain } \varphi^{ff''}(e_1) = \gamma(\varphi^{f(f''-1)}(\beta))\gamma^2(\varphi^{f(f''-2)}(\beta)) \cdots \gamma^{f''}(\beta)\gamma^{f''}(e_1) := \tilde{\beta}ce_1 \text{ (here we put } \tilde{\beta} := \gamma(\varphi^{f(f''-1)}(\beta))\gamma^2(\varphi^{f(f''-2)}(\beta)) \cdots \gamma^{f''}(\beta) \text{ and } \gamma^{f''}(e_1) := ce_1 \text{ for some } c \in B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',id} E \text{ because } \gamma^{f''} = id \in \mathrm{Gal}(E_0'/\mathbb{Q}_p)). \text{ Then } D_{id} \text{ is a rank-one } \varphi^{ff''}\text{-module over } B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',id} E \text{ of slope } w_1(\tilde{\beta}) + w_1(c), \text{ where } w_1 \text{ is the valuation of } (B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',id} E)^{\mathrm{bd}} \text{ which is the natural extension of the valuation of } (B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger})^{\mathrm{bd}} = B_K^{\dagger}. \text{ Because } \varphi \text{ and } \gamma \text{ do not change valuation, we have } w_1(\tilde{\beta}) = f''w_1(\beta) \in (f''/e_E)\mathbb{Z}. \text{ Because } \Gamma_K \text{ acts continuously on } D \text{ and } \Gamma_K \subseteq \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}, \text{ we have } w_1(c) = 0. \text{ So the slope of } D_{id} \text{ as } \varphi^{ff''}\text{-module over } B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',id} E \text{ is the same as the slope of } D_{id} \text{ as a } \varphi^{ff''}\text{-module over } B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',id} E \text{ is the same as the slope of } D_{id} \text{ as a } \varphi^{ff''}\text{-module over } B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',id} E \text{ is the same as the slope of } D_{id} \text{ as a } \varphi^{ff''}\text{-module over } B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}. \text{ Using the Frobenius structure on } D, \text{ we can show that } D_{\sigma} \text{ also has slope } w_1(\tilde{\beta}) \text{ as a } \varphi^{ff''}\text{-module over } B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}. \text{ Because } \mu([ff'']_*D) = ff''\mu(D) \text{ by [Ked08, Remark 1.4.5], } D \text{ has slope } (w_1(\tilde{\beta})/ff'') \in (f''/ff''e_E)\mathbb{Z} = (1/fe_E)\mathbb{Z} \text{ as a } \varphi\text{-module over } B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}. \text{ We have finished the proof of this lemma.}$ 

Next we prove a lemma concerning a relation between tensor products and slopes.

LEMMA 1.34. Let  $D_1$ ,  $D_2$  be  $E-(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  which are pure of slope  $s_1$ ,  $s_2$ , respectively. Then  $D_1 \otimes D_2$  is pure of slope  $s_1 + s_2$ .

Proof. If we decompose  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\sigma: E_0' \hookrightarrow_E} B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} Ee_{\sigma}$ , we can decompose  $D_1$ ,  $D_2$  into  $\sigma$  components,  $D_i \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\sigma: E_0' \hookrightarrow_E} D_{i,\sigma}$  for i=1,2, where  $D_{i,\sigma}$  is the  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} E$  component of  $D_i$ . Then, by the proof of Lemma 1.33 and by [Ked08, Lemma 1.6.3], we can see that  $D_{i,\sigma}$  is a  $\varphi^{ff''}$ -module over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} E$  which is pure of slope  $ff''s_i$  for any  $\sigma$  and i=1,2. So  $D_{1,\sigma} \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} E} D_{2,\sigma}$  is a  $\varphi^{ff''}$ -module over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} E$  which is pure of slope  $ff''(s_1+s_2)$  by [Ked08, Corollary 1.6.4]. Because  $D_1 \otimes D_2 \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\sigma: E_0' \hookrightarrow_E} D_{1,\sigma} \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{E_0',\sigma} E} D_{2,\sigma}$ , we can show that  $D_1 \otimes D_2$  is a  $\varphi$ -module over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  which is pure of slope  $s_1 + s_2$  in the same way as the proof of Lemma 1.33 and by using [Ked08, Lemma 1.6.3].

# 1.3 Equivalence between B-pairs and $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules

In this section, we recall a result of Berger on the equivalence between the category of B-pairs and the category of  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ . First we recall the construction of a functor from  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules to B-pairs [Ber08b, §2.2]. Let D be a  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -module of rank d over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ . Then Berger showed that  $W_e(D) := (\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger}[1/t] \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}} D)^{\varphi=1}$  is a free  $B_e$ -module of rank d (see [Ber08b, Proposition 2.2.6]). It is equipped with a continuous semi-linear  $G_K$ -action. On the other hand, for sufficiently large  $r_0 > 0$ , we can take unique  $\Gamma_K$ -stable finite free  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,r}$ -submodule  $D^r \subset D$  such that  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger} \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,r}} D^r = D$  and  $id_{B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,pr}} \otimes \varphi_D : B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,pr} \otimes_{\varphi,B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,r}} D^r \xrightarrow{\sim} D^{pr}$  for any  $r \geq r_0$  [Ber08a, Theorem 1.3.3]. Then Berger showed that the continuous  $G_K$ -module  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(D) := B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{i_n,B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,(p-1)p^{n-1}}} D^{(p-1)p^{n-1}}$  over  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  is independent of any n such that  $(p-1)p^{n-1} \geq r_0$  and

showed that there is a canonical  $G_K$ -isomorphism  $B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e(D) \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+} W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(D)$  (see [Ber08b, Proposition 2.2.6]). We put  $W(D) := (W_e(D), W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(D))$ . This is a B-pair of rank d. This defines a functor from the category of  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  to the category of B-pairs of  $G_K$ .

Remark 1.35. We can also define an inverse functor from the category of B-pairs to the category of  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules [Ber08b, § 2.2], but the definition of this is very difficult. In this paper, we do not need this construction, so we omit the definition of this functor. We denote this inverse functor by  $W \mapsto D(W)$ .

THEOREM 1.36. The functor  $D \mapsto W(D)$  is an exact functor and this gives an equivalence of categories between the category of E– $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$  and the category of E–B-pairs of  $G_K$ .

Proof. For the  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ -coefficient case, this result was proved by Berger [Ber08b, Theorem 2.2.7]. Let D be an  $E-(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -module over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ ,  $a \in E$ . Then the multiplication by a gives an endomorphism of D as  $\mathbb{Q}_p-(\varphi,\Gamma_K)$ -modules. From the functoriality, these multiplications give an E-action on W(D). So W(D) is an E-B-pair. For any E-B-pair W, we can define in a similar way the E-action on D(W). So we obtain the desired equivalence.

If we restrict the functor  $D \mapsto W(D)$  to étale  $E - (\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules, we obtain the following theorem.

THEOREM 1.37. The functor  $D \mapsto W(D)$  gives an equivalence of categories between the category of étale  $E - (\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules and the category of E - B-pairs of the form W(V) for some E-representation V.

*Proof.* See [Ber08b, Proposition 2.2.9].

DEFINITION 1.38. Let W be an E-B-pair and  $s \in \mathbb{Q}$ . Then we say that W is pure of slope s if D(W) is pure of slope s.

Remark 1.39. In fact, we can define B-pairs with pure slope directly without using  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules, but we omit this definition in this article (see [Ber08b, § 3.2]).

The next theorem is the E-B-pair version of slope filtration theorem.

THEOREM 1.40. Let W be an E-B-pair. Then there exists unique filtration  $0 = W_0 \subset W_1 \subset \cdots \subset W_l = W$  by sub-E-B-pairs of W such that  $W_i$  is saturated in  $W_{i+1}$  and the quotient  $W_{i+1}/W_i$  is pure of slope  $s_i$  for any i with  $s_1 < s_2 < \cdots < s_l$ .

*Proof.* This follows from Theorems 1.32 and 1.36.

LEMMA 1.41. Let W be a rank-one E-B-pair. Then W is pure and its slope is contained in  $(1/fe_E)\mathbb{Z}$ .

*Proof.* This follows from Lemma 1.33.

# 1.4 Classification of rank-one E-B-pairs

In this section, we classify rank-one E-B-pairs. By Lemma 1.41, any rank one E-B-pairs are pure and their slopes are contained in  $(1/fe_E)\mathbb{Z}$ . We fix a prime element  $\pi_E$  of E. First we construct a special rank-one E-B-pair  $W_0$  which is pure of slope  $1/fe_E$ . To construct this, first

we define a rank-one E-filtered  $\varphi$ -module  $D_0$  over K, which corresponds to  $W_0$  by  $D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K$ . (Here, for any E-filtered  $(\varphi,N)$ -module D, we can define the rank of D by  $\mathrm{rank}(D):=\mathrm{rank}_{K_0\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p}E}(D)$  because we can show that D is a free  $K_0\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p}E$ -module in the same way as in the case of E- $(\varphi,\Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ .) Let  $D_0:=K_0\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p}E$ -module in the same way as in the case of E-semi-linear action of  $\varphi$  on  $D_0$  by  $\varphi(e_{id}):=e_{\varphi^{-1}}, \, \varphi(e_{\varphi^{-1}}):=e_{\varphi^{-2}}, \ldots, \, \varphi(e_{\varphi^{-(f-2)}}):=e_{\varphi^{-(f-1)}}, \, \varphi(e_{\varphi^{-(f-1)}}):=\pi_E e_{id}, \, \text{i.e. a } \varphi$ -module such that  $\varphi^f=\pi_E$ . We define a decreasing filtration on  $D_{0,K}:=K\otimes_{K_0}D_0$  by  $\mathrm{Fil}^0D_{0,K}:=D_{0,K}$ ,  $\mathrm{Fil}^1D_{0,K}:=0$ . Then  $D_0$  is a filtered  $\varphi$ -module over K with a natural E-action. For any  $i\geq 0$ , then  $D_0^{\otimes i}$  is the rank-one E-filtered  $\varphi$ -module such that  $\varphi^f=\pi_E^i$  and  $\mathrm{Fil}^0D_{0,K}^{\otimes i}=D_{0,K}^{\otimes i}$  and  $\mathrm{Fil}^1D_{0,K}^{\otimes i}=0$ . If we put  $D_0^{\otimes -1}:=D_0^\vee$  the dual of  $D_0$  defined in the same way as in the case of E-B-pairs, then we can see that  $D_0^{\otimes -1}$  is an E-filtered  $\varphi$ -module such that  $\varphi^f=\pi_E^{-1}$  and  $\mathrm{Fil}^0D_{0,K}^{\otimes -1}=D_{0,K}^{\otimes -1}$  and  $\mathrm{Fil}^1D_{0,K}^{\otimes -1}=0$ . Moreover, if we define the tensor products of E-filtered  $(\varphi,N)$ -modules in the same way as in the case of E- $(\varphi,\Gamma_K)$ -modules, then we can see that  $D_0^{\otimes -1}\otimes D_0$  is the trivial E-filtered  $\varphi$ -module. So  $D_0^{\otimes i}$  is well defined for any  $i\in\mathbb{Z}$  and satisfies  $D_0^{\otimes i}\otimes D_0^{\otimes i}\stackrel{\sim}{\to} D_0^{\otimes i+j}$  for any  $i,j\in\mathbb{Z}$ .

By the 'weakly admissible implies admissible' theorem for B-pairs (Theorem 1.18(3)),  $W_0 := W(D_0) = (W_e(D_0), W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(D_0))$  is the rank-one crystalline E-B-pair such that  $D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(W_0) \xrightarrow{\sim} D_0$ .

LEMMA 1.42. We have that  $W_0$  is pure of slope  $1/fe_E$ .

Proof. Because  $W_0$  is rank one,  $W_0$  is pure by Lemma 1.41. So it suffices to show that the slope of  $W_0$  is equal to  $1/fe_E$ . In [Ber08a, § 2.2], Berger defined a functor  $D \mapsto \mathcal{M}(D)$  from the category of filtered  $(\varphi, N, G_K)$ -modules to the category of (locally trivial)  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ . In [Ber08b, Proposition 2.3.4], he showed that  $\mathcal{M}(D_{\mathrm{st}}^L(W)) = D(W)$  for any potentially semistable B-pair W and for sufficient large L. By this compatibility, we have  $D(W_0) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{M}(D_0)$ . On the other hand, for a rank-one filtered  $(\varphi, N)$ -module D, the slope of  $\mathcal{M}(D)$  is equal to  $t_N(D) - t_H(D)$  by [Ber08a, Theorem 4.2.1]. Here, for a rank-one filtered  $(\varphi, N)$ -module  $D := K_0 e$ , we define  $t_N(D) := \mathrm{val}_p(\varphi(e)/e)$  and define  $t_H(D)$  as a unique integer k such that  $\mathrm{Fil}^k(D_K)/\mathrm{Fil}^{k+1}(D_K) \neq 0$ . Because  $\mu(\wedge^i M) = i\mu(M)$  for a  $\varphi$ -module M over a Robba ring, we have  $\mu(D(W_0)) = \mu(\mathcal{M}(D_0)) = (1/[E:\mathbb{Q}_p])\mu(\wedge^{[E:\mathbb{Q}_p]}\mathcal{M}(D_0)) = (1/[E:\mathbb{Q}_p])(t_N(\wedge^{[E:\mathbb{Q}_p]}D_0) - t_H(\wedge^{[E:\mathbb{Q}_p]}D_0)$ . By the definition of  $D_0$ , it is easy to see that  $t_N(\wedge^{[E:\mathbb{Q}_p]}D_0) = [E:K_0]/e_E$ ,  $t_H(\wedge^{[E:\mathbb{Q}_p]}D_0) = 0$ . So we obtain  $\mu(\mathcal{M}(D_0)) = [E:K_0]/[E:\mathbb{Q}_p]e_E = 1/fe_E$ . So the slope of  $W_0$  is  $1/fe_E$  by the definition of the slopes of E-B-pairs.

By using  $W_0$ , we can classify all of the rank-one E-B-pairs as follows. Let  $\delta: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  be a continuous character where K and E are equipped with p-adic topology. We put  $\delta(\pi_K) := u\pi_E^i$  for  $u \in \mathcal{O}_E^{\times}$  and  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ . We put  $\delta_0: K^{\times} \to \mathcal{O}_E^{\times}$  the unitary continuous character such that  $\delta_0|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}} = \delta|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}}$  and  $\delta_0(\pi_K) := u$ . Then by local class field theory, this extends uniquely to a continuous character  $\tilde{\delta}_0: G_K \to \mathcal{O}_E^{\times}$  such that  $\tilde{\delta}_0 \circ \operatorname{rec}_K = \delta_0$ , here  $\operatorname{rec}_K: K^{\times} \to G_K^{\operatorname{ab}}$  is the reciprocity map as in the notation section. Then we put  $W(\delta) := W(E(\tilde{\delta}_0)) \otimes W_0^{\otimes i}$ . By the definitions of tensor products and duals, we can see that these are compatible with tensor products and with duals, i.e.  $W(\delta_1) \otimes W(\delta_2) \xrightarrow{\sim} W(\delta_1 \delta_2)$  and  $W(\delta_1)^{\vee} \xrightarrow{\sim} W(\delta_1^{-1})$  for any characters  $\delta_1, \delta_2: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$ . In particular, we have  $W_0^{\otimes i} \xrightarrow{\sim} W(D_0^{\otimes i})$  for any  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ , so  $W_0^{\otimes i}$  is pure of slope  $i/fe_E$  by Lemmas 1.34 and 1.42 for any  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Then we have the following lemma.

LEMMA 1.43. Let  $\delta: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  be a continuous character. Then the E-B-pair  $W(\delta)$  does not depend on the choice of a uniformizer  $\pi_E$  of E and on the choice of a uniformizer  $\pi_K$  of K.

Proof. Because  $\delta_0$  does not depend on the choice of a uniformizer  $\pi_K$  of K, then  $W(\delta)$  does not depend on  $\pi_K$ . Let  $\pi'_E = v\pi_E$  be another prime of E ( $v \in \mathcal{O}_E^{\times}$ ). Let  $D'_0$  be a rank-one E-filtered  $\varphi$ -module over  $K_0$  defined by replacing  $\pi_E$  with  $\pi'_E$  in the definition of  $D_0$ . Let  $W'_0 := W(D'_0)$  be the corresponding E-B-pair. If we write  $\delta(\pi_K) = u\pi_E^i = uv^{-i}\pi_E'^i$ , then  $\delta_0|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}} = \delta'_0|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}} = \delta|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}}$  and  $\delta_0(\pi_K) = u$  and  $\delta'_0(\pi_K) = uv^{-i}$ . Then it suffices to show that  $W(E(\tilde{\delta}_0)) \otimes W_0^{\otimes i} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W(E(\tilde{\delta}'_0)) \otimes W_0^{\otimes i} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W(E(\tilde{\delta}'_0)) \otimes W_0^{\otimes i} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W(E(\tilde{\delta}'_0)) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} D_0^{\otimes i}$ . Because  $\tilde{\delta}_0/\tilde{\delta}'_0$  is a unramified character, it suffices to show that  $D_{\text{cris}}^K(E(\tilde{\delta}_0/\tilde{\delta}'_0)) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} D_0^{\otimes i} \otimes D_0^{\otimes -i}$  as E-filtered  $\varphi$ -modules. By calculation,  $D_{\text{cris}}^K(E(\tilde{\delta}_0/\tilde{\delta}'_0)) = K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} Ee$  on which  $\varphi$  acts by  $\varphi^f(e) = \tilde{\delta}_0/\tilde{\delta}'_0(\pi_K)e = (u/uv^{-i})e = v^ie$ . By definition,  $\varphi$  acts on  $D_0'^{\otimes i} \otimes D_0^{\otimes -i} = K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} Ee'$  by  $\varphi^f(e') = (\pi'_E/\pi_E)^ie' = v^ie'$ . So these are isomorphic as a  $\varphi$ -module. Concerning the filtrations, Fil $^0D_{\text{dR}}^K(E(\tilde{\delta}_0/\tilde{\delta}'_0)) = D_{\text{dR}}^K(E(\tilde{\delta}_0/\tilde{\delta}'_0))$  and Fil $^1D_{\text{dR}}^K(E(\tilde{\delta}_0/\tilde{\delta}'_0)) = 0$  because  $\tilde{\delta}_0/\tilde{\delta}'_0$  is a unramified character. On the other hand, Fil $^0D_{0,K}^{\otimes i} \otimes D_{0,K}^{\otimes -i} = D_{0,K}^{\otimes i} \otimes D_{0,K}^{\otimes -i}$  and Fil $^1D_{0,K}^{\otimes i} \otimes D_{0,K}^{\otimes -i} = 0$  by the definition of  $D_0$  and  $D'_0$ . So, these are isomorphic as E-filtered  $\varphi$ -modules.

Remark 1.44. We can also show in the same way that  $W(\delta)$  defined here is isomorphic to  $W(\delta)$  defined before Theorem 0.1 in the introduction.

The classification theorem of rank-one E-B-pairs is as follows.

THEOREM 1.45. Let W be a rank-one E-B-pair. Then there exists unique continuous character  $\delta: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  such that  $W \xrightarrow{\sim} W(\delta)$ .

Proof. Let W be a rank-one E-B-pair. Then, by Lemma 1.41, W is pure of slope  $i/fe_E$  for unique  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Because  $W_0$  is pure of slope  $1/fe_E$  by Lemma 1.42,  $W \otimes W_0^{\otimes -i}$  is pure of slope zero by Lemma 1.34. So, by Theorem 1.37, there exists unique continuous character  $\tilde{\delta}_0: G_K \to \mathcal{O}_E^{\times}$  such that  $W \otimes W_0^{\otimes -i} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W(E(\tilde{\delta}_0))$ . So  $W \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W_0^{\otimes i} \otimes W(E(\tilde{\delta}_0))$ . If we define a continuous character  $\delta: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  such that  $\delta(\pi_K) := \tilde{\delta}_0 \circ \operatorname{rec}_K(\pi_K)\pi_E^i$ ,  $\delta|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}} = \tilde{\delta}_0 \circ \operatorname{rec}_K|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}}$ , then we have  $W \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W(\delta)$  by the definition of  $W(\delta)$ . The uniqueness of  $\delta$  follows from uniqueness of i and  $\tilde{\delta}_0$  above.  $\square$ 

Next we recall some facts about Sen's theory for B-pairs to define Hodge–Tate weight of B-pairs. Let U be a  $\mathbb{C}_p$ -representation of  $G_K$ , i.e. U is a finite-dimensional  $\mathbb{C}_p$ -vector space equipped with a continuous semi-linear  $G_K$ -action. Then the union  $U_{\mathrm{fini}}^{H_K}$  of finite-dimensional sub- $K_{\infty}$ -vector spaces of  $U^{H_K}$  which are stable by  $\Gamma_K$  is the largest subspace with this property and satisfies  $\mathbb{C}_p \otimes_{K_{\infty}} U_{\mathrm{fini}}^{H_K} \overset{\sim}{\to} U$  (cf. [Ber08b, § 2.3] and the references therein). Then  $U_{\mathrm{fini}}^{H_K}$  is equipped with a  $K_{\infty}$ -linear operator  $\nabla_U := \log(\gamma)/\log(\chi(\gamma))$  for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma_K$  which is sufficiently close to 1.

DEFINITION 1.46. Let W be a B-pair, then  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+/tW_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  is a  $\mathbb{C}_p$ -representation of  $G_K$ . We put  $D_{\mathrm{Sen}}(W) := (W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+/tW_{\mathrm{dR}}^+)_{\mathrm{fini}}^{H_K}$  and put  $\Theta_{\mathrm{Sen},W} := \nabla_{W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+/tW_{\mathrm{dR}}^+}$ . Then we say that W is Hodge–Tate if  $\Theta_{\mathrm{Sen},W}$  is diagonalizable and all of the eigenvalues are contained in  $\mathbb{Z}$ . Then we call these eigenvalues the Hodge–Tate weights of W.

By using this definition, we calculate the Hodge–Tate weights of a rank-one E–B-pair. Let  $W(\delta)$  be a rank-one E–B-pair for some continuous character  $\delta: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$ . If we put  $W(\delta) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W(E(\tilde{\delta}_0)) \otimes W_0^{\otimes i}$  as above, then we have  $W(\delta)_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \stackrel{\sim}{\to} B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E(\tilde{\delta}_0)$  because  $W_{0,\mathrm{dR}}^+ \stackrel{\sim}{\to} B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  by the definition of  $W_0$ . So  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta)$  comes from an E-representation  $E(\tilde{\delta}_0)$ . In particular,  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta)/tW_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathbb{C}_p \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E(\tilde{\delta}_0)$  also comes from  $E(\tilde{\delta}_0)$ . Then, by Proposition 4.1.2 and the remark following it in [BC08],  $D_{\mathrm{Sen}}(W(\delta))$  is a free  $K_{\infty} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -module of rank one and the operator  $\Theta_{\mathrm{Sen},W(\delta)}$  acts by multiplication by  $w(\delta)$  on  $D_{\mathrm{Sen}}(W(\delta))$  for some  $w(\delta) \in K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ . If

we decompose  $w(\delta)$  into  $\sigma$ -components  $K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} Ee_{\sigma} : w(\delta) \mapsto (w(\delta)_{\sigma} e_{\sigma})$ . Then  $W(\delta)$  is Hodge–Tate B-pair if and only if  $w(\delta)_{\sigma}$  is contained in  $\mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ .

DEFINITION 1.47. In the above situation, we say that the set of numbers  $\{w(\delta)_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  is the generalized Hodge-Tate weight of  $W(\delta)$ .

## 2. Calculations of cohomologies of E-B-pairs

For classifying two-dimensional split trianguline E-representations, we need to calculate the extension groups  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(W_2,W_1)$  of E-B-pairs of  $W_1$  by  $W_2$  for rank-one E-B-pairs  $W_1$ ,  $W_2$ . In this section, we define Galois cohomology  $\operatorname{H}^i(G_K,W)$  for any E-B-pair W and interpret  $\operatorname{H}^1(G_K,W)$  as the extension group  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(B_E,W)$ . (Here  $B_E:=(B_e\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p}E,B_{\operatorname{dR}}^+\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p}E)$  is the trivial E-B-pair.) Next we review Liu's results [Liu08] which are generalizations of Tate duality and Euler-Poincaré characteristic formula to the case of  $(\varphi,\Gamma_K)$ -modules over  $B_{\operatorname{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ . Finally, we calculate some Galois cohomologies of E-B-pairs which we need for the classification of two-dimensional split trianguline E-representations.

# 2.1 Definition of Galois cohomology of E-B-pairs

Let  $W:=(W_e,W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+)$  be an E-B-pair. We define the complex of  $G_K$ -modules  $C^{\bullet}(W)$  by  $\delta_0:C^0(W):=W_e\oplus W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+\to C^1(W):=W_{\mathrm{dR}}:(x,y)\mapsto x-y,\,C^i(W)=0$  for  $i\neq 0,1$ .

DEFINITION 2.1. Let  $W := (W_e, W_{dR}^+)$  be an E-B-pair. Then we define the Galois cohomology of W by  $H^i(G_K, W) := H^i(G_K, C^{\bullet}(W))$ . Here the right-hand side is the usual Galois cohomology of a complex of continuous  $G_K$ -modules which are computed by using continuous cochain complexes.

By definition, we have the following long exact sequence

$$\cdots \to \mathrm{H}^i(G_K,W) \to \mathrm{H}^i(G_K,W_e) \oplus \mathrm{H}^i(G_K,W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+) \to \mathrm{H}^i(G_K,W_{\mathrm{dR}}) \to \mathrm{H}^{i+1}(G_K,W) \to \cdots.$$

From this, we obtain the following results.

- (1) We have  $H^0(G_K, W) = (W_e \cap W_{dR}^+)^{G_K}$ .
- (2) There exists the exact sequence of E-vector spaces

$$0 \to W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{G_K} / (W_e^{G_K} + W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+G_K}) \to \mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W) \to \mathrm{Ker}(\mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W_e) \oplus \mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+) \to \mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W_{\mathrm{dR}})) \to 0.$$

Next, for any E-B-pair, we construct a canonical isomorphism

$$\mathrm{H}^1(G_K,W) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{Ext}^1(B_E,W),$$

where the right-hand side is the extension group in the category of E-B-pairs. For any continuous  $G_K$ -module V, we functorially define the diagram  $C^0(V) \xrightarrow{\delta_0} C^1(V) \xrightarrow{\delta_1} C^2(V)$  as follows:

(1)  $C^0(V) := V$ ,  $C^i(V) := \{ f : G_K^{\times i} \to V \text{ a continuous function} \} \text{ for } i = 1, 2.$ 

(2) 
$$\delta_0 : C^0(V) \to C^1(V) : x \mapsto (g \mapsto gx - x),$$
  
 $\delta_1 : C^1(V) \to C^2(V) : f \mapsto ((g_1, g_2) \mapsto f(g_1g_2) - f(g_1) - g_1f(g_2)).$ 

Then we have  $H^0(G_K, V) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Ker}(\delta_0)$ ,  $H^1(G_K, V) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Ker}(\delta_1)/\operatorname{Im}(\delta_0)$ . So, for any E-B-pair W, we have  $H^1(G_K, W) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Ker}(\tilde{\delta}_1)/\operatorname{Im}(\tilde{\delta}_0)$ , here  $\tilde{\delta}_0$ ,  $\tilde{\delta}_1$  are defined by

$$\tilde{\delta}_0: C^0(W_e) \oplus C^0(W_{dR}^+) \to C^1(W_e) \oplus C^1(W_{dR}^+) \oplus C^0(W_{dR}): (x, y) \mapsto (\delta_0(x), \delta_0(y), x - y), \\
\tilde{\delta}_1: C^1(W_e) \oplus C^1(W_{dR}^+) \oplus C^0(W_{dR}) \to C^2(W_e) \oplus C^2(W_{dR}^+) \oplus C^1(W_{dR}): (f_1, f_2, x) \mapsto (\delta_1(f_1), \delta_1(f_2), f_1 - f_2 - \delta_0(x)).$$

By using this expression, we define a map  $H^1(G_K, W) \to \operatorname{Ext}^1(B_E, W)$  as follows. Let  $(f_1, f_2, \alpha) \in \operatorname{Ker}(\tilde{\delta}_1)$ . Then we define an E-B-pair  $X := (X_e, X_{dR}^+, \iota)$  as follows:

- (1)  $X_e := W_e \oplus (B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E) e_{\text{cris}}$  on which  $G_K$  acts by  $g(x, ae_{\text{cris}}) := (gx + gaf_1(g), gae_{\text{cris}})$  for any  $x \in W_e$ ,  $a \in B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  and  $g \in G_K$ ;
- (2)  $X_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ := W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \oplus (B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E) e_{\mathrm{dR}}$  on which  $G_K$  acts by  $g(y, be_{\mathrm{dR}}) := (gy + gbf_2(g), gbe_{\mathrm{dR}})$  for any  $y \in W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$ ,  $b \in B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  and  $g \in G_K$ ;
- (3)  $\iota: B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} X_e \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+} X_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ : (x, ae_{\mathrm{cris}}) \mapsto (\iota_W(x) + a\alpha, ae_{\mathrm{dR}})$  for any  $x \in B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e$  and  $a \in B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ ; here,  $\iota_W: B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+} W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  is the given isomorphism in the definition of B-pair  $W = (W_e, W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+, \iota_W)$ .

(Here we see an E-B-pair W as a triple  $W := (W_e, W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+, \iota_W)$  such that  $W_e$  (respectively  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$ ) is finite free over  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  (respectively  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ ) with continuous semi-linear  $G_K$ -actions and  $\iota_W : B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+} W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  is a  $G_K$ -equivariant  $B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -semi-linear isomorphism. Then this definition is equivalent to Definition 1.2.) Because  $(f_1, f_2, \alpha) \in \mathrm{Ker}(\tilde{\delta}_1)$ , we can easily see that X is a well-defined E-B-pair which sits in the following short exact sequence

$$0 \to W \to X \to B_E \to 0.$$

So we can see the isomorphism class [X] of the extension X as an element in  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(B_E,W)$ . By construction, we can easily see that this defines an E-linear morphism  $\operatorname{Ker}(\tilde{\delta}_1) \to \operatorname{Ext}^1(B_E,W)$ . Then, by a standard argument, we see that this morphism factors through  $\operatorname{Ker}(\tilde{\delta}_1)/\operatorname{Im}(\tilde{\delta}_0) \to \operatorname{Ext}^1(B_E,W)$  and that this is, in fact, E-linear isomorphism. So we obtain the following proposition.

PROPOSITION 2.2. Let W be an E-B-pair. Then we have the following functorial E-linear isomorphisms:

- (1)  $H^0(G_K, W) \xrightarrow{\sim} (W_e \cap W_{dR}^+)^{G_K} \xrightarrow{\sim} Hom(B_E, W)$ , here  $Hom(W_1, W_2)$  is the E-vector space of morphisms in the category of E-B-pairs from  $W_1$  to  $W_2$  for any E-B-pairs  $W_1$ ,  $W_2$ ;
- (2)  $\mathrm{H}^1(G_K,W) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{Ext}^1(B_E,W)$ .

Proof. We have already proved part (2). For part (1), it is easy to see that  $(W_e \cap W_{dR}^+)^{G_K} = \text{Hom}(B_{\mathbb{Q}_p}, W)$  for any  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ -B-pair W. Because  $\text{Hom}(B_{\mathbb{Q}_p}, W) = \text{Hom}(B_E, W)$  for any E-B-pair W (here on the left-hand side, we see W as a  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ -B-pair), so we obtain part (1).

Remark 2.3. In the case of W = W(V) for an E-representation V of  $G_K$ , we have  $H^i(G_K, V) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^i(G_K, W(V))$ : indeed, by the fundamental short exact sequence  $0 \to \mathbb{Q}_p \to B_e \oplus B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \to B_{\mathrm{dR}} \to 0$ , we have a quasi-isomorphism  $V[0] \xrightarrow{\sim} C^{\bullet}(W(V))$ .

In the application to the classification of two-dimensional potentially semi-stable split trianguline E-representations, we need to know when an extension is crystalline, semi-stable or de Rham E-B-pair. So, as in the case of usual Galois cohomology of p-adic representations,

we define Bloch–Kato's cohomologies  $H_e^1(G_K, W)$ ,  $H_f^1(G_K, W)$ , and  $H_g^1(G_K, W)$  (see [BK90, 3]) as follows.

DEFINITION 2.4. Let  $W := (W_e, W_{dR}^+)$  be an E-B-pair. Then we define:

- $H_e^1(G_K, W) := Ker(H^1(G_K, W) \to H^1(G_K, W_e));$
- $\operatorname{H}^1_f(G_K, W) := \operatorname{Ker}(\operatorname{H}^1(G_K, W) \to \operatorname{H}^1(G_K, B_{\operatorname{cris}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e));$
- $\ \mathrm{H}^1_q(G_K,W) := \mathrm{Ker}(\mathrm{H}^1(G_K,W) \to \mathrm{H}^1(G_K,W_{\mathrm{dR}})).$

Here the above maps are induced by the natural maps  $C^{\bullet}(W) \to W_e \to B_{\text{cris}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e \to B_{dR} \otimes_{B_e} W_e \to W_{dR}$ , so we have natural injections  $H^1_e(G_K, W) \subseteq H^1_f(G_K, W) \subseteq H^1_g(G_K, W)$ .

Remark 2.5. If W is a crystalline (respectively de Rham) E-B-pair, then  $[X] \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(B_E, W) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{H}^1(G_K, W)$  is in  $\operatorname{H}^1_f(G_K, W)$  (respectively in  $\operatorname{H}^1_g(G_K, W)$ ) if and only if X is a crystalline (respectively de Rham) E-B-pair.

As in the case of usual p-adic representations, we have a dimension formula of  $H_f^1(G_K, W)$  and  $H_e^1(G_K, W)$ . Before stating this, we prove the following lemma.

LEMMA 2.6. Let W be a de Rham E-B-pair. Then the canonical map  $H^1(G_K, W_{dR}^+) \to H^1(G_K, W_{dR})$  is injective.

*Proof.* The proof is the same as that in the case of p-adic representation [BK90, Lemma 3.8.1], but we give the proof for the convenience of readers. Consider the following short exact sequence

$$0 \to W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+G_K} \to W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{G_K} \to (W_{\mathrm{dR}}/W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+)^{G_K}.$$

From this we have

$$\dim_{E}(D_{\mathrm{dR}}(W)) \leq \dim_{E}(W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+G_{K}}) + \dim_{E}((W_{\mathrm{dR}}/W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+})^{G_{K}})$$
$$\leq \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \dim_{E}(\mathbb{C}_{p}(i) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}_{p}} (W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}/tW_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}))^{G_{K}}$$
$$= \operatorname{rank}(W) = \dim_{E}(D_{\mathrm{dR}}(W)).$$

Here we use the fact that the de Rham *B*-pair is Hodge–Tate and *W* is de Rham. So the map  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{G_K} \to (W_{\mathrm{dR}}/W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+)^{G_K}$  is surjective. Hence, the natural map  $H^1(G_K, W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+) \to H^1(G_K, W_{\mathrm{dR}})$  is injective.

The dimension formulas are as follows.

PROPOSITION 2.7. Let W be a de Rham E-B-pair. Then we have

$$\begin{split} \dim_E(\mathrm{H}^1_f(G_K,W)) &= \dim_E(D^K_{\mathrm{dR}}(W)/\mathrm{Fil}^0D^K_{\mathrm{dR}}(W)) + \dim_E(\mathrm{H}^0(G_K,W)), \\ \dim_E(\mathrm{H}^1_f(G_K,W)/\mathrm{H}^1_e(G_K,W)) &= \dim_E(D^K_{\mathrm{cris}}(W)/(1-\varphi)D^K_{\mathrm{cris}}(W)). \end{split}$$

*Proof.* This proof is essentially the same as that of [BK90, Corollary 3.8.4]. First we consider the following short exact sequence

$$0 \to B_e \to B_{\text{cris}} \xrightarrow{1-\varphi} B_{\text{cris}} \to 0.$$

Tensoring by  $W_e$  over  $B_e$ , we can easily see that  $C^{\bullet}(W)$  is naturally quasi-isomorphic to  $C'^{\bullet}(W) := (W_{\text{cris}} \oplus W_{\text{dR}}^+ \to W_{\text{cris}} \oplus W_{\text{dR}} : (x,y) \mapsto ((1-\varphi)x,x-y))$  (here we put  $W_{\text{cris}} := B_{\text{cris}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e$ ). So, by the definition of  $H_f^1$  and by the above lemma, we have the following two

exact sequences

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^0(G_K, W) \to D^K_{\mathrm{cris}}(W) \oplus \mathrm{Fil}^0 D^K_{\mathrm{dR}}(W) \to D^K_{\mathrm{cris}}(W) \oplus D^K_{\mathrm{dR}}(W) \to \mathrm{H}^1_f(G_K, W) \to 0,$$
$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^0(G_K, W) \to D^K_{\mathrm{cris}}(W)^{\varphi=1} \oplus \mathrm{Fil}^0 D^K_{\mathrm{dR}}(W) \to D^K_{\mathrm{dR}}(W) \to \mathrm{H}^1_e(G_K, W) \to 0.$$

From these, we obtain the desired formulas.

# 2.2 Euler-Poincaré characteristic formula and Tate local duality for B-pairs

In this section, we review Liu's results generalizing some fundamental results of Tate on Galois cohomology of p-adic representations, following [Ked07] and [Liu08]. Liu constructed a category of B-quotients, which is a minimal abelian category in which the category of B-pairs is contained as a full subcategory. Then he defined the Galois cohomology of B-quotients as the universal  $\delta$ -functor of  $\mathrm{H}^0_{\mathrm{Liu}}(W) := \mathrm{Hom}(B_{\mathbb{Q}_p}, W)$  for any B-quotient W (here Hom is the set of morphisms of B-quotients). In this paper, we denote this cohomology by  $\mathrm{H}^i_{\mathrm{Liu}}(G_K, W)$  for a B-quotient W. Then it is shown in [Ked07] that there exists the isomorphism  $H^1_{\mathrm{Liu}}(G_K, W) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{Ext}^1(B_{\mathbb{Q}_p}, W)$  for any B-pair. So, for any B-pair W, we have isomorphisms  $\mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{H}^1_{\mathrm{Liu}}(G_K, W)$  and  $\mathrm{H}^0(G_K, W) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{H}^0_{\mathrm{Liu}}(G_K, W)$ . For any  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ -representation V of  $G_K$ , it is shown in [Ked07] that there is a functorial isomorphism  $\mathrm{H}^i(G_K, V) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{H}^i_{\mathrm{Liu}}(G_K, W(V))$  for any  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ . In this paper, we review the results only for B-pairs.

Theorem 2.8. Let W be a B-pair. Then:

- (1) for i = 0, 1, 2,  $\mathrm{H}^i_{\mathrm{Liu}}(G_K, W)$  is finite dimensional over  $\mathbb{Q}_p$  and  $\mathrm{H}^i_{\mathrm{Liu}}(G_K, W) = 0$  for  $i \neq 0, 1, 2$ ;
- (2) we have  $\sum_{i=0}^{2} (-1)^{i} \operatorname{dim}_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} \operatorname{H}^{i}_{\operatorname{Liu}}(G_{K}, W) = -[K : \mathbb{Q}_{p}] \operatorname{rank}_{B_{e}}(W_{e});$
- (3) there is a natural perfect pairing

$$\mathrm{H}^i_{\mathrm{Liu}}(G_K,W) \times \mathrm{H}^{2-i}_{\mathrm{Liu}}(G_K,W^{\vee}(\chi)) \to \mathrm{H}^2_{\mathrm{Liu}}(G_K,W\otimes W^{\vee}(\chi)) \to \mathrm{H}^2_{\mathrm{Liu}}(G_K,W(\mathbb{Q}_p(\chi)) \overset{\sim}{\to} \mathbb{Q}_p.$$
  
Here  $\chi:G_K\to\mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$  is the p-adic cyclotomic character and the last isomorphism is that which appears in usual Tate duality.

*Proof.* See [Ked07, Theorem 8.1] and [Liu08, Theorems 4.3 and 4.7].

Remark 2.9. The above perfect pairing is defined by using  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules [Liu08, § 4.2]) and the equivalence between B-pairs and  $(\varphi, \Gamma_K)$ -modules [Ked07, p. 8]. On the other hand, for  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ -B-pair W, we can define a pairing

$$\mathrm{H}^1(G_K,W) \times \mathrm{H}^1(G_K,W^{\vee}(\chi)) \to \mathrm{H}^2(G_K,W\otimes W^{\vee}(\chi)) \to \mathrm{H}^2(G_K,W(\mathbb{Q}_p(\chi)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Q}_p,$$

in the usual way by using cocycles. If we identify  $H^1(G_K, W^{\vee}(\chi)) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^1_{Liu}(G_K, W^{\vee}(\chi))$  as above, then we can check that both pairings are the same by using the fact that  $H^i_{Liu}(G_K, W)$  is the universal  $\delta$  functor [Ked07, Theorem 8.1] and  $H^i(G_K, W)$  is a  $\delta$ -functor.

Let W be an E-B-pair. Then by Theorem 2.8(2) above and the remark before, we have  $\dim_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W) = \dim_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \mathrm{H}^1_{\mathrm{Liu}}(G_K, W)$ 

$$= [K : \mathbb{Q}_p][E : \mathbb{Q}_p] \operatorname{rank}(W) + \dim_{\mathbb{Q}_p} H^0_{\operatorname{Liu}}(G_K, W) + \dim_{\mathbb{Q}_p} H^2_{\operatorname{Liu}}(G_K, W)$$

$$= [K : \mathbb{Q}_p][E : \mathbb{Q}_p] \operatorname{rank}(W) + \dim_{\mathbb{Q}_p} H^0_{\operatorname{Liu}}(G_K, W) + \dim_{\mathbb{Q}_p} H^0_{\operatorname{Liu}}(G_K, W^{\vee}(\chi))$$

$$= [K : \mathbb{Q}_p][E : \mathbb{Q}_p] \operatorname{rank}(W) + \dim_{\mathbb{Q}_p} H^0(G_K, W) + \dim_{\mathbb{Q}_p} H^0(G_K, W^{\vee}(\chi)).$$

Dividing this equality by  $[E:\mathbb{Q}_p]$ , we obtain the following dimension formula.

Proposition 2.10. Let W be an E-B-pair. Then we have

$$\dim_E H^1(G_K, W) = [K : \mathbb{Q}_p] \operatorname{rank}(W) + \dim_E H^0(G_K, W) + \dim_E H^0(G_K, W^{\vee}(\chi)).$$

As in the case of p-adic representations, we have dualities between  $H_e^1$ ,  $H_f^1$  and  $H_g^1$ .

PROPOSITION 2.11. Let W be a B-pair. In the above perfect pairing in Theorem 2.8(3),  $H_e^1(G_K, W)$  and  $H_g^1(G_K, W^{\vee}(\chi))$  are the exact annihilators of each other. The same statement holds with e replaced by g and g by e and also when e and g are both replaced by f.

*Proof.* This proof is also essentially same as that in the case of p-adic representations (cf. [BK90, Proposition 3.8]).

# 2.3 Calculations of cohomologies of rank-one E-B-pairs

To classify rank-two split trianguline E-B-pairs, we need to calculate the dimension of  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(W(\delta_2),W(\delta_1))$  for any continuous characters  $\delta_1,\delta_2:K^\times\to E^\times$ . Twisting by  $W(\delta_2^{-1})$ , it is isomorphic to  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(B_E,W(\delta_1/\delta_2))\stackrel{\sim}{\to} \operatorname{H}^1(G_K,W(\delta_1/\delta_2))$ . We calculate this in the following way.

LEMMA 2.12. For any embedding  $\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E$ , we define a continuous character  $\sigma(x): K^{\times} \to E^{\times}: y \mapsto \sigma(y)$ . Then for any  $\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$   $(k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ for any } \sigma)$ , we have an isomorphism of E-B-pairs

$$W\left(\prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E}\sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}\right)\stackrel{\sim}{\to} (B_{e}\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}}E,\oplus_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E}t^{k_{\sigma}}B_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}\otimes_{K,\sigma}E).$$

*Proof.* First we prove that there is an isomorphism

$$W(id(x)) \xrightarrow{\sim} (B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E, tB_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{K,id} E \oplus \oplus_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E, \neq id} B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{K,\sigma} E),$$

here  $id: K \hookrightarrow E$  is the given embedding. We decompose  $id(x): K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  into  $id(x) := \delta_0 \delta_1$ , here  $\delta_0|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}} := id|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}}, \delta_0(\pi_K) := 1$  and  $\delta_1|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}}$  is trivial and  $\delta_1(\pi_K) := \pi_K$ . Then, by the definition of the reciprocity map  $\operatorname{rec}_K : K^{\times} \to G_K^{\operatorname{ab}}$  in the notation section, we have  $\delta_0 = \chi_{\operatorname{LT}}$ , i.e. the Lubin–Tate character associated with  $\pi_K$ . So we have  $W(\delta_0) = W(E(\chi_{\operatorname{LT}}))$ . Then  $D_{\operatorname{cris}}^K(W(\delta_0)) := K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} Ee$  is the filtered  $\varphi$ -module such that  $\varphi$  acts by  $\varphi^f(e) = \pi_K^{-1}e$  and the filtration on  $K \otimes_{K_0} D_{\operatorname{cris}}^K(W(\delta_0)) = K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} Ee \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\sigma:K \hookrightarrow_E} Ee_{\sigma}$  is defined by  $\operatorname{Fil}^{-1} = K \otimes_{K_0} D_{\operatorname{cris}}^K(W(\delta_0))$ ,  $\operatorname{Fil}^0 = \bigoplus_{\sigma \neq id} Ee_{\sigma}$  and  $\operatorname{Fil}^1 = 0$  by  $[\operatorname{Col02}, \operatorname{Proposition} 9.10$  and Lemma 9.18]. On the other hand,  $D_{\operatorname{cris}}^K(W(\delta_1)) := K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} Ee'$  is the filtered  $\varphi$ -module such that  $\varphi^f(e') = \pi_K e'$  and  $\operatorname{Fil}^0(K \otimes_{K_0} D_{\operatorname{cris}}^K(W(\delta_1))) = K \otimes_{K_0} D_{\operatorname{cris}}^K(W(\delta_1))$ ,  $\operatorname{Fil}^1 = 0$ . So we have  $D_{\operatorname{cris}}^K(id(x)) \xrightarrow{\sim} D_{\operatorname{cris}}^K(\delta_0) \otimes D_{\operatorname{cris}}^K(\delta_1) := K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} Ee''$  on which  $\varphi$  acts by  $\varphi^f(e'') = e''$  and the filtration on  $K \otimes_{K_0} D_{\operatorname{cris}}^K(\delta_1) := K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} Ee''$  is given by  $\operatorname{Fil}^{-1} = K \otimes_{K_0} D_{\operatorname{cris}}^K(id(x))$ ,  $\operatorname{Fil}^0 = \bigoplus_{\sigma \neq id} Ee''_{\sigma}$  and  $\operatorname{Fil}^1 = 0$ . Then, by the definition of  $D_{\operatorname{cris}}^K$  for E-E-pairs, it is easy to see that  $D_{\operatorname{cris}}^K((B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E, tB_{\operatorname{dR}}^+ \otimes_{K,id} E \oplus \bigoplus_{\sigma \neq id} B_{\operatorname{dR}}^+ \otimes_{K,\sigma} E)) \xrightarrow{\sim} D_{\operatorname{cris}}^K(id(x))$  as filtered  $\varphi$ -modules. So, in this case, we have proved the lemma. In the case where  $\prod_{\sigma:K \hookrightarrow_E} \sigma(x)^{k_\sigma} = \sigma(x)$  for some  $\sigma$ , we can prove the lemma in the same way. By tensoring these, we can prove the lemma for any  $\prod_{\sigma:K \hookrightarrow_E} \sigma(x)^{k_\sigma}$ .

Let  $N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x): K^{\times} \to \mathbb{Q}_p^{\times}$  be the norm map and let  $|-|: \mathbb{Q}_p^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  be the absolute value character such that  $|p|:=1/p, \ |u|:=1$  for any  $u \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ .

LEMMA 2.13. There is an isomorphism  $W(E(\chi)) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W(N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_n}(x)|N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_n}(x)|)$ .

*Proof.* When  $K = \mathbb{Q}_p$ ,  $\chi : G_{\mathbb{Q}_p} \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$  satisfies  $x|x| = \chi \circ \operatorname{rec}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}$  by local class field theory. So, in the general case,  $\chi : G_K \to \mathcal{O}_E^{\times}$  corresponds to  $N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x)|N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x)|$  by local class field theory.  $\square$ 

The next proposition is a generalization of [Col08a, Proposition 3.1].

PROPOSITION 2.14. Let  $\delta: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  be a continuous character. Then  $H^0(G_K, W(\delta)) \xrightarrow{\sim} E$  if and only if  $\delta = \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \leq 0$  for any  $\sigma$ . Otherwise  $H^0(G_K, W(\delta)) = 0$ .

Proof. If we assume that  $H^0(G_K, W(\delta)) \neq 0$ , then there is a non-zero morphism  $f: B_E \to W(\delta)$  of E-B-pairs because  $H^0(G_K, W(\delta)) = \operatorname{Hom}(B_E, W(\delta))$ . Then, by Lemma 1.12,  $\operatorname{Ker}(f)$  and  $\operatorname{Im}(f)$  are also E-B-pairs. Because  $B_E$  is a rank-one E-B-pair, one of  $\operatorname{Ker}(f)$  and  $\operatorname{Im}(f)$  must be zero. Because  $f \neq 0$  we have  $\operatorname{Im}(f) \neq 0$  so we have  $\operatorname{Ker}(f) = 0$ , i.e. f must be injective. So we have an injection  $f: B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E \hookrightarrow W(\delta)_e$  of free  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -modules of the same rank. By Lemma 1.10, the cokernel is also a free  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -module. So the cokernel must be zero, so  $f: B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E \hookrightarrow W(\delta)_e$  must be an isomorphism. Then  $W(\delta)_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  is a  $G_K$ -stable  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$ -lattice in  $B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  with E-action which contains  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E = \bigoplus_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{K, \sigma} E$ . So  $W(\delta)_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  must be of the form  $W(\delta)_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ = \bigoplus_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} t^{k_\sigma} B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{K, \sigma} E$  for some  $k_\sigma \leq 0$  for any  $\sigma$ . So  $W(\delta) = W(\prod_{\sigma: K \to E} \sigma(x)^{k_\sigma})$  by Lemma 2.12. In this case, it is clear that  $\operatorname{Hom}(B_E, W(\delta)) = E$ , so we have proved the proposition.

By this proposition and Liu's Euler-Poincaré formula, we can calculate the dimension of  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(W(\delta_2), W(\delta_1))$  as follows. This is a generalization of [Col08a, Theorem 3.9].

PROPOSITION 2.15. Let  $\delta_1, \delta_2 : K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  be continuous characters. Then  $\dim_E \operatorname{Ext}^1(W(\delta_2), W(\delta_1))$  is equal to:

- (1)  $[K:\mathbb{Q}_p]+1$  when  $\delta_1/\delta_2=\prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E}\sigma(x)^{k_\sigma}$  such that  $k_\sigma\leq 0$  for any  $\sigma$ ;
- (2)  $[K:\mathbb{Q}_p]+1$  when  $\delta_1/\delta_2=|N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x)|\prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E}\sigma(x)^{k_\sigma}$  such that  $k_\sigma\geq 1$  for any  $\sigma$ ;
- (3)  $[K:\mathbb{Q}_p]$  otherwise.

*Proof.* By Lemma 2.13 and Proposition 2.14, we have:

- $H^0(G_K, W(\delta)) = E$  if and only if  $\delta = \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_\sigma}$  such that  $k_\sigma \leq 0$  for any  $\sigma$ ,

So we have the desired result by Corollary 2.10.

To classify two-dimensional split trianguline E-representations, we need to know which extension class in  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(W(\delta_2),W(\delta_1))$  is of the form [W(V)] for some two-dimensional E-representation V. For this problem, the next exact sequence is very important, which is the B-pair analogue of the map  $i_k$  defined in  $[\operatorname{Colo8a}, \S 3.7]$ . Let  $\delta: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  be a continuous character and let  $\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E}$  be  $k_{\sigma}\in\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  for any  $\sigma$ . We consider the natural inclusion of E-B-pairs  $W(\delta)\hookrightarrow W(\delta)\otimes W(\prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E}\sigma(x)^{-k_{\sigma}})=W(\delta\prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E}\sigma(x)^{-k_{\sigma}})$  which is obtained by tensoring with  $W(\delta)$  the natural inclusion  $B_E\hookrightarrow W(\prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E}\sigma(x)^{-k_{\sigma}})$ . Then, by Lemma 2.12, we have

$$W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+\bigg(\delta\prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E}\sigma(x)^{-k_\sigma}\bigg)=W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta)\otimes_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p}E}\big(\oplus_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E}t^{-k_\sigma}B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+\otimes_{K,\sigma}E\big).$$

As for the  $B_e$  part, we can prove in the same way as the proof of Proposition 2.14 that  $W_e(\delta) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W_e(\delta \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{-k_{\sigma}})$ . So we have the following short exact sequence of complexes of  $G_K$ -modules

$$0 \to C^{\bullet}(W(\delta)) \to C^{\bullet}\left(W\left(\delta \prod_{\mathbf{r}, K \in F} \sigma(x)^{-k_{\sigma}}\right)\right) \to \bigoplus_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} t^{-k_{\sigma}} W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}(\delta)_{\sigma} / W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}(\delta)_{\sigma}[0] \to 0,$$

where  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta)_{\sigma} := W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta) \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E} (B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{K,\sigma} E)$  for any  $\sigma$  where the last tensor product is taken by the projection to the  $\sigma$ -component of  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{K,\sigma} E$ . From this short exact sequence, we obtain the following long exact sequence

$$\cdots \to \mathrm{H}^0\bigg(G_K, W\bigg(\delta \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{-k_\sigma}\bigg)\bigg) \to \bigoplus_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \mathrm{H}^0(G_K, t^{-k_\sigma}W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta)_\sigma/W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta)_\sigma)$$
$$\to \mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W(\delta)) \to \mathrm{H}^1\bigg(G_K, W\bigg(\delta \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{-k_\sigma}\bigg)\bigg) \to \cdots.$$

The next lemma is a generalization of [Col08a, Proposition 3.18].

LEMMA 2.16. Let  $\{w(\delta)_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  be the generalized Hodge-Tate weight of  $W(\delta)$  defined in 1.47. Then there is an isomorphism of E-vector spaces

$$\bigoplus_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E} H^0(G_K, t^{-k_{\sigma}}W_{dR}^+(\delta)_{\sigma}/W_{dR}^+(\delta)_{\sigma}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \bigoplus_{\sigma,w(\delta)_{\sigma}\in\{1,2,\cdots,k_{\sigma}\}} Ee_{\sigma}.$$

Here  $Ee_{\sigma}$  is a one-dimensional E-vector space with base  $e_{\sigma}$ .

Proof. It suffices to show that  $\mathrm{H}^0(G_K, t^{-k_\sigma}W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta)_\sigma/W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta)_\sigma) \overset{\sim}{\to} E$  if and only if  $w(\delta)_\sigma \in \{1, 2, \ldots, k_\sigma\}$  and  $\mathrm{H}^0(G_K, t^{-k_\sigma}W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta)_\sigma/W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta)_\sigma) = 0$  otherwise. However, by the definition of generalized Hodge–Tate weight, for any  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\sigma$ , we have  $\mathrm{H}^0(G_K, t^{-i}W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta)_\sigma/t^{-i+1}W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta)_\sigma) = 0$  otherwise. From this, the result follows.

By definition, for any continuous character  $\delta: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$ , we have the following short exact sequence

$$0 \to D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta))/(D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(W(\delta))^{\varphi=1} + \mathrm{Fil}^0 D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta))) \to \mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W(\delta))$$
  
$$\to \mathrm{Ker}(\mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W_e(\delta)) \oplus \mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta)) \to \mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W_{\mathrm{dR}}(\delta))) \to 0.$$

Lemma 2.17. Let  $\delta: K \to E^{\times}$  be a continuous character. Then the E-vector space  $D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta))/(D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(W(\delta))^{\varphi=1}+\mathrm{Fil}^0D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta)))$  is isomorphic to:

- (1)  $\bigoplus_{\sigma,w(\delta)_{\sigma}\in\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}} Ee_{\sigma}/\Delta(E)$  when  $\delta=\prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  for some  $\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  such that  $k_{\sigma}\in\mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ ;
- (2)  $\bigoplus_{\sigma,w(\delta)_{\sigma}\in\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}} Ee_{\sigma}$  otherwise.

Here  $\Delta: E \to \bigoplus_{\sigma.w(\delta)_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}} Ee_{\sigma}$  is the diagonal map.

Proof. By the definition of  $W(\delta)$ , it is easy to see that  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}(\delta) \overset{\sim}{\to} B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E(\delta_0)$  for some continuous character  $\delta_0: G_K \to \mathcal{O}_E^{\times}$ . If we decompose  $B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E(\delta_0) \overset{\sim}{\to} \oplus_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{K, \sigma} E(\delta_0)$ , we have  $(B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{K, \sigma} E(\delta_0))^{G_K} = 0$  if and only if  $w(\delta)_{\sigma} \notin \mathbb{Z}$ . If  $w(\delta)_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$ , then we have  $(t^{-w(\delta)_{\sigma}} B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{K, \sigma} E(\delta_0))^{G_K} \overset{\sim}{\to} E$  and  $(t^{-w(\delta)_{\sigma}+1} B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{K, \sigma} E(\delta_0))^{G_K} = 0$ . As for  $W_e(\delta)$ , we have  $D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(W(\delta))^{\varphi=1} = W_e(\delta)^{G_K} \neq 0$  if and only if  $W_e(\delta) \overset{\sim}{\to} B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ . Then  $W(\delta) \overset{\sim}{\to} (B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E, \oplus_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} t^{k_{\sigma}} B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{K, \sigma} E)$  for some  $\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ . Then, by Lemma 2.12, we have  $\delta = \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$ . In this case, we have  $D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(W(\delta))^{\varphi=1} \overset{\sim}{\to} E$ . Combining these computations, we obtain the lemma.

Next we compare the following two maps, one is the boundary map

$$\partial: \oplus_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E} \mathrm{H}^0(G_K, t^{-k_{\sigma}}W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta)_{\sigma}/W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta)_{\sigma}) \to \mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W(\delta))$$

of the exact sequence before Lemma 2.16 and the other is the natural map

$$\iota: D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta))/\mathrm{Fil}^0 D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta)) \to D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta))/(D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(W(\delta))^{\varphi=1} + \mathrm{Fil}^0 D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta))) \\ \to \mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W(\delta)).$$

From the proof of Lemma 2.17, we can see that the natural map  $f: D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta))/\mathrm{Fil}^0 D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta)) \xrightarrow{\sim} (W_{\mathrm{dR}}(\delta)/W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta))^{G_K}$  is an isomorphism. On the other hand, we have a natural map

$$j: \bigoplus_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E} \mathrm{H}^{0}(G_{K}, t^{-k_{\sigma}}W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}(\delta)_{\sigma}/W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}(\delta)_{\sigma}) = \mathrm{H}^{0}\bigg(G_{K}, W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}\bigg(\delta \prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{-k_{\sigma}}\bigg)/W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}(\delta)\bigg)$$
$$\hookrightarrow (W_{\mathrm{dR}}(\delta)/W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}(\delta))^{G_{K}}.$$

LEMMA 2.18. With the above notation, we have  $\iota \circ f^{-1} \circ j = (-1)\partial$ .

*Proof.* This follows easily from a diagram chase.

# 3. Classification of two-dimensional split trianguline E-representations

In this section, we classify two-dimensional split trianguline E-representations. As in [Col08a,  $\S 0.2$ ], we would like to explicitly determine the parameter spaces of two-dimensional split trianguline E-representations.

# 3.1 Parameter spaces of two-dimensional split trianguline E-representations

Let W be a rank-two split trianguline E-B-pair such that  $[W] \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(W(\delta_2), W(\delta_1))$  for some continuous characters  $\delta_1, \delta_2 : K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$ . First we study a necessary condition on  $(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  in order for W to be étale, i.e. of the form W = W(V) for some E-representation V.

LEMMA 3.1. If  $[W] \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(W(\delta_2), W(\delta_1))$  is étale, then the pair  $(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  satisfies  $\operatorname{val}_p(\delta_1(\pi_K)) + \operatorname{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K)) = 0$  and  $\operatorname{val}_p(\delta_1(\pi_K)) \geq 0$ . Here  $\operatorname{val}_p$  is the valuation of E such that  $\operatorname{val}_p(p) = 1$ .

*Proof.* Let W be of the form W = W(V) for some E-representation V. By definition, W(V) sits in the following short exact sequence of E-B-pairs

$$0 \to W(\delta_1) \to W(V) \to W(\delta_2) \to 0.$$

Because W(V) is pure of slope zero,  $\det W(V) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W(\delta_1 \delta_2)$  is also pure of slope zero, so we have a condition  $(\operatorname{val}_p(\delta_1(\pi_K)) + \operatorname{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K)))/f = 0$  because the slope of  $W(\delta)$  is  $(\operatorname{val}_p(\delta(\pi_K)))/f$ . By the slope filtration theorem for E-B-pairs (Theorem 1.40),  $W(\delta_1)$  must be pure of slope  $\geq 0$ . This implies that  $(\operatorname{val}_p(\delta_1(\pi_K)))/f \geq 0$ . We have proved the lemma.

To describe the classification of two-dimensional split trianguline E-representations, let us introduce some notation. First let us put

$$S^{+} := \{ (\delta_{1}, \delta_{2}) \mid \delta_{1}, \delta_{2} : K^{\times} \to E^{\times} \text{ continuous characters such that } \operatorname{val}_{p}(\delta_{1}(\pi_{K})) + \operatorname{val}_{p}(\delta_{2}(\pi_{K})) = 0, \operatorname{val}_{p}(\delta_{1}(\pi_{K})) \geq 0 \}.$$

By Lemma 3.1, to classify two-dimensional split trianguline E-representations, it suffices only to consider split trianguline E-B-pairs W such that  $[W] \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(W(\delta_2), W(\delta_1))$  for some  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$ .

First we classify two-dimensional split trianguline *E*-representations *V* such that  $[W(V)] = 0 \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(W(\delta_2), W(\delta_1))$  for some  $(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ , i.e.  $W(V) = W(\delta_1) \oplus W(\delta_2)$ .

LEMMA 3.2. Let  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$ . Then  $W(\delta_1) \oplus W(\delta_2)$  is of the form W(V) for some two-dimensional E-representation if and only if both  $W(\delta_1)$  and  $W(\delta_2)$  are pure of slope zero, i.e.  $W(\delta_1) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W(V(E(\tilde{\delta}_1)))$  and  $W(\delta_2) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W(V(E(\tilde{\delta}_2)))$  for some continuous characters  $\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2 : G_K \to \mathcal{O}_E^\times$ . In this case,  $V \stackrel{\sim}{\to} E(\tilde{\delta}_1) \oplus E(\tilde{\delta}_2)$ .

*Proof.* The 'if' part is trivial. Let us assume that  $W(\delta_1) \oplus W(\delta_2) \stackrel{\sim}{\sim} W(V)$  for some two-dimensional *E*-representation *V*. So  $W(\delta_1) \oplus W(\delta_2)$  is pure of slope zero. If  $W(\delta_1)$  is not pure of slope zero, then this is pure of slope u > 0 by the assumption that  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$ . Then  $W(\delta_2)$  is pure of slope -u < 0 because  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$ . Then we have the exact sequence

$$0 \to W(\delta_2) \to W(\delta_1) \oplus W(\delta_2) \to W(\delta_1) \to 0.$$

Then the slope filtration theorem for E-B-pairs (Theorem 1.40) implies that  $W(\delta_1) \oplus W(\delta_2)$  is not pure of slope zero. This is a contradiction.

This lemma says that two dimensional split trianguline E-representation V such that  $[W(V)] = 0 \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(W(\delta_2), W(\delta_1))$  corresponds to two dimensional E-representations V such that  $V = E(\tilde{\delta}_1) \oplus E(\tilde{\delta}_2)$  for some continuous characters  $\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2 : G_K \to \mathcal{O}_E^{\times}$ . So, in this case, we finish the classification.

From now on, we only consider split trianguline E-B-pairs W such that  $[W] \neq 0 \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(W(\delta_2), W(\delta_1))$ . For any  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$ , let us put

$$S(\delta_1, \delta_2) := \mathbb{P}_E(H^1(G_K, W(\delta_1/\delta_2))).$$

Here, for any finite-dimensional E-vector space M, we denote

$$\mathbb{P}_E(M) := \{ [v] \mid v \in M - \{0\}, [v] = [v'] \iff v' = av \text{ for some } a \in E^{\times} \}.$$

Next, for any  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$ , we define a subset  $S'(\delta_1, \delta_2) \subseteq S(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  by

$$S'(\delta_1, \delta_2) := \mathbb{P}_E(D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))/(D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))^{\varphi=1} + \mathrm{Fil}^0 D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2)))),$$

here we see  $S'(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  as a subset of  $S(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  by the following natural inclusion

$$D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))/(D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))^{\varphi=1} + \mathrm{Fil}^0 D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))) \hookrightarrow \mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W(\delta_1/\delta_2)).$$

Then, by Lemma 2.17,  $S'(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  is non-canonically isomorphic to:

- (1)  $S'(\delta_1, \delta_2) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{P}_E(\bigoplus_{\sigma, w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma} \geq 1} Ee_{\sigma}/\Delta(E))$  when  $\delta_1/\delta_2 = \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  for some  $\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ ;
- (2)  $S'(\delta_1, \delta_2) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{P}_E(\bigoplus_{\sigma, w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}_{>1}} Ee_{\sigma})$  otherwise;

here, these isomorphisms depend on the choice of E-linear isomorphisms in Lemma 2.17.

Finally we define the subset  $S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  of  $S'(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  as follows. When  $\delta_1/\delta_2 \neq \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  for any  $\{k_{\sigma}\}$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ , we fix an isomorphism  $S'(\delta_1, \delta_2) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathbb{P}_E(\bigoplus_{\sigma, w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}} Ee_{\sigma})$  as above and identify these two spaces. Then let us put

$$S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2) := \left\{ [(a_{\sigma} e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}] \in \mathbb{P}_E(\bigoplus_{\sigma, w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}} E e_{\sigma}) \mid \left( \sum_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma} \right) + e_K \operatorname{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K)) \geq 0 \right\}.$$

When  $\delta_1/\delta_2 = \prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  for some  $\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  such that  $k_{\sigma}\in\mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ , we fix an isomorphism  $S'(\delta_1,\delta_2)\stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathbb{P}_E(\bigoplus_{\sigma,w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma}\geq 1} Ee_{\sigma}/\Delta(E))$  as above and identify these two spaces. Then let us put

$$\begin{split} S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1,\delta_2) := & \left\{ [\overline{(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}] \in \mathbb{P}_E(\oplus_{\sigma \cdot w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma} \geq 1} Ee_{\sigma}/\Delta(E)) \, \middle| \, \left( \sum_{\sigma,a_{\sigma} \neq 0} w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma} \right) \right. \\ & \left. + e_K \text{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K)) \geq 0 \right. \\ & \text{for any lifting } (a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma} \in \oplus_{\sigma,w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}} Ee_{\sigma} \text{ of } [\overline{(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}] \right\}. \end{split}$$

We put  $S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2) := S'(\delta_1, \delta_2) \setminus S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ . Then we can easily see that the subsets  $S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2), S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2) \subseteq S(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  do not depend on the choice of an isomorphism  $S'(\delta_1, \delta_2) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathbb{P}_E(\bigoplus_{\sigma, w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}} Ee_{\sigma}/\Delta(E))$  or  $S'(\delta_1, \delta_2) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathbb{P}_E(\bigoplus_{\sigma, w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}} Ee_{\sigma})$ .

Remark 3.3. When  $K = \mathbb{Q}_p$ :  $S(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  is one point or  $\mathbb{P}_E(E)$  and  $S'(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  is empty or one point;  $\mathbb{P}_E(E)$  and  $S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  is empty or one point; or  $\mathbb{P}_E(E)$ . If we compare this parameter space and Colmez's [Col08a, § 4.3], then we have  $\bigsqcup_{(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+} (S(\delta_1, \delta_2) \setminus S'(\delta_1, \delta_2)) = \mathcal{S}_+^{\text{rg}} \sqcup \mathcal{S}_+^{\text{st}}$ ,  $\bigsqcup_{(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+} S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2) = \mathcal{S}_+^{\text{rris}} \sqcup \mathcal{S}_+^{\text{ord}}$  and  $\bigsqcup_{(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+} S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2) = \mathcal{S}_-^{\text{rcl}}$ .

For any  $s \in S(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ , we denote by W(s) an extension of  $W(\delta_1)$  by  $W(\delta_2)$  defined by s. The isomorphism class of W(s) as a E-B-pair depends only on the class s. By definition, W(s) is a split trianguline E-B-pair which sits in the following non-split short exact sequence of E-B-pairs

$$0 \to W(\delta_1) \to W(s) \to W(\delta_2) \to 0.$$

We determine when W(s) is of the form W(V(s)) for some E-representation V(s). The following theorem is a generalization of [Col08a, Proposition 4.7] and is the most important step of the classification.

THEOREM 3.4. Let  $s \in S(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  for  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$ . Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) W(s) is pure of slope zero, i.e.  $W(s) \xrightarrow{\sim} W(V(s))$  for a two-dimensional split trianguline E-representation V(s);
- (2)  $s \notin S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ .

Proof. First we prove the theorem in the case  $\delta_1/\delta_2 \neq \prod_{\sigma:K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  for any  $\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ . Let us assume that W(s) is not pure of slope zero. Then, by the slope filtration theorem for E-B-pairs (Theorem 1.40), there exist rank-one E-B-pairs  $W(\delta_3)$ ,  $W(\delta_4)$  such that  $W(\delta_3)$  is pure of slope u < 0,  $W(\delta_4)$  is pure of slope -u > 0 and W(s) sits in the following short exact sequence

$$0 \to W(\delta_3) \to W(s) \to W(\delta_4) \to 0.$$

On the other hand, by definition, we have a following short exact sequence

$$0 \to W(\delta_1) \to W(s) \to W(\delta_2) \to 0. \tag{1}$$

We consider the restriction to  $W(\delta_3)$  of the projection  $W(s) \to W(\delta_2)$ , which we denote by  $f: W(\delta_3) \to W(\delta_2)$ . We claim that f is an inclusion. Because  $\operatorname{Ker}(f)$  and  $\operatorname{Im}(f)$  are E-B-pairs by Lemma 1.12 and because  $W(\delta_3)$  is rank one, we have exactly one of the following two cases,  $\operatorname{Ker}(f) \xrightarrow{\sim} W(\delta_3)$  or  $W(\delta_3) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Im}(f)$ . If  $\operatorname{Ker}(f) \xrightarrow{\sim} W(\delta_3)$ , then the inclusion  $W(\delta_3) \hookrightarrow W(s)$  factors through a non-zero map  $f': W(\delta_3) \to W(\delta_1)$ . However, because the slope of  $W(\delta_1)$  is strictly larger than the slope of  $W(\delta_3)$  by assumption, so we have  $\operatorname{Hom}(W(\delta_3), W(\delta_1)) = 0$  by Proposition 2.14 or by [Ked07, Lemma 6.2]. This is a contradiction. So we have  $W(\delta_3) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Im}(f)$ ,

i.e. f is an inclusion. Then, by Proposition 2.14, we have  $\delta_3 = \delta_2 \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  for some  $\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  for any  $\sigma$ . Then, because  $\det(W(s)) = W(\delta_1 \delta_2) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W(\delta_3 \delta_4)$ , we have  $\delta_4 = \delta_1 \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{-k_{\sigma}}$ . The injectivity of f means that the exact sequence (1) splits after pulling back by  $f: W(\delta_3) \hookrightarrow W(\delta_2)$ , i.e. we have

$$s \in \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{H}^{1}(G_{K}, W(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})) \to \operatorname{H}^{1}\left(G_{K}, W\left(\prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{-k_{\sigma}} \delta_{1}/\delta_{2}\right)\right)\right).$$

This kernel is isomorphic to

$$\operatorname{Im}(\partial: \operatorname{H}^{0}(G_{K}, \oplus_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} t^{-k_{\sigma}} W_{\operatorname{dR}}^{+}(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}/W_{\operatorname{dR}}^{+}(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{H}^{1}(G_{K}, W(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2}))).$$

So, by Lemma 2.18, we have  $s = [(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}] \in \mathbb{P}_{E}(\bigoplus_{\sigma,w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}\in\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}} Ee_{\sigma}) = S'(\delta_{1},\delta_{2})$  such that any  $\sigma$  with  $a_{\sigma} \neq 0$  satisfies  $w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma} \in \{1,2,\ldots,k_{\sigma}\}$ . Then,  $(\sum_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0} w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}) + e_{K} \operatorname{val}_{p}(\delta_{2}(\pi_{K})) \leq (\sum_{\sigma} k_{\sigma}) + e_{K} \operatorname{val}_{p}(\delta_{2}(\pi_{K})) = [K:\mathbb{Q}_{p}]$  (slope of  $W(\delta_{3})$ ) < 0) by assumption. So  $s \in S'^{\operatorname{non-\acute{e}t}}(\delta_{1},\delta_{2})$ .

Next we assume that  $s = [(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}] \in S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ . Then, by Lemma 2.18, we can see that s is contained in the image of

$$\partial: \oplus_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} \mathrm{H}^{0}(G_{K}, t^{-w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}} W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma} / W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}) \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(G_{K}, W(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})).$$

So we have

$$s \in \operatorname{Ker}(\operatorname{H}^{1}(G_{K}, W(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})) \to \operatorname{H}^{1}\left(G_{K}, W\left(\prod_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} \sigma(x)^{-w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}} \delta_{1}/\delta_{2}\right)\right).$$

So there is an injection  $g: W(\prod_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} \sigma(x)^{w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma}} \delta_2) \hookrightarrow W(s)$  such that f'g is the natural inclusion  $W(\prod_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} \sigma(x)^{w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma}} \delta_2) \hookrightarrow W(\delta_2)$  (here  $f': W(s) \to W(\delta_2)$  is the projection). If we take the saturation  $W(\delta_3)$  of this inclusion g (Lemma 1.14) and write the cokernel by  $W(\delta_4)$ , we have the following short exact sequence

$$0 \to W(\delta_3) \to W(s) \to W(\delta_4) \to 0.$$

Then, by Proposition 2.14, we have

(the slope of 
$$W(\delta_3)$$
)  $\leq \left(\text{the slope of } W\left(\prod_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} \sigma(x)^{w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma}} \delta_2\right)\right)$   

$$= \frac{1}{[K:\mathbb{Q}_p]} \left(\sum_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma}\right) + \frac{\operatorname{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K))}{f} < 0$$

because  $s \in S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ . So W(s) is not pure of slope zero by the slope filtration theorem. So we have finished the proof when  $\delta_1/\delta_2 \neq \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  for any  $\{k_{\sigma}\}$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ .

Next we prove the theorem in the case  $\delta_1/\delta_2 = \prod_{\sigma:K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  for some  $\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ . First let us assume that W(s) is not pure of slope zero. Then, as in the first case, there are rank-one E-B-pairs  $W(\delta_3)$ ,  $W(\delta_4)$  such that the slope of  $W(\delta_3) := u < 0$  and W(s) sits in the following short exact sequence

$$0 \to W(\delta_3) \to W(s) \to W(\delta_4) \to 0.$$

Then we can prove as in the first case that the induced map  $W(\delta_3) \hookrightarrow W(\delta_2)$  is injective and  $\delta_3 = \delta_2 \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  for some  $\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  for any  $\sigma$ . So we have

$$s \in \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{H}^{1}(G_{K}, W(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})) \to \operatorname{H}^{1}\left(G_{K}, W\left(\prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{-k_{\sigma}} \delta_{1}/\delta_{2}\right)\right)\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{Im}(\partial: \operatorname{H}^{0}(G_{K}, \bigoplus_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} t^{-k_{\sigma}} W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}/W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}) \to \operatorname{H}^{1}(G_{K}, W(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2}))).$$

By Lemma 2.18, we can see that s corresponds to  $s = [\overline{(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}] \in \mathbb{P}_{E}(\bigoplus_{\sigma,w}(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1} Ee_{\sigma}/\Delta(E))$   $\stackrel{\sim}{\to} S'(\delta_{1}, \delta_{2})$  such that there is a lifting  $[(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}]$  of  $[\overline{(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}]$  such that  $a_{\sigma} = 0$  for any  $\sigma$  satisfying  $w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma} \notin \{1, 2, \ldots, k_{\sigma}\}$ . So  $(\sum_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}) + e_{K} \text{val}_{p}(\delta_{2}(\pi_{K})) \leq (\sum_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} k_{\sigma}) + e_{K} \text{val}_{p}(\delta_{2}(\pi_{K})) = [K:\mathbb{Q}_{p}]u < 0$ . So s is contained in  $S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_{1}, \delta_{2})$ .

Next let us assume that  $s \in S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ . Then, by definition,  $\underline{s} = [\overline{(a_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma}] \in \mathbb{P}_E(\bigoplus_{\sigma, w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}} Ee_\sigma/\Delta(E)) \xrightarrow{\sim} S'(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  such that some lift  $[(a_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma]$  of  $[\overline{(a_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma}]$  satisfies  $(\sum_{\sigma, a_\sigma \neq 0} w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma) + e_K \text{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K)) < 0$ . Then, by Lemma 2.18, we have

$$s \in \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{H}^{1}(G_{K}, W(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})) \to \operatorname{H}^{1}\left(G_{K}, W\left(\prod_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} \sigma(x)^{-w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}} \delta_{1}/\delta_{2}\right)\right)\right).$$

In particular, as in the proof of the first case, we can see that the natural inclusion  $W(\prod_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{w(\delta_1/\delta_2)\sigma}\delta_2)\hookrightarrow W(\delta_2)$  factors through an inclusion  $g:W(\prod_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{w(\delta_1/\delta_2)\sigma}\delta_2)\hookrightarrow W(s)$ . If we take the saturation  $W(\delta_3)$  of g and write the cokenel by  $W(\delta_4)$ , then we have (the slope of  $W(\delta_3)$ )  $\leq$  (the slope of  $W(\prod_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{w(\delta_1/\delta_2)\sigma}\delta_2))=1/[K:\mathbb{Q}_p]((\sum_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0}w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma})+e_K\mathrm{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K)))<0$ , where the first inequality follows from Proposition 2.14. So W(s) is not pure of slope zero by the slope filtration theorem. Thus, we have finished the proof of this theorem in all of the cases.

By this theorem, we can determine all of the two-dimensional split trianguline E-representations. For any  $s \in S(\delta_1, \delta_2) \setminus S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ , we write V(s) as the two-dimensional split trianguline E-representation such that W(V(s)) = W(s).

# 3.2 Irreducibility of V(s)

Next we determine when V(s) is irreducible as a E-representation of  $G_K$ . For this, we put

- $S_0^+ := \{ (\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+ \mid \operatorname{val}_p(\delta_1(\pi_K)) = \operatorname{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K)) = 0 \};$
- $S_*^+ := S^+ \setminus S_0^+$ .

For any  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S_*^+$ , we put:

- (1)  $S'^{\text{ord}}(\delta_1, \delta_2) := \{ [\overline{(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}] \in S'^{\text{et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2) \mid (\sum_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma}) + e_K \text{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K)) = 0 \text{ for some lifting } [(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}] \text{ of } [\overline{(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}] \} \text{ when } \delta_1/\delta_2 = \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}} \text{ for some } \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma} \text{ such that } k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ for any } \sigma;$
- (2)  $S'^{\text{ord}}(\delta_1, \delta_2) := \{ [a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma}] \in S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2) \mid (\sum_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma}) + e_K \text{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K)) = 0 \}$  otherwise.

We can easily see that the subset  $S'^{\mathrm{ord}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  does not depend on the choice of an isomorphism  $S'(\delta_1, \delta_2) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{P}_E(\bigoplus_{\sigma, w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma} \geq 1} Ee_{\sigma}/\Delta(E))$  or  $S'(\delta_1, \delta_2) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{P}_E(\bigoplus_{\sigma, w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}_{>1}} Ee_{\sigma})$ .

Remark 3.5. When  $K = \mathbb{Q}_p$ ,  $\mathcal{S}_+^{\text{ord}}$  in [Col08a, § 4.3] is equal to  $\bigsqcup_{(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S_*^+} S'^{\text{ord}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  and  $\mathcal{S}_0$  in [Col08a, § 4.3] is equal to  $\bigsqcup_{(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S_+^+} S(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ .

The following proposition is a generalization of [Col08a, Propositions 5.7 and 5.8].

PROPOSITION 3.6. Let  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$  and  $s \in S(\delta_1, \delta_2) \setminus S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ . Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) V(s) is irreducible;
- (2)  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \notin S_0^+$  and  $s \notin S'^{\text{ord}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ .

*Proof.* First let us assume that V(s) is reducible and  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \notin S_0^+$ . Because V(s) is reducible, there exist two continuous characters  $\delta_3, \delta_4 : G_K \to \mathcal{O}_E^{\times}$  such that W(V(s)) sits in the following short exact sequence

$$0 \to W(E(\delta_3)) \to W(V(s)) \to W(E(\delta_4)) \to 0.$$

Then the fact that  $\operatorname{Hom}(W(E(\delta_3)),W(\delta_1))=0$  (this follows from the fact that (the slope of  $W(E(\delta_3)))=0<$  (the slope of  $W(\delta_1)$ ) and from Proposition 2.14) implies that the natural map  $W(E(\delta_3))\hookrightarrow W(\delta_2)$  is an inclusion. So we have  $\tilde{\delta}_3=\delta_2\prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E}\sigma(x)^{k_\sigma}$  for some  $\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma$  such that  $k_\sigma\in\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  (here  $\tilde{\delta}_3:=\delta_3\circ\operatorname{rec}_K:K^\times\to E^\times$ ). Then, as in the proof of the previous theorem, we can see that s corresponds to  $[(a_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma]\in S'^{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\delta_1,\delta_2)$  (or  $\overline{[(a_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma]}\in S'^{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\delta_1,\delta_2)$ ) such that  $(\sum_{\sigma,a_\sigma\neq 0}w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma)+e_K\operatorname{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K))\leq (\sum_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E}k_\sigma)+e_K\operatorname{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K))=[K:\mathbb{Q}_p]$  (slope of  $W(E(\delta_3)))=0$  (for some lifting  $[(a_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma]$  of  $[\overline{(a_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma}]$ ). On the other hand, we have  $0\leq (\sum_{\sigma,a_\sigma\neq 0}w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma)+e_K\operatorname{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K))$  because  $s\in S'^{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\delta_1,\delta_2)$ . So  $s\in S'^{\operatorname{ord}}(\delta_1,\delta_2)$ .

Next if  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S_0^+$ , then  $W(\delta_1)$  and  $W(\delta_2)$  are pure of slope zero, hence V(s) is reducible as a E-representation.

Next let us assume that  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \notin S_0^+$  and  $s \in S'^{\text{ord}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ . If we put  $s = [(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}]$  (or  $[\overline{(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}]$ ) such that  $(\sum_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma}) + e_K \text{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K)) = 0$  (for some lift  $[(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}]$  of  $[\overline{(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}]$ ) then, by the proof of Theorem 3.4, we have

$$s \in \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{H}^{1}(G_{K}, W(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})) \to \operatorname{H}^{1}\left(G_{K}, W\left(\prod_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} \sigma(x)^{-w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}} \delta_{1}/\delta_{2}\right)\right)\right).$$

Then the natural inclusion  $W(\prod_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}}\delta_{2})\hookrightarrow W(\delta_{2})$  factors through  $W(\prod_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}}\delta_{2})\hookrightarrow W(s)$ . We take the saturation  $W(\delta_{3})$  of this map and write the cokernel by  $W(\delta_{4})$ . Then we claim that the natural inclusion  $W(\prod_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}}\delta_{2})\hookrightarrow W(\delta_{3})$  is an isomorphism. If this is not an isomorphism, then by Proposition 2.14,  $W(\delta_{3})$  must be pure of negative slope because  $W(\prod_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}}\delta_{2})$  is pure of slope zero by assumption. Then W(s) is not pure of slope zero, which contradicts the assumption that  $s\in S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_{1},\delta_{2})$ . So  $W(\prod_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}}\delta_{2})\hookrightarrow W(\delta_{3})$  is an isomorphism. Then both  $W(\delta_{3})$  and  $W(\delta_{4})$  are pure of slope zero. So W(s) is reducible as a E-representation. Thus, we have finished the proof of this proposition.

# 3.3 The conditions for V(s) = V(s')

Next let us discuss when two split trianguline E-representations V(s), V(s') are isomorphic for different parameters s, s'. Unfortunately we cannot solve this problem in the case where  $\delta_1/\delta_2 = \prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  for some  $\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  such that  $k_{\sigma}\in\mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$  and  $s\in S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1,\delta_2)$ . We can solve this problem in all other cases. The following theorem is a generalization of [Col08a, Proposition 4.9].

THEOREM 3.7. We have the following results.

(1) Let V(s), V(s') be two-dimensional trianguline E-representations associated to  $s \in S(\delta_1, \delta_2) \setminus S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ ,  $s' \in S(\delta_3, \delta_4) \setminus S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_3, \delta_4)$  for some  $(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ ,  $(\delta_3, \delta_4) \in S^+$ .

Moreover, we assume that  $s \notin S'^{\acute{e}t}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ . Then  $V(s) \xrightarrow{\sim} V(s')$  if and only if  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) = (\delta_3, \delta_4)$  and  $s = s' \in S(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ .

- (2) Let  $s = [(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}] \in S'^{\acute{e}t}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  where  $\delta_1/\delta_2 \neq \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  for any  $\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ . Then there exists unique  $((\delta_3, \delta_4), s') \neq ((\delta_1, \delta_2), s)$  (here  $(\delta_3, \delta_4) \in S^+$  and  $s' \in S(\delta_3, \delta_4) \setminus S'^{\text{non-\'e}t}(\delta_3, \delta_4)$ ) such that  $V(s) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} V(s')$ . Such a  $((\delta_3, \delta_4), s')$  satisfies the following:
  - (i)  $\delta_3 = \delta_2 \prod_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} \sigma(x)^{w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma}}, \ \delta_4 = \delta_1 \prod_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} \sigma(x)^{-w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_{\sigma}};$
  - (ii)  $s' = [(b_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}] \in S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_3, \delta_4)$  satisfies that  $\{\sigma : K \hookrightarrow E \mid b_{\sigma} \neq 0\} = \{\sigma : K \hookrightarrow E \mid a_{\sigma} \neq 0\}.$

*Proof.* First, we prove part (1). If  $V(s) \xrightarrow{\sim} V(s')$ , then we have the following short exact sequence  $0 \to W(\delta_3) \to W(s) \to W(\delta_4) \to 0$ .

We consider the natural map  $f: W(\delta_3) \to W(\delta_2)$  as in the proof of Theorem 3.4. Then we have one of the following:  $\operatorname{Ker}(f) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W(\delta_3)$  or  $\operatorname{Im}(f) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W(\delta_3)$ .

If  $\operatorname{Ker}(f) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W(\delta_3)$ , then we have the following commutative diagram.

$$0 \longrightarrow W(\delta_3) \longrightarrow W(s) \longrightarrow W(\delta_4) \longrightarrow 0$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$0 \longrightarrow W(\delta_1) \longrightarrow W(s) \longrightarrow W(\delta_2) \longrightarrow 0$$

Then we claim that  $W(\delta_3) \to W(\delta_1)$  and  $W(\delta_4) \to W(\delta_2)$  are both isomorphisms. We can see that  $W_e(\delta_3) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W_e(\delta_1)$ ,  $W_e(\delta_4) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W_e(\delta_2)$  are isomorphisms in the same way as the proof of Proposition 2.14. For the  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  part, by the snake lemma of the above diagram, we have an isomorphism  $\mathrm{Ker}(W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta_4) \to W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta_2)) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathrm{Cok}(W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta_3) \to W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta_1))$  of  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$ -modules. However, because the former is a torsion-free  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$ -module and the latter is a torsion  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$ -module, so this must be zero. So  $W(\delta_3) \to W(\delta_1)$  and  $W(\delta_4) \to W(\delta_2)$  are both isomorphisms. Thus,  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) = (\delta_3, \delta_4)$  and  $s = s' \in S(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ .

If  $\operatorname{Im}(f) \xrightarrow{\sim} W(\delta_3)$ , then  $\delta_3 = \delta_2 \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  for some  $\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  for any  $\sigma$ . Then, by the proof of Theorem 3.4, we can see that  $s \in S'(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ . This is a contradiction. So we have finished the proof of part (1) of this theorem.

Next, we prove part (2). Let us assume that  $V(s) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} V(s')$  for some  $s'(\neq s) \in S(\delta_3, \delta_4)$ . Then, by the proof of part (1) above and the assumption  $s \neq s'$ , we can see that  $W(\delta_3) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \operatorname{Im}(f:W(\delta_3) \to W(\delta_2))$ . So we have  $\delta_3 = \prod_{\sigma:K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_\sigma} \delta_2$  for some  $\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma$  such that  $k_\sigma \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  for any  $\sigma$ . So we obtain  $s = [(a_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma] \in S'^{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  and  $w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma \in \{1, 2, \ldots, k_\sigma\}$  for any  $\sigma$  such that  $a_\sigma \neq 0$ . Then, by the proof of Theorem 3.4, we can see that the natural inclusion  $W(\prod_{\sigma,a_\sigma\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma}\delta_2) \hookrightarrow W(\delta_2)$  factors through an inclusion  $g:W(\prod_{\sigma,a_\sigma\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma}\delta_2) \hookrightarrow W(s)$ . Because we have  $\operatorname{Hom}(W(\prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E}\sigma(x)^{k_\sigma}\delta_2),W(\delta_1))=0$  by the assumption on  $(\delta_1,\delta_2)$  and by Proposition 2.14, we can see that  $g\circ\iota:W(\prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E}\sigma(x)^{k_\sigma}\delta_2) \hookrightarrow W(s)$  is equal to the given inclusion  $W(\prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E}\sigma(x)^{k_\sigma}\delta_2)=W(\delta_3) \hookrightarrow W(s)$  (here  $\iota:W(\prod_{\sigma:K\hookrightarrow E}\sigma(x)^{k_\sigma}\delta_2) \hookrightarrow W(f)$ ) is equal to the  $W(\prod_{\sigma,a_\sigma\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma}\delta_2)$  is the natural inclusion). Because  $W(\delta_3)$  is saturated in W(s) so  $W(\delta_3)\hookrightarrow W(\prod_{\sigma,a_\sigma\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma}\delta_2)$  must be isomorphic. So we have  $k_\sigma=w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma$  for  $\sigma$  such that  $a_\sigma\neq 0$  and  $k_\sigma=0$  for other  $\sigma$ . Then we have  $\delta_3=\prod_{\sigma,a_\sigma\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma}\delta_2$  and  $\delta_4=\prod_{\sigma,a_\sigma\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{-w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma}\delta_1$ . We have  $w(\delta_3/\delta_4)_\sigma=w(\delta_3)_\sigma-w(\delta_4)_\sigma=w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma+w(\delta_2)_\sigma-(-w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma+w(\delta_1)_\sigma)=w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma$  for any  $\sigma$  such that  $a_\sigma\neq 0$  and  $w(\delta_3/\delta_4)_\sigma=w(\delta_2)_\sigma-(-w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma+w(\delta_1)_\sigma)=w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma$  for any  $\sigma$  such that  $a_\sigma\neq 0$  and  $w(\delta_3/\delta_4)_\sigma=w(\delta_2)_\sigma-w(\delta_1/\delta_2)_\sigma$  for other  $\sigma$ . If we replace s by s and replace s' by s in the above

argument, we can see that  $s' = [(b_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}] \in S'^{\text{\'et}}(\prod_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0} \sigma(x)^{w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}} \delta_{2}, \prod_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0} \sigma(x)^{-w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}} \delta_{1})$  satisfies the condition that  $\{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E \mid b_{\sigma}\neq 0\} = \{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E \mid a_{\sigma}\neq 0\}$ . If  $s'' = [(b'_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}] \in S'^{\text{\'et}}(\prod_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0} \sigma(x)^{w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}} \delta_{2}, \prod_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0} \sigma(x)^{w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{$ 

 $\sigma(x)^{-w(\delta_1/\delta_2)\sigma}\delta_1$ ) is another element such that  $V(s) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} V(s'')$  and  $s \neq s''$ , then we can see that s' = s'' in the same way as in the proof of part (1) above. Thus, such an s' is unique.

Next let us take any  $s = [a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma}] \in S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ . Then, by Lemma 2.18, we have

$$s \in \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{H}^{1}(G_{K}, W(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})) \to \operatorname{H}^{1}\left(G_{K}, W\left(\prod_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} \sigma(x)^{-w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})_{\sigma}} \delta_{1}/\delta_{2}\right)\right)\right).$$

So the natural inclusion  $W(\prod_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})\sigma}\delta_{2})\hookrightarrow W(\delta_{2})$  factors through  $W(\prod_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})\sigma}\delta_{2})\hookrightarrow W(s)$ . Then we can see that  $W(\prod_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})\sigma}\delta_{2})\hookrightarrow W(s)$  is saturated (if not, then we have  $s=[a'_{\sigma}e_{\sigma}]\in S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_{1},\delta_{2})$  such that  $\{\sigma: K\hookrightarrow E\mid a'_{\sigma}\neq 0\}\subsetneq \{\sigma: K\hookrightarrow E\mid a_{\sigma}\neq 0\}$ , which cannot happen under the assumption on  $(\delta_{1},\delta_{2})$  in this theorem). If we write the cokernel of this as  $W(\delta_{4})$ , then we have  $\delta_{4}=\prod_{\sigma,a_{\sigma}\neq 0}\sigma(x)^{-w(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})\sigma}\delta_{1}$  and we have the following short exact sequence

$$0 \to W(\delta_3) \to W(s) \to W(\delta_4) \to 0.$$

This extension corresponds to some  $s' = [b_{\sigma}e_{\sigma}] \in S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_3, \delta_4)$ . So we have  $V(s) \xrightarrow{\sim} V(s')$ . We have finished the proof of this theorem.

Remark 3.8. When  $K = \mathbb{Q}_p$ , the exceptional cases where  $s \in S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  and  $\delta_1/\delta_2 = \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  do not appear because  $S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  is empty set in this case.

# 4. Classification of two-dimensional potentially semi-stable split trianguline E-representations

In this final section, we classify all of the two-dimensional potentially semi-stable split trianguline E-representations. We explicitly describe the E-filtered  $(\varphi, N, G_K)$ -modules associated with potentially semi-stable split trianguline E-representations.

# 4.1 de Rham split trianguline E-representations

Before classifying two-dimensional de Rham split trianguline E-representations, we determine all of the rank-one de Rham E-B-pairs.

LEMMA 4.1. Let  $W(\delta)$  be a rank-one E-B-pair. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1)  $W(\delta)$  is Hodge-Tate;
- (2)  $W(\delta)$  is de Rham;
- (3)  $\delta = \tilde{\delta} \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  such that  $\tilde{\delta}: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  is a locally constant character and  $k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ .

Proof. It is easy to see the implication  $(3) \Rightarrow (2) \Rightarrow (1)$ . We prove that (1) implies (3). So we assume that  $W(\delta)$  is Hodge–Tate with generalized Hodge–Tate weight  $\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ . We write  $W(\delta) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W(E(\delta_0)) \otimes W_0^{\otimes i}$  for some continuous character  $\delta_0 : G_K \to \mathcal{O}_E^{\times}$  and  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$  as in Theorem 1.45. Because  $W_0 := (W_{e,0}, W_{\mathrm{dR},0}^+)$  satisfies  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \stackrel{\sim}{\to} B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ , so we have  $W(\delta)_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \stackrel{\sim}{\to} B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E(\delta_0)$ . Then  $E(\delta_0 \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(\chi_{\mathrm{LT}})^{-k_{\sigma}})$  is Hodge–Tate with all Hodge–Tate weight zero. Then, by Sen's theorem [Ber02, Proposition 5.24],  $\delta_0 \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(\chi_{\mathrm{LT}})^{-k_{\sigma}}$ :

 $G_K \to \mathcal{O}_E^{\times}$  is a potentially unramified character. Because  $\sigma(\chi_{\mathrm{LT}}): G_K \to \mathcal{O}_E^{\times}$  corresponds to the character  $K^{\times} \to E^{\times}: \pi_K \mapsto 1, u \mapsto \sigma(u)$  for  $u \in \mathcal{O}_K^{\times}$ , we have  $\delta = \tilde{\delta} \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  for some locally constant character  $\tilde{\delta}: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$ . So we have finished the proof of the lemma.  $\square$ 

Next let V(s) be a potentially semi-stable split trianguline E-representation such that  $s \in S(\delta_1, \delta_2) \setminus S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  for some  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$ . Then we have the following short exact sequence

$$0 \to W(\delta_1) \to W(s) \to W(\delta_2) \to 0.$$

Then, as in the case of usual E-representations, we can see that  $W(\delta_1)$  and  $W(\delta_2)$  are also de Rham, in particular  $W(\delta_1/\delta_2)$  is de Rham. Next we compute  $H^1_e(G_K, W(\delta))$ ,  $H^1_f(G_K, W(\delta))$  and  $H^1_g(G_K, W(\delta))$  when  $W(\delta)$  is de Rham.

LEMMA 4.2. Let  $W(\delta)$  be a rank-one de Rham E-B-pair where  $\delta := \tilde{\delta} \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  such that  $\tilde{\delta} : K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  is a locally constant character. Then we have a canonical isomorphism

$$D^K_{\mathrm{dR}}(W(\delta))/(D^K_{\mathrm{cris}}(W(\delta))^{\varphi=1}+\mathrm{Fil}^0D^K_{\mathrm{dR}}(W(\delta)))\overset{\sim}{\to} \mathrm{H}^1_e(G_K,W(\delta))$$

and  $\dim_E H_e^1(G_K, W(\delta))$  is equal to:

- (1)  $\sharp \{ \sigma : K \hookrightarrow E \mid k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1} \}$  when  $\tilde{\delta}$  is not the trivial character;
- (2)  $\sharp \{ \sigma : K \hookrightarrow E \mid k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1} \} 1$  when  $\tilde{\delta}$  is the trivial character.

*Proof.* For general  $\delta$ , we have the following short exact sequence

$$0 \to D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta))/(D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(W(\delta))^{\varphi=1} + \mathrm{Fil}^0 D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta))) \to \mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W(\delta))$$
  
$$\to \mathrm{Ker}(\mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W_e(\delta)) \oplus \mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta)) \to \mathrm{H}^1(G_K, W_{\mathrm{dR}}(\delta))) \to 0.$$

When  $W(\delta)$  is de Rham, we proved in Lemma 2.6 that  $H^1(G_K, W_{dR}^+(\delta)) \to H^1(G_K, W_{dR}(\delta))$  is injective. So we have

$$\mathbf{H}_{e}^{1}(G_{K}, W(\delta)) = \operatorname{Ker}(\mathbf{H}^{1}(G_{K}, W(\delta)) \to \mathbf{H}^{1}(G_{K}, W_{e}(\delta))) 
\overset{\sim}{\to} \operatorname{Ker}(\mathbf{H}^{1}(G_{K}, W(\delta)) \to (\mathbf{H}^{1}(G_{K}, W_{e}(\delta)) \oplus \mathbf{H}^{1}(G_{K}, W_{dR}^{+}(\delta)))) 
= D_{dR}^{K}(W(\delta))/(D_{cris}^{K}(W(\delta))^{\varphi=1} + \operatorname{Fil}^{0}D_{dR}^{K}(W(\delta))).$$

We can compute the dimension of  $H_e^1(G_K, W(\delta))$  by using this isomorphism.

LEMMA 4.3. Let  $W(\delta)$  be a rank-one de Rham E-B-pair. Then we have:

- (1)  $\mathrm{H}_g^1(G_K, W(\delta)) = \mathrm{H}_f^1(G_K, W(\delta))$  and  $\mathrm{dim}_E \mathrm{H}_f^1(G_K, W(\delta)) = \mathrm{dim}_E \mathrm{H}_e^1(G_K, W(\delta)) + 1$  when  $\delta = \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_\sigma};$
- (2)  $\mathrm{H}_f^1(G_K, W(\delta)) = \mathrm{H}_e^1(G_K, W(\delta))$  and  $\mathrm{dim}_E \mathrm{H}_g^1(G_K, W(\delta)) = \mathrm{dim}_E \mathrm{H}_f^1(G_K, W(\delta)) + 1$  when  $\delta = |N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x)| \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} \sigma(x)^{k_\sigma};$

(3)  $\mathrm{H}^1_q(G_K, W(\delta)) = \mathrm{H}^1_f(G_K, W(\delta)) = \mathrm{H}^1_e(G_K, W(\delta))$  otherwise.

*Proof.* This follows from a calculation using Lemmas 2.7 and 2.11.

For the explicit description of potentially semi-stable split trianguline E-representations, we fix an extension whose class is contained in  $H^1_f(G_K, W(\delta)) \setminus H^1_e(G_K, W(\delta))$  when  $\delta = \prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  and fix an extension whose class is contained in  $H^1_g(G_K, W(\delta)) \setminus H^1_f(G_K, W(\delta))$  when  $\delta = |N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x)| \prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  as follows. First we treat the case where  $\delta = \prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$ . In this case, we have  $W(\delta) = (B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E, \oplus_{\sigma} t^{k_{\sigma}} B^+_{dR} \otimes_{K,\sigma} E)$  by Lemma 2.12. We fix an

element  $a_{\text{cris}} \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{Q}_p^{\text{un}}}^{\times}$  such that  $\text{Frob}_{\mathbb{Q}_p}(a_{\text{cris}}) = a_{\text{cris}} + 1$ . We define an extension  $W(s(\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma)) := (W_e(s(\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma)), W_{\text{dR}}^+(s(\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma)), \iota)$  whose class  $s(\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma) := [W(s(\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma))]$  is contained in  $H_f^1(G_K, W(\prod_\sigma \sigma(x)^{k_\sigma})) \setminus H_e^1(G_K, W(\prod_\sigma \sigma(x)^{k_\sigma}))$  as follows:

- (1)  $W_e(s(\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma)) := (B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_1 \oplus (B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_{\text{cris}}$  such that  $g(e_1) = e_1$ ,  $g(e_{\text{cris}}) = e_{\text{cris}} + f \deg(g)e_1$  for any  $g \in G_K$ , here  $f = [K_0 : \mathbb{Q}_p]$ ;
- (2)  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(s(\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma)) := (\bigoplus_{\sigma} t^{k_\sigma} B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{K,\sigma} E) e_1 \oplus (B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \bigoplus_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E) e_{\mathrm{dR}}$  such that  $g(e_1) = e_1$  and  $g(e_{\mathrm{dR}}) = e_{\mathrm{dR}}$  for any  $g \in G_K$ ;
- (3)  $\iota: B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e(s(\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma)) \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+} W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(s(\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma))$  is the isomorphism defined by  $\iota(e_1) = e_1$  and  $\iota(e_{\mathrm{cris}}) = e_{\mathrm{dR}} + a_{\mathrm{cris}} e_1$ .

We can easily see that  $s(\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) := [W(s(\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}))]$  is contained in  $H^1_f(G_K, W(\delta)) \setminus H^1_e(G_K, W(\delta))$ .

Next we treat the case where  $\delta = |N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x)| \prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$ . We define a continuous one cocycle  $c: G_K \to \mathbb{Q}_p(\chi)$  by  $g(\log([\tilde{p}])) = \log([\tilde{p}]) + c(g)t$  for any  $g \in G_K$ . In this case, we define an extension  $W(s(\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})) := (W_e(s(\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})), W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(s(\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})), \iota)$  whose class  $s(\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) := [W(s(\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}))]$  is in  $\mathrm{H}^1_g(G_K, W(|N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x)| \prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}})) \setminus \mathrm{H}^1_f(G_K, W(|N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x)| \prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}))$  as follows:

- (1)  $W_e(s(\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma)) := (B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E(\chi))e_1 \oplus (B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_{\text{cris}}$  such that  $g(e_1) = \chi(g)e_1, g(e_{\text{cris}}) = e_{\text{cris}} + c(g)e_1$  for any  $g \in G_K$ ;
- (2)  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(s(\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})) := (\bigoplus_{\sigma} t^{k_{\sigma}-1} B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{K,\sigma} E(\chi)) e_1 \oplus (B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+ \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E) e_{\mathrm{dR}}$  such that  $g(e_1) = \chi(g) e_1, g(e_{\mathrm{dR}}) = e_{\mathrm{dR}}$  for any  $g \in G_K$ ;
- (3)  $\iota: B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e(s(\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma)) \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+} W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(s(\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma))$  is the isomorphism defined by  $\iota(e_1) = e_1, \iota(e_{\mathrm{cris}}) = e_{\mathrm{dR}} + (\log[(\tilde{p})]/t)e_1.$

We can easily see that  $s(\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) := [W(s(\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}))]$  is contained in  $H_q^1(G_K, W(\delta)) \setminus H_f^1(G_K, W(\delta))$ .

By using these classes, we can determine all of the potentially crystalline split trianguline E-representations and all of the potentially semi-stable split trianguline E-representations which are not potentially crystalline. For this, let us:

- put

$$S''(\delta_1, \delta_2) := \{ s \in S(\delta_1, \delta_2) \mid s \in \mathbb{P}_E(H^1_f(G_K, W(\delta_1/\delta_2)) \setminus S'(\delta_1, \delta_2) \}$$
 when  $\delta_1/\delta_2 = \prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$ ;

- put

$$S_{\mathrm{st}}(\delta_1, \delta_2) := \{ s \in S(\delta_1, \delta_2) \mid s \in \mathbb{P}_E(\mathrm{H}^1_g(G_K, W(\delta_1/\delta_2)) \setminus S'(\delta_1, \delta_2)) \}$$
 when  $\delta_1/\delta_2 = |N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x)| \prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$ .

Then, by Lemma 4.3 and the above constructions, we have:

- $S''(\delta_1, \delta_2) \xrightarrow{\sim} s(\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma) + D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2)/(D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))^{\varphi=1} + \mathrm{Fil}^0 D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2)));$
- $S_{\mathrm{st}}(\delta_1, \delta_2) \xrightarrow{\sim} s(\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma) + D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2)/(D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))^{\varphi=1} + \mathrm{Fil}^0 D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))).$

PROPOSITION 4.4. Let  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$  such that  $W(\delta_1)$  and  $W(\delta_2)$  are de Rham E-B-pairs. Let V(s) be a split trianguline E-representation associated with  $s \in S(\delta_1, \delta_2) \setminus S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ . Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) V(s) is potentially crystalline;
- (2)  $s \in S_{\text{cris}}^{\acute{e}t}(\delta_1, \delta_2) := S'^{\acute{e}t}(\delta_1, \delta_2) \sqcup S''(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  when  $\delta_1/\delta_2 = \prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$ ;  $s \in S_{\text{cris}}^{\acute{e}t}(\delta_1, \delta_2) := S'^{\acute{e}t}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  otherwise.

The following conditions are equivalent:

- (3) V(s) is potentially semi-stable and not potentially crystalline;
- (4)  $\delta_1/\delta_2 = |N_{K/\mathbb{O}_n}(x)| \prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}} \text{ and } s \in S_{\mathrm{st}}(\delta_1, \delta_2).$

Proof. This easily follows from Lemma 4.3. We prove in the case  $\delta_1/\delta_2 = |N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x)| \prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$ . (Other cases can be proved in the same way.) First we prove that part (1) is equivalent to part (2). If  $s \in S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  then V(s) is potentially crystalline by Remark 2.5. If V(s) is potentially crystalline, then V(s) is de Rham. So [W(V(s))] is contained in  $H_g^1(G_K, W(\delta_1/\delta_2))$ . If  $[W(V(s))] \notin H_f^1(G_K, W(\delta_1/\delta_2))$ , then, by the above remark, we can assume that  $[W(V(s))] = s(\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) + x$  for some  $x \in D_{dR}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2)/(D_{cris}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))^{\varphi=1} + \operatorname{Fil}^0 D_{dR}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2)))$ . From this and from the construction of  $s(\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$ , we can easily see that  $W(V(s))|_{G_L} \notin H_f^1(G_L, W(\delta_1/\delta_2)|_{G_L})$  for any finite extension L of K. (Here,  $W(\delta_1/\delta_2)|_{G_L}$  is the E-B-pair of  $G_L$  obtained by restriction.) This implies that V(s) is not potentially crystalline. This is a contradiction. So W(V(s)) is contained in  $H_f^1(G_K, W(\delta_1/\delta_2))$ , i.e.  $s \in S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ . We can prove the equivalence between (3) and (4) in the same way.

Remark 4.5. When  $K = \mathbb{Q}_p$ ,  $\mathcal{S}_+^{\text{cris}}$  in [Col08a, § 4.3] is equal to  $\sqcup_{(\delta_1,\delta_2)\in S^+} S_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1,\delta_2)$  and  $\mathcal{S}_+^{\text{st}}$  is equal to  $\sqcup_{(\delta_1,\delta_2)\in S^+} S_{\text{st}}(\delta_1,\delta_2)$ . Here, for  $(\delta_1,\delta_2)\in S^+$  such that  $\delta_1/\delta_2 \neq |N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x)| \prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$ , we put  $S_{\text{st}}(\delta_1,\delta_2) := \emptyset$ , the empty set.

# 4.2 Potentially crystalline split trianguline E-representations

In this section, we explicitly describe the filtered  $(\varphi, G_K)$ -modules of potentially crystalline split trianguline E-representations. First we define parameter spaces of potentially crystalline split trianguline E-representations. We put:

$$T_{\text{cris}} := \left\{ (\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma) \, \middle| \, \delta_1, \delta_2 : K^\times \to E^\times \text{ locally constant characters, } k_\sigma \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ for any } \sigma, \right.$$

$$\text{such that } \left( \left. \sum_\sigma k_\sigma \right) + e_K \text{val}_p(\delta_1(\pi_K)) = -e_K \text{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K)) \ge 0 \right\}.$$

For any locally constant character  $\delta: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  we define  $n(\delta) \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  as the minimal  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  such that  $\delta|_{1+\pi_K^n \mathcal{O}_K}$  is trivial. We write for any  $\sigma$ :

- $G(\delta)_{\sigma} := \sum_{\gamma \in \operatorname{Gal}(K_{n(\delta)}/K)} \gamma(\pi_{n(\delta)}) \otimes \delta(\gamma^{-1}) \in K_n \otimes_{K,\sigma} E \text{ when } n(\delta) \geq 1;$
- $-G(\delta)_{\sigma} := 1 \in K \otimes_{K,\sigma} E \text{ when } n(\delta) = 0.$

(Here  $\pi_n$  is an element in K such that  $[\pi_K](\pi_{n+1}) = \pi_n$  for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $[\pi_K](\pi_1) = 0$ , i.e. a system of  $\pi_K^n$  torsion points of Lubin–Tate group associated with  $\pi_K$ , and  $K_n := K(\pi_n)$  for  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$  and we identify  $\operatorname{Gal}(K_n/K) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathcal{O}_K^{\times}/1 + \pi_K^n \mathcal{O}_K$  via the Lubin–Tate character  $\chi_{\operatorname{LT}}$ .) For any  $(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma) \in T_{\operatorname{cris}}$ , we define the parameter space  $T_{\operatorname{cris}}^{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma)$  of weakly admissible filtrations as follows. First, when  $\delta_1 \neq \delta_2$ , we define:

- $T_{\operatorname{cris}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) := \mathbb{P}_E(\bigoplus_{\sigma, k_{\sigma} \geq 1} Ee_{\sigma});$
- $T_{\mathrm{cris}}^{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma) := \{ [(a_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma] \in T_{\mathrm{cris}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma) \mid (\sum_{\sigma, a_\sigma \neq 0} k_\sigma) + e_K \mathrm{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K)) \geq 0 \}.$

When  $\delta_1 = \delta_2$ , we define:

- $T'_{\mathrm{cris}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) := \mathbb{P}_E(\bigoplus_{\sigma, k_{\sigma} \ge 1} Ee_{\sigma}/\Delta(E));$
- $-T'_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) := \{ [(\overline{a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma}})_{\sigma}] \in T'_{\text{cris}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) \mid (\sum_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} \neq 0} k_{\sigma}) + e_K \text{val}_p(\delta_2(\pi_K)) \ge 0 \text{ for any lift } (a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma} \in \bigoplus_{\sigma, k_{\sigma} > 1} Ee_{\sigma} \text{ of } [(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}] \};$

TWO-DIMENSIONAL SPLIT TRIANGULINE REPRESENTATIONS OF p-ADIC FIELDS

- $T_{\operatorname{cris}}^{\text{w\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma) := \bigoplus_{\sigma, k_\sigma \ge 1} Ee_\sigma/\Delta(E);$
- $T_{\operatorname{cris}}^{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma) := T_{\operatorname{cris}}^{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma) \sqcup T_{\operatorname{cris}}^{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma).$

For any  $x \in T_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma)$  we want to define a rank-two *E*-filtered  $(\varphi, \text{Gal}(K_{n(\delta_1, \delta_2)}/K))$ module  $D_{(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma), x}$ . Here we put  $n(\delta_1, \delta_2) := \max\{n(\delta_1), n(\delta_2)\}$ . However, we cannot
canonically construct these. We must fix one more parameter for any  $(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma) \in T_{\text{cris}}$ . For
this, we consider the following short exact sequence

$$0 \to E^{\times} \xrightarrow{g_1} (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times} \xrightarrow{g_2} (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times} \xrightarrow{g_3} E^{\times} \to 0, \tag{2}$$

here  $g_1: E^{\times} \to (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times}$  is the canonical inclusion,  $g_2: (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times} \to (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times}: x \mapsto \varphi(x)/x$  and  $g_3: (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times} \to E^{\times}: x \mapsto \prod_{i=0}^{f-1} \varphi^i(x)$  where  $\varphi: K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E \to K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E: \sum_i x_i \otimes y_i \mapsto \sum_i \varphi(x_i) \otimes y_i$ . We can easily prove that this sequence is exact by using the assumption  $K_0 \subset E$ . Then we fix  $(\alpha, \beta) \in (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times} \times (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times}$  such that  $g_3(\alpha) = \delta_1(\pi_K)$ ,  $g_3(\beta) = \delta_2(\pi_K)$  when  $\delta_1 \neq \delta_2$ . We fix  $\alpha \in (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times}$  such that  $g_3(\alpha) = \delta_1(\pi_K)$  and put  $\beta = \alpha$  when  $\delta_1 = \delta_2$ . Then we define  $D_{(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}), x}$  as follows:

- (0)  $D_{(\delta_1,\delta_2,\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),x} := (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_1 \oplus (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_2;$
- (1)  $N(e_1) = 0$ ,  $N(e_2) = 0$ ;
- (2) when  $\delta_1 \neq \delta_2$  or when  $\delta_1 = \delta_2$  and  $x \in T'^{\text{\'et}}_{\text{cris}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma)$ , we put  $\varphi(e_1) = \alpha e_1, \varphi(e_2) = \beta e_2$  (then  $\varphi^f(e_1) = \delta_1(\pi_K)e_1$ ,  $\varphi^f(e_2) = \delta_2(\pi_K)e_2$ );
- (2') when  $\delta_1 = \delta_2$  and  $x \in T''^{\text{\'et}}_{\text{cris}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma)$ , we put  $\varphi(e_1) = \alpha e_1$ ,  $\varphi(e_2) = \alpha(e_2 + e_1)$ ;
- (3)  $g(e_1) = \delta_1(\chi_{LT}(g))e_1$ ,  $g(e_2) = \delta_2(\chi_{LT}(g))e_2$  for any  $g \in G_K$ ;
- (4) we put

$$K_{n(\delta_{1},\delta_{2})} \otimes_{K_{0}} D_{(\delta_{1},\delta_{2},\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),x} = (K_{n(\delta_{1},\delta_{2})} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} E)e_{1} \oplus (K_{n(\delta_{1}\delta_{2})} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} E)e_{2}$$

$$\stackrel{\sim}{\to} \oplus_{\sigma:K \hookrightarrow E} (K_{n(\delta_{1},\delta_{2})} \otimes_{K,\sigma} E)e_{1,\sigma} \oplus (K_{n(\delta_{1},\delta_{2})} \otimes_{K,\sigma} E)e_{2,\sigma}$$

$$=: \oplus_{\sigma} D_{\sigma},$$

then:

- (i) for  $\sigma$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \leq -1$ , we put  $\operatorname{Fil}^{0}D_{\sigma} = D_{\sigma}$ ,  $\operatorname{Fil}^{1}D_{\sigma} = \cdots = \operatorname{Fil}^{-k_{\sigma}}D_{\sigma} = K_{n(\delta_{1},\delta_{2})} \otimes_{K,\sigma} Ee_{1,\sigma}$ ,  $\operatorname{Fil}^{-k_{\sigma}+1}D_{\sigma} = 0$ ;
- (ii) for  $\sigma$  such that  $k_{\sigma} = 0$ , we put  $\mathrm{Fil}^{0}D_{\sigma} = D_{\sigma}$ ,  $\mathrm{Fil}^{1}D_{\sigma} = 0$ ;
- (iii) for  $\sigma$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \geq 1$ , we put  $\operatorname{Fil}^{-k_{\sigma}} D_{\sigma} = D_{\sigma}$ ,  $\operatorname{Fil}^{-k_{\sigma}+1} D_{\sigma} = \cdots = \operatorname{Fil}^{0} D_{\sigma} = K_{n(\delta_{1},\delta_{2})} \otimes_{K,\sigma} E(a_{\sigma}G(\delta_{2}/\delta_{1})_{\sigma}e_{1,\sigma} + e_{2,\sigma})$ ,  $\operatorname{Fil}^{1} D_{\sigma} = 0$ .

Here when  $\delta_1 \neq \delta_2$ , then  $(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma} \in \bigoplus_{\sigma,k_{\sigma} \geq 1} Ee_{\sigma}$  is a lift of  $x = [(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}] \in T_{\mathrm{cris}}^{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) = \mathbb{P}_E(\bigoplus_{\sigma,k_{\sigma}\geq 1} Ee_{\sigma})$  and when  $\delta_1 = \delta_2$ , then  $(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma} \in \bigoplus_{\sigma,k_{\sigma}\geq 1} Ee_{\sigma}$  is a lift of  $[(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}] \in T_{\mathrm{cris}}^{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) = \mathbb{P}_E(\bigoplus_{\sigma,k_{\sigma}\geq 1} Ee_{\sigma}/\Delta(E))$  or is a lift of  $(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma} \in T_{\mathrm{cris}}^{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) = \bigoplus_{\sigma,k_{\sigma}\geq 1} Ee_{\sigma}/\Delta(E)$ . Then we claim that the isomorphism class of  $D_{(\delta_1,\delta_2,\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),x}$  does not depend on the choice of a lift  $(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}$ . We prove this claim in the case where  $\delta_1 = \delta_2$  and  $x = \overline{(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}} \in T_{\mathrm{cris}}^{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$ . Let us take two lifts  $(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}$ ,  $(a'_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma} \in \bigoplus_{\sigma,k_{\sigma}\in\mathbb{Z}\geq 1} Ee_{\sigma}$  of  $x = \overline{(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}} \in T_{\mathrm{cris}}^{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$ . Then there exist  $a \in E$  and  $b \in E^{\times}$  such that  $a'_{\sigma} = ba_{\sigma} + a$  for any  $\sigma$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1}$ . We denote  $D_0 := (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_1 \oplus (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_2$  and  $D'_0 := (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e'_1 \oplus (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e'_2$  as the filtered  $(\varphi, G_K)$ -modules  $D_{(\delta_1,\delta_2,\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),x}$  defined by using the lifts  $(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}$  and  $(a'_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}$ , respectively. Then it is easy to see that the map  $D_0 \to D'_0 : e_1 \mapsto be'_1, e_2 \mapsto e'_2 + ae'_1$  is an isomorphism of filtered  $(\varphi, G_K)$ -modules. We can easily prove this claim in other cases.

Next we note the dependence of the choice of  $(\alpha, \beta)$  as above. We only treat the case  $\delta_1 \neq \delta_2$ . Let us take another  $(\alpha', \beta') \in (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times} \times (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times}$  such that  $g_3(\alpha') = \delta_1(\pi_K)$ ,  $g_3(\beta') = \delta_2(\pi_K)$ . Then, by the above exact sequence (2), there exist  $\alpha_0, \beta_0 \in (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times}$  such that  $\alpha = \alpha' g_2(\alpha_0)$ ,  $\beta = \beta' g_2(\beta_0)$ . For stressing the dependence of the choice of  $(\alpha, \beta)$ , we write  $T_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}, (\alpha, \beta)), D_{(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}, (\alpha, \beta)), x}$ , instead of  $T_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}), D_{(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}, \alpha, \alpha, \beta), x}$ . Then we can easily see that the map  $D_{(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}, (\alpha, \beta)), [(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}]} \to D_{(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}, (\alpha', \beta')), [(a_{\sigma}(\alpha_{0, \sigma}/\beta_{0, \sigma})e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}]} : e_1 \mapsto \alpha_0 e_1', e_2 \mapsto \beta_0 e_2'$  is an isomorphism of filtered  $(\varphi, G_K)$ -modules for any  $[(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}] \in T_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}, (\alpha, \beta))$ . (Here  $e_i'$  is the basis of  $D_{(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}, (\alpha', \beta')), [(a_{\sigma}(\alpha_{0, \sigma}/\beta_{0, \sigma})e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}]}$  defined in the same way as in the case  $(\alpha, \beta)$  and  $\alpha_{0,\sigma}, \beta_{0,\sigma} \in E^{\times}$  is the  $\sigma$ -components of  $\alpha_0, \beta_0 \in (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times} \hookrightarrow (K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times} \xrightarrow{\sim} \prod_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} E e_{\sigma}^{\times}$ .) The other cases are the same. So we have an isomorphism  $\iota: T_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}, (\alpha, \beta)) \xrightarrow{\sim} T_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}, (\alpha', \beta')), \iota(x)$  for any  $x \in T_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}, (\alpha, \beta))$ .

Henceforth, we fix a  $(\alpha, \beta)$  for any  $(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma) \in T_{\text{cris}}$ . In the proof of the next theorem, we prove that these are weakly admissible filtered  $(\varphi, G_K)$ -modules. So, by the 'weakly admissible imply admissible' theorem [Ber08a, Theorem B], for any  $x \in T_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma)$ , there exists a unique (up to isomorphism) two-dimensional potentially crystalline E-representation  $V_{(\delta_1,\delta_2,\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma),x}$  such that  $D_{\text{cris}}^{K_{n(\delta_1,\delta_2)}}(V_{(\delta_1,\delta_2,\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma),x}) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} D_{(\delta_1,\delta_2,\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma),x}$ . Then our main result of classification concerning potentially crystalline split trianguline E-representations is as follows.

THEOREM 4.6. Let V be a two-dimensional E-representation. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) V is split trianguline and potentially crystalline;
- (2) there exist  $(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) \in T_{\text{cris}}$  and  $x \in T_{\text{cris}}^{\acute{e}t}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$  and  $\{w_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  such that  $w_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ , such that  $V \stackrel{\sim}{\to} V_{(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}), x}(\prod_{\sigma} \sigma(\chi_{\text{LT}}^{w_{\sigma}}))$ .

Proof. First we prove that condition (1) implies condition (2). Let us assume that V is a split trianguline and potentially crystalline E-representation. Then, by Proposition 4.4, there exists a  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$  and an  $s \in S_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  such that  $V \stackrel{\sim}{\to} V(s)$ . Twisting V by a suitable  $\prod_{\sigma} \sigma(\chi_{\text{LT}}(x)^{l_{\sigma}})$ , we may assume that  $W(\delta_2)$  has generalized Hodge–Tate weight  $\{0\}_{\sigma}$ . If we write the generalized Hodge–Tate weight of  $W(\delta_1)$  as  $\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$ , then we have  $\delta_1 = \tilde{\delta}_1 \prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  and  $\delta_2 = \tilde{\delta}_2$  for some locally constant characters  $\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2$ :  $K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$ . Then the condition that  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) \in S^+$  is equivalent to the condition that  $(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) \in T_{\text{cris}}$ . Now we explicitly calculate  $D_{\text{cris}}^{K_n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)}(V)$ . First we compute this in the case where  $\tilde{\delta}_1 \neq \tilde{\delta}_2$  or  $\tilde{\delta}_1 = \tilde{\delta}_2$  and  $s \in S'_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ . Then, by the definition of  $S'_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathbb{P}_E(D_{\text{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))/(D_{\text{cris}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2)))^{\varphi=1} + \text{Fil}^0 D_{\text{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2)))$  and by the definition of the boundary map  $D_{\text{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))/(D_{\text{cris}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2)))^{\varphi=1} + \text{Fil}^0 D_{\text{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2)) \hookrightarrow H^1(G_K, W(\delta_1/\delta_2)), W(s)$  is given as follows:

- (1)  $W_e(s) := W_e(\delta_1) \oplus W_e(\delta_2)$  such that g(x, y) := (gx, gy) for any  $g \in G_K$ ,  $x \in W_e(\delta_1)$ ,  $y \in W_e(\delta_2)$ ;
- (2)  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}(s) := W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}(\delta_{1}) \oplus W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}(\delta_{2})$  such that g(x, y) := (gx, gy) for any  $g \in G_{K}, x \in W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}(\delta_{1}), y \in W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}(\delta_{2});$
- (3)  $\iota: B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e(s) \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+} W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(s)$  is given by  $\iota(x,y) := (x+a \otimes y,y)$  for any  $x \in B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e(\delta_1), y \in B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e(\delta_2);$  here,  $a \in D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(\delta_1/\delta_2)$  is a lifting of  $\bar{a} \in D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))/(D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))^{\varphi=1} + \mathrm{Fil}^0 D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))$  corresponding to s.

By the definition of  $W(\delta)$  for any  $\delta: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$ , we have  $D_{\operatorname{cris}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}}(W(\delta_{1})) \xrightarrow{\sim} (K_{0} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} E)e_{1}$ ,  $D_{\operatorname{cris}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}}(W(\delta_{2})) \xrightarrow{\sim} (K_{0} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} E)e_{2}$  such that:

$$- \varphi^f(e_1) = \tilde{\delta}_1(\pi_K)e_1, \, \varphi^f(e_2) = \tilde{\delta}_2(\pi_K)e_2;$$

$$-g(e_1) = \tilde{\delta}_1(\chi_{\mathrm{LT}}(g))e_1, g(e_2) = \tilde{\delta}_2(\chi_{\mathrm{LT}}(g))e_2 \text{ for any } g \in G_K.$$

Then we can take a basis  $e_1$ ,  $e_2$  such that  $\varphi(e_1) = \alpha e_1$ ,  $\varphi(e_2) = \beta e_2$ , here  $(\alpha, \beta)$  is the fixed pair as in Theorem 4.6 for  $(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma) \in T_{\text{cris}}$ . By part (1) in the above description of W(s), we have  $D_{\text{cris}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)}}(V) = D_{\text{cris}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)}}(W(\delta_1)) \oplus D_{\text{cris}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)}}(W(\delta_2))$  as a  $(\varphi, G_K)$ -module. We compute the filtration on  $D_{\text{dR}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)}}(W(s)) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)}(W(s)) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p E) e_1 \oplus (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes \mathbb{Q}_p E) e_2 \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \oplus_{\sigma: K \hookrightarrow E} (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{1, \sigma} \oplus (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{2, \sigma} =: \oplus_{\sigma} D_{\sigma} \text{ (here we put } D_{\sigma} := (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{1, \sigma} \oplus (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{2, \sigma} =: \oplus_{\sigma} D_{\sigma} \text{ (here we put } D_{\sigma} := (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{1, \sigma} \oplus (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{2, \sigma} =: \oplus_{\sigma} D_{\sigma} \text{ (here we put } D_{\sigma} := (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{1, \sigma} \oplus (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{2, \sigma} =: \oplus_{\sigma} D_{\sigma} \text{ (here we put } D_{\sigma} := (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{1, \sigma} \oplus (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{2, \sigma} =: \oplus_{\sigma} D_{\sigma} \text{ (here we put } D_{\sigma} := (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{1, \sigma} \oplus (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{2, \sigma} =: \oplus_{\sigma} D_{\sigma} \text{ (here we put } D_{\sigma} := (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{1, \sigma} \oplus (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{2, \sigma} =: \oplus_{\sigma} D_{\sigma} \text{ (here we put } D_{\sigma} := (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{1, \sigma} \oplus (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{2, \sigma} =: \oplus_{\sigma} D_{\sigma} \text{ (here we put } D_{\sigma} := (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{1, \sigma} \oplus (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{2, \sigma} =: \oplus_{\sigma} D_{\sigma} (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{1, \sigma} \oplus (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{1, \sigma} =: \oplus_{\sigma} D_{\sigma} (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{1, \sigma} =: \oplus_{\sigma} D_{\sigma} (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)} \otimes K_{\kappa, \sigma} E) e_{1, \sigma} =: \oplus_{\sigma} D_{\sigma} (K_{n(\tilde$ 

$$\operatorname{Fil}^{i} D_{\sigma} = \operatorname{Fil}^{i} D_{\operatorname{dR}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}}(W(\delta_{1}))_{\sigma} \oplus \operatorname{Fil}^{i} D_{\operatorname{dR}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}}(W(\delta_{2}))_{\sigma}.$$

(Here

$$D_{\mathrm{dR}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}}(W(\delta_{i})) \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\sigma} D_{\mathrm{dR}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}}(W(\delta_{i})) \otimes_{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_{p}} E} K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})} \otimes_{K,\sigma} E$$

$$=: \oplus_{\sigma} D_{\mathrm{dR}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}}(W(\delta_{1}))_{\sigma}$$

for  $i \in \{1, 2\}$ .) Because we have

$$- \operatorname{Fil}^{-k_{\sigma}} D_{\mathrm{dR}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}}(W(\delta_{1}))_{\sigma} = D_{\mathrm{dR}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}}(W(\delta_{1}))_{\sigma}, \operatorname{Fil}^{-k_{\sigma}+1} D_{\mathrm{dR}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}}(W(\delta_{1}))_{\sigma} = 0;$$

$$- \operatorname{Fil}^{0} D_{\mathrm{dR}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}}(W(\delta_{2}))_{\sigma} = D_{\mathrm{dR}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}}(W(\delta_{2}))_{\sigma}, \operatorname{Fil}^{1} D_{\mathrm{dR}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}}(W(\delta_{2}))_{\sigma} = 0;$$

we obtain the filtration on  $D_{\sigma}$  as in parts (i), (ii), (iii) of Theorem 4.6(4) for such  $\sigma$ . Finally, we calculate the filtration on  $D_{\sigma}$  for  $\sigma$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \geq 1$  and  $a_{\sigma} \neq 0$ . Then we have  $\operatorname{Fil}^{-k_{\sigma}}D_{\sigma} = D_{\sigma}$  and  $\operatorname{Fil}^{1}D_{\sigma} = 0$ . For any  $xe_{1,\sigma} + ye_{2,\sigma} \in D_{\sigma}$   $(x,y \in K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})} \otimes K,\sigma E)$ , we have  $xe_{1,\sigma} + ye_{2,\sigma} \in \operatorname{Fil}^{0}D_{\sigma}$  if and only if  $xe_{1,\sigma} + ya_{\sigma} \otimes e_{2,\sigma} \in \operatorname{Fil}^{0}D_{\operatorname{dR}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}}(W(\delta_{1}))_{\sigma} = 0$  and  $ye_{2,\sigma} \in \operatorname{Fil}^{0}D_{\operatorname{dR}}(W(\delta_{2}))_{\sigma} = D_{\operatorname{dR}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}}(W(\delta_{2}))_{\sigma}$ . Because  $a_{\sigma} \in D_{\operatorname{dR}}^{K}(W(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2}))_{\sigma} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} E$  is non-zero, it is a base of  $D_{\operatorname{dR}}^{K}(W(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2}))_{\sigma}$  as an E-vector space. So it is a base of  $D_{\operatorname{dR}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}}(W(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2}))_{\sigma}$  as a  $E_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})} \otimes E_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}(W(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2}))_{\sigma}$  as a  $E_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})} \otimes E_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}(W(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2}))_{\sigma}$ . So there exists unique  $E_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})} \otimes E_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1},\tilde{\delta}_{2})}(E_{n($ 

this, we know that  $D_{(\tilde{\delta}_1,\tilde{\delta}_2,\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),x}$  is weakly admissible for such x. So we can prove that part (1) implies part (2) in the case  $\tilde{\delta}_1 \neq \tilde{\delta}_2$  or  $\tilde{\delta}_1 = \tilde{\delta}_2$  and  $s \in S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1,\delta_2)$ .

Next we compute in the case where  $\tilde{\delta}_1 = \tilde{\delta}_2$  and  $s \in S''(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ . Then, by the construction of  $s(\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$  and by the definition of  $S''(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  before Proposition 4.4,  $W(s) := (W_e(s), W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(s), \iota)$  is given as follows:

- (1)  $W_e(s) := W_e(\delta_1) \oplus W_e(\delta_2)$  such that  $g(x,y) := (gx + f \deg(g)gy, gy)$  for any  $g \in G_K$ ,  $x \in W_e(\delta_1)$ ,  $y \in W_e(\delta_2)$  (here we use the fact that  $\delta_1/\delta_2 = \prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  implies that  $W_e(\delta_1) = W_e(\delta_2)$ ; see Proposition 2.14);
- (2)  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(s) := W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta_1) \oplus W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta_2)$  such that g(x,y) := (gx, gy) for any  $g \in G_K$ ,  $x \in W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta_1)$ ,  $y \in W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta_2)$ ;
- (3)  $\iota: B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e(s) \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+} W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(s)$  is given by  $\iota(x,y) := (x + (a_{\mathrm{cris}} + a)y, y)$  for any  $x \in B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e(\delta_1), \ y \in B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e(\delta_2);$  here,  $a \in D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2)) \xrightarrow{\sim} (B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{G_K} = K \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  is a lifting of  $\bar{a} \in D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))/(D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2)) + \mathrm{Fil}^0 D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2)))$  corresponding to  $s = s(\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma) + \bar{a}$ .

Then we have

$$D_{\mathrm{cris}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1})}}(W(\delta_{1})) = \left(B_{\mathrm{cris}} \otimes_{B_{e}} W_{e}(\delta_{1})\right)^{G_{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1})}}} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \left(B_{\mathrm{cris}} \otimes_{B_{e}} W_{e}(\delta_{2})\right)^{G_{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1})}}} = D_{\mathrm{cris}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_{1})}}(W(\delta_{2}))$$

because  $W_e(\delta_1) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W_e(\delta_2)$ . So we have following isomorphisms of  $(\varphi, G_K)$ -modules  $D_{\mathrm{cris}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1)}}(W(\delta_1)) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_1$ ,  $D_{\mathrm{cris}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_2)}}(W(\delta_2)) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_2$  such that:

- (1)  $\varphi(e_1) = \alpha e_1, \ \varphi(e'_2) = \alpha e'_2;$
- (2)  $g(e_1) = \tilde{\delta}_1(\chi_{LT}(g))e_1, \ g(e'_2) = \tilde{\delta}_1(\chi_{LT}(g))e'_2 \text{ for any } g \in G_K.$

(Here  $\alpha \in (K_0 \otimes E)^{\times}$  is fixed such that  $g_3(\alpha) = \tilde{\delta}_1(\pi_K)$  as defined before Theorem 4.6.) Then, by part (1) in the definition of W(s), we have  $D_{\mathrm{cris}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1)}}(W(s)) = (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_1 \oplus (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)(-e'_2 + a_{\mathrm{cris}}e_1)$ . So if we put  $e_2 := -e'_2 + a_{\mathrm{cris}}e_1$ , we have  $D_{\mathrm{cris}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1)}}(W(s)) = (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_1 \oplus (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_2$  such that:

- (1)  $\varphi(e_1) = \alpha e_1, \ \varphi(e_2) = \alpha(e_2 + e_1);$
- (2)  $g(e_1) = \tilde{\delta}_1(\chi_{LT}(g))e_1, g(e_2) = \tilde{\delta}_1(\chi_{LT}(g))e_2 \text{ for any } g \in G_K.$

We compute the filtration on  $K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1)}\otimes_{K_0}D_{\mathrm{cris}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1)}}(W(s))=(K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p}E)e_1\oplus (K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p}E)e_2$  as follows. We can take  $a:=(a_\sigma)\in D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(\delta_1/\delta_2)=\oplus_\sigma(D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K\otimes_{K\otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p}E}B_{\mathrm{dR}}\otimes_{K,\sigma}E)$  such that  $a_\sigma=0$  for any  $\sigma$  such that  $k_\sigma\in\mathbb{Z}_{\leq 0}$ . Then we can compute the filtration as in the previous case. Then we have  $D_{\mathrm{cris}}^{K_{n(\tilde{\delta}_1)}}(W(s))\stackrel{\sim}{\to}D_{(\tilde{\delta}_1,\tilde{\delta}_2,\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma),x}$  for some  $x=\overline{(b_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma}\in T''_{\mathrm{cris}}^{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\tilde{\delta}_2,\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma)\stackrel{\sim}{\to} \oplus_{\sigma,k_\sigma\geq 1}Ee_\sigma/\Delta(E)$  such that a lift  $(b_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma$  of  $\overline{(b_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma}$  satisfies  $\{\sigma\mid b_\sigma\neq 0\}=\{\sigma\mid a_\sigma\neq 0\}$ . So, for this  $x,D_{(\tilde{\delta}_1,\tilde{\delta}_2,\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma),x}$  is weakly admissible and we have  $V(s)\stackrel{\sim}{\to}V_{(\tilde{\delta}_1,\tilde{\delta}_2,\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma),x}$ . So we have proved that condition (1) implies condition (2) in all cases.

Next we prove that condition (2) implies condition (1). Let us take  $(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma) \in T_{\text{cris}}$ . We prove this in the case  $\delta_1 \neq \delta_2$ . (We can prove the other cases in the same way.) Let us take  $[(b_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma] \in T_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma) \subset \mathbb{P}_E(\bigoplus_{\sigma, k_\sigma \geq 1} E e_\sigma)$ . If we put  $\tilde{\delta}_1 = \delta_1 \prod_\sigma \sigma(x)^{k_\sigma}$ ,  $\tilde{\delta}_2 = \delta_2$ , we can see that  $(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2) \in S^+$ . From the argument of the proof of the claim that condition (1) implies condition (2), we can see that there exists an element  $s = [(a_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma] \in S'(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)$  such that  $D_{\text{cris}}^{K_{n(\delta_1, \delta_2)}}(W(s)) \xrightarrow{\sim} D_{(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma), [(b_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma]}$ . Moreover, from the previous argument, we can also

see that  $\{\sigma \mid a_{\sigma} \neq 0\} = \{\sigma \mid b_{\sigma} \neq 0\}$ . This implies that s is contained in  $S'^{\text{\'et}}(\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2)$ , i.e. W(s) = sW(V(s)) for some split trianguline *E*-representation. So we have that  $D_{(\delta_1,\delta_2,\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma),[(b_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma]}$  is weakly admissible and  $V(s) \xrightarrow{\sim} V_{(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_\sigma\}_\sigma), [(b_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma]}$ . We have finished the proof of the theorem.  $\square$ 

The following is the corollary of Theorem 3.7.

COROLLARY 4.7. We have the following results

- Let  $(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) \in T_{\text{cris}}$  such that  $\delta_1 \neq \delta_2$ . Let  $[(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}] \in T_{\text{cris}}^{\acute{e}t}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$ . Then there exists unique  $((\delta'_1, \delta'_2, \{k'_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}), x, \{w_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$  where  $(\delta'_1, \delta'_2, \{k'_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) \in T_{\text{cris}}, x \in T_{\text{cris}}$  $T_{\text{cris}}^{\acute{e}t}(\delta_1',\delta_2',\{k_\sigma'\}_\sigma),\ w_\sigma\in\mathbb{Z},\ \text{satisfying}\ V_{(\delta_1,\delta_2,\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma),[(a_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma]}\overset{\sim}{\to} V_{(\delta_1',\delta_2',\{k_\sigma'\}_\sigma),x}(\prod_\sigma\sigma(\chi_{\text{LT}})^{w_\sigma})$  and  $((\delta_1',\delta_2',\{k_\sigma'\}_\sigma),x,\{w_\sigma\}_\sigma)\neq((\delta_1,\delta_2,\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma),[(a_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma],\{0\}_\sigma).\ \text{Such unique}\ ((\delta_1',\delta_2',\{k_\sigma'\}_\sigma),x,\{w_\sigma\}_\sigma)$  $\{k'_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$ , x,  $\{w_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$ ) satisfies:
  - $(\mathrm{i})\ \delta_1'|_{\mathcal{O}_K^\times} = \delta_2|_{\mathcal{O}_K^\times}, \, \delta_2'|_{\mathcal{O}_K^\times} = \delta_1|_{\mathcal{O}_K^\times};$
  - (ii)  $\delta_1'(\pi_K) = \delta_2(\pi_K) \prod_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} = 0 \text{ or } k_{\sigma} \leq 0}^{\kappa} \sigma(\pi_K)^{k_{\sigma}}, \delta_2'(\pi_K) = \delta_1(\pi_K) \prod_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} = 0 \text{ or } k_{\sigma} \leq 0}^{\kappa} \sigma(\pi_K)^{k_{\sigma}};$ (iii)  $k_{\sigma}' = k_{\sigma} \text{ if } a_{\sigma} \neq 0, \ k_{\sigma}' = -k_{\sigma} \text{ for other } \sigma;$

  - (iv)  $w_{\sigma} = 0$  if  $a_{\sigma} \neq 0$ ,  $w_{\sigma} = k_{\sigma}$  for other  $\sigma$ ;
  - (v) unique suitable  $x = [(a'_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}] \in T^{\acute{e}t}_{cris}(\delta'_1, \delta'_2, \{k'_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$  such that  $\{\sigma \mid a'_{\sigma} \neq 0\} = \{\sigma \mid a_{\sigma} \neq 0\}.$
- (2) Let  $(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$ ,  $(\delta'_1, \delta'_2, \{k'_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) \in T_{\text{cris}}$  such that  $\delta_1 = \delta_2$ . Let  $x \in T''^{\text{\'et}}_{\text{cris}}(\delta_1, \delta_2, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$ ,  $y \in T^{\text{\'et}}_{\text{cris}}(\delta'_1, \delta'_2, \{k'_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$ ,  $\{w_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  such that  $w_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ . Then we have an isomorphism  $V_{(\delta_1,\delta_2,\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma),x} \xrightarrow{\sim} V_{(\delta_1',\delta_2',\{k_\sigma'\}_\sigma),y}(\prod_\sigma \sigma(\chi_{\rm LT})^{w_\sigma})$  if and only if  $((\delta_1',\delta_2',\{k_\sigma'\}_\sigma),y) = ((\delta_1,\delta_2,\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma),x)$  and  $w_\sigma = 0$  for any  $\sigma$ .

*Proof.* Part (1) is the corollary of Theorem 3.7(2). Because  $\delta_1 \neq \delta_2$ , then by the proof of the above theorem, we have  $V_{(\delta_1,\delta_2,\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma),[(a_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma]} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} V(s)$  where  $s = [(b_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma] \in S'^{\text{\'et}}_{\text{cris}}(\delta_1 \prod_\sigma \sigma(x)^{k_\sigma}, \delta_2)$  for some  $[(b_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}]$  such that  $\{\sigma \mid b_{\sigma} \neq 0\} = \{\sigma \mid a_{\sigma} \neq 0\}$ . Then, by Theorem 3.7, we have  $V(s) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} V(s')$ for unique  $s' \neq s$  such that

$$\begin{split} s' &= [(b'_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}] \in S'^{\text{\'et}}_{\text{cris}} \bigg( \prod_{\sigma,b_{\sigma} \neq 0} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}} \delta_{2}, \prod_{\sigma,b_{\sigma} \neq 0} \sigma(x)^{-k_{\sigma}} \prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}} \delta_{1} \bigg) \\ &= S'^{\text{\'et}}_{\text{cris}} \bigg( \prod_{\sigma,b_{\sigma} \neq 0} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}} \delta_{2}, \prod_{\sigma,k_{\sigma} \leq 0 \text{ or } b_{\sigma} = 0} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}} \delta_{1} \bigg) \end{split}$$

such that  $\{\sigma \mid b'_{\sigma} \neq 0\} = \{\sigma \mid b_{\sigma} \neq 0\}$ . By the proof of the above theorem, we can see that s' corresponds to  $V_{(\delta'_1,\delta'_2,\{k'_\sigma\}_\sigma),[(a'_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma]}(\prod_{\sigma,a_\sigma=0 \text{ or } k_\sigma\leq 0} \sigma(\chi_{\rm LT})^{k_\sigma})$  such that

$$\begin{aligned} \delta_1'|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}} &= \delta_2|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}}, \delta_2'|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}} = \delta_1|_{\mathcal{O}_K^{\times}}, \delta_1'(\pi_K) = \prod_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} = 0 \text{ or } k_{\sigma} \leq 0} \sigma(\pi_K)^{k_{\sigma}} \delta_2(\pi_K), \delta_2'(\pi_K) \\ &= \prod_{\sigma, a_{\sigma} = 0 \text{ or } k_{\sigma} \leq 0} \sigma(\pi_K)^{k_{\sigma}} \delta_1(\pi_K), k_{\sigma}' = k_{\sigma} \end{aligned}$$

if  $a_{\sigma} \neq 0$ ,  $k'_{\sigma} = -k_{\sigma}$  for other  $\sigma$  and  $\{\sigma \mid a'_{\sigma} \neq 0\} = \{\sigma \mid b'_{\sigma} \neq 0\}$ . So we have finished the proof of part (1).

Part (2) follows from the above theorem and Theorem 3.7(1).

4.3 Potentially semi-stable and non-crystalline split trianguline E-representations

In this section, we explicitly describe the E-filtered  $(\varphi, N, G_K)$ -modules of potentially semistable split trianguline E-representations which are not potentially crystalline. First we define

the parameter spaces of potentially semi-stable split trianguline E-representations. We put

$$T_{\mathrm{st}} := \{ (\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) \mid \delta : K^{\times} \to E^{\times} \text{ a locally constant character, } k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ for any } \sigma \text{ such that } (\sum_{\sigma} k_{\sigma}) + 2e_{K} \mathrm{val}_{p}(\delta(\pi_{K})) + [K : \mathbb{Q}_{p}] = 0 \}.$$

For any  $(\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) \in T_{st}$ , we define the parameter space  $T_{st}(\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$  of weakly admissible filtrations as follows. We define

$$T_{\rm st}(\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) := \bigoplus_{\sigma, k_{\sigma} > 1} Ee_{\sigma}.$$

For any  $(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma} \in T_{\mathrm{st}}(\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$  we define a rank-two *E*-filtered  $(\varphi, N, \mathrm{Gal}(K_{n(\delta)}/K))$ -module  $D_{(\delta,\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),(g_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}$ . However, as in the potentially crystalline case, the construction depend on the choice of one more parameter. For any  $(\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) \in T_{\mathrm{st}}$ , we fix  $\alpha \in (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times}$  such that  $g_3(\alpha) =$  $\delta(\pi_K)$ , where  $g_3$  is as before. Then we define  $D_{(\delta,\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma),(a_\sigma e_\sigma)_\sigma} := (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_1 \oplus (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_2$ as follows:

- (1)  $N(e_2) = e_1$ ,  $N(e_1) = 0$ :
- (2)  $\varphi(e_1) = (\alpha/p)e_1, \varphi(e_2) = \alpha e_2$  for the fixed  $\alpha \in (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times}$ , so we have  $\varphi^f(e_1) = (\alpha/p)e_1$  $(\delta(\pi_K)/q)e_1, \varphi^f(e_2) = \delta(\pi_K)e_2;$
- (3)  $g(e_1) = \delta(\chi_{LT}(g))e_1, g(e_2) = \delta(\chi_{LT}(g))e_2$  for any  $g \in G_K$ ;
- (4) we put  $K_{n(\delta)} \otimes_{K_0} D_{(\delta,\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}} = (K_{n(\delta)} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_1 \oplus (K_{n(\delta)} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_2 \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\sigma} (K_{n(\delta)} \otimes_{K,\sigma} E)e_{1,\sigma} \oplus (K_{n(\delta)} \otimes_{K,\sigma} E)e_{2,\sigma} =: \oplus_{\sigma} D_{\sigma}$ , then:
  - (i) for  $\sigma$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \leq -1$ , we put  $\mathrm{Fil}^{0}D_{\sigma} = D_{\sigma}$ ,  $\mathrm{Fil}^{1}D_{\sigma} = \cdots = \mathrm{Fil}^{-k_{\sigma}}D_{\sigma} = (K_{n(\delta)} \otimes_{K,\sigma} E)e_{2,\sigma}$ ,  $\mathrm{Fil}^{-k_{\sigma}+1}D_{\sigma} = 0$ ;

  - (ii) for  $\sigma$  such that  $k_{\sigma} = 0$ , we put  $\operatorname{Fil}^{0}D_{\sigma} = D_{\sigma}$ ,  $\operatorname{Fil}^{1}D_{\sigma} = 0$ ; (iii) for  $\sigma$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \geq 1$ , we put  $\operatorname{Fil}^{-k_{\sigma}}D_{\sigma} = D_{\sigma}$ ,  $\operatorname{Fil}^{-k_{\sigma}+1}D_{\sigma} = \cdots = \operatorname{Fil}^{0}D_{\sigma} = (K_{n(\delta)} \otimes_{K,\sigma} E)(a_{\sigma}e_{1,\sigma} + e_{2,\sigma})$ ,  $\operatorname{Fil}^{1}D_{\sigma} = 0$ .

We prove in the proof of the next theorem that these are weakly admissible. So, by 'weakly admissible implies admissible' theorem [Ber08a, Theorem B], there exists a unique (up to isomorphism) two-dimensional potentially semi-stable, not potentially crystalline E-representation  $V_{(\delta,\{k_{\sigma}\}),(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}$  such that  $D_{\mathrm{st}}^{K_{n(\delta)}}(V_{(\delta,\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} D_{(\delta,\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}$ . Then our main result on the classification of potentially semi-stable split trianguline E-representations is as follows.

THEOREM 4.8. Let V be a two-dimensional E-representation. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) V is split trianguline, potentially semi-stable and not potentially crystalline;
- (2) there exist  $(\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) \in T_{\mathrm{st}}, (a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma} \in T_{\mathrm{st}}(\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$  and  $\{w_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$  with  $w_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ , such that  $V \stackrel{\sim}{\to} V_{(\delta,\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}(\prod_{\sigma} \sigma(\chi_{\mathrm{LT}}^{w_{\sigma}})).$

Moreover, we have an isomorphism  $V_{(\delta,\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}} \xrightarrow{\sim} V_{(\delta',\{k'_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),(a'_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}} (\prod_{\sigma} \sigma(\chi_{\mathrm{LT}}^{w'_{\sigma}}))$  if and only if  $((\delta',\{k'_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),(a'_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}) = ((\delta,\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma})$  and  $w'_{\sigma} = 0$  for any  $\sigma$ .

*Proof.* First we prove that condition (1) implies condition (2). Let V be as in condition (1). Then, by Proposition 4.4, we have  $V \xrightarrow{\sim} V(s)$  for some  $s \in S_{\rm st}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  such that  $\delta_1/\delta_2 = |N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x)| \prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}}$  for some  $k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ . Twisting V by some suitable  $\prod_{\sigma} \sigma(\chi_{\mathrm{LT}})^{l_{\sigma}}$ , we may assume that  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) = (\prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}} | N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x) | \delta, \delta)$  for some locally constant character  $\delta: K^{\times} \to E^{\times}$  and for some  $k_{\sigma} \in \mathbb{Z}$  for any  $\sigma$ . By the definition of  $S_{\rm st}(\delta_1, \delta_2) \xrightarrow{\sim}$  $s(\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) + D_{\mathrm{dR}}^{K}(W(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2}))/\mathrm{Fil}^{0}D_{\mathrm{dR}}^{K}(W(\delta_{1}/\delta_{2})), s \text{ corresponds to } s(\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) + \overline{b} \text{ for some } \overline{b} \in \mathbb{R}$  $D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))/\mathrm{Fil}^0D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))$ . So W(s) is given as follows:

- (1)  $W_e(s) := W_e(\delta_1) \oplus W_e(\delta_2)$  such that g(x,y) = (gx + c(g)gy, gy) for any  $g \in G_K$ ,  $x \in W_{\text{cris}}^+(\delta_1)$ ,  $y \in W_{\text{cris}}^+(\delta_2)$  (here c(g) is defined in the definition of  $s(\{k_\sigma\}_\sigma)$  and we use the fact that  $W_e(\delta_1) \xrightarrow{\sim} W_e(\delta_2)(\chi)$  which we can see from Lemma 2.13);
- (2)  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(s) := W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta_1) \oplus W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta_2)$  such that g(x,y) = (gx,gy) for any  $g \in G_K$ ,  $x \in W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta_1)$ ,  $y \in W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\delta_2)$ ;
- (3)  $\iota: B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e(s) \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{\mathrm{dR}} \otimes_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+} W_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(s)$  is an isomorphism given by  $\iota(x,y) = (x + (\log([\tilde{p}])/t)y + b \otimes y, y)$ , here  $b = (b_{\sigma}) \in D_{\mathrm{dR}}^K(W(\delta_1/\delta_2))$  is the lift of  $\overline{b}$  such that  $b_{\sigma} = 0$  for any  $\sigma$  such that  $k_{\sigma} \leq 0$ .

We calculate  $D_{\operatorname{st}}^{K_{n(\delta)}}(V(s))$  as follows. First, if we take a base  $e' \in D_{\operatorname{cris}}^{K_{n(\delta)}}(W(\delta_2)) \subseteq B_{\operatorname{cris}} \otimes_{B_e} W_e(\delta_2)$ , then we have  $e'' := (1/t)e' \in D_{\operatorname{cris}}^{K_{n(\delta)}}(W(\delta_1))$  because  $W_e(\delta_1) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W_e(\delta_2)(\chi)$ . Then  $\varphi^f(e') = \delta(\pi_K)e'$ ,  $\varphi^f(e'') = (\delta(\pi_K)/q)e''$  and  $g(e') = \delta(\chi_{\operatorname{LT}}(g))e'$ ,  $g(e'') = \delta(\chi_{\operatorname{LT}}(g))e''$  for any  $g \in G_K$ . Moreover, we can take a base e' such that  $\varphi(e') = \alpha e'$  for the fixed  $\alpha$ . Then  $D_{\operatorname{st}}^{K_{n(\delta)}}(W(s)) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e'' \oplus (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)(e' - \log([\tilde{p}])e'')$ . If we put  $e_1 := e''$ ,  $e_2 := e' - \log([\tilde{p}])e''$ , then  $N(e_2) = e_1$ . Next we calculate the filtration on  $K_{n(\delta)} \otimes_{K_0} D_{\operatorname{st}}^{K_{n(\delta)}}(W(s)) = (K_{n(\delta)} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_1 \oplus (K_{n(\delta)} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)e_2$ . By the definition of  $\iota$  in part (3) of the definition of W(s), we have  $xe_1 + ye_2 \in \operatorname{Fil}^i$  for  $x, y \in K_{n(\delta)} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$  if and only if  $xe'' + y(\iota(e') - \log([\tilde{p}])e'') = xe'' + y(e' + b \otimes e'' + \log([\tilde{p}])e'' - \log([\tilde{p}])e'') = (xe'' + yb \otimes e'') + ye' \in \operatorname{Fil}^i D_{\operatorname{dR}}^{K_{n(\delta)}}(W(\delta_1)) \oplus \operatorname{Fil}^i D_{\operatorname{dR}}^{K_{n(\delta)}}(W(\delta_2))$ . So we can calculate the filtration similarly as in the proof of Theorem 4.6. Then we can show that  $D_{\operatorname{st}}^{K_{n(\delta)}}(V(s)) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} D_{(\delta,\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}$  for some  $(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma} \in T_{\operatorname{st}}(\delta,\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \oplus_{\sigma,k_{\sigma}\geq 1} Ee_{\sigma}$  such that  $\{\sigma \mid a_{\sigma} \neq 0\} = \{\sigma \mid b_{\sigma} \neq 0\}$ . So  $D_{(\delta,\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}$  is weakly admissible for such a  $(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}$  and we have  $V(s) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} V_{(\delta,\{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}),(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}$ . Thus, we have proved that condition (1) implies condition (2).

Next we prove that condition (2) implies condition (1). Let us take  $(\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}) \in T_{\text{st}}$  and  $(a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma} \in T_{\text{st}}(\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$ . Then we can see that  $(\delta_1, \delta_2) := (\prod_{\sigma} \sigma(x)^{k_{\sigma}} |N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_p}(x)| \delta, \delta) \in S^+$ . Moreover, it is easy to see from the above argument that there exist some  $s := (b_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma} \in S_{\text{st}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$  such that  $D_{(\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}), (a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} D_{\text{st}}^{K_{n(\delta)}}(V(s))$ . So  $D_{(\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}), (a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}$  is weakly admissible and  $V(s) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} V_{(\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}), (a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}$ .

Finally, we prove the uniqueness of  $((\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}), (a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}, \{w_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$ . This easily follows from the above argument and from Theorem 3.7. We have finished the proof of the theorem.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This paper was originally written as the author's doctoral thesis at University of Tokyo. The author would like to express his sincere gratitude to his thesis advisor Professor Atsushi Shiho for valuable discussions and his careful reading of the manuscript. This paper could never have existed without his constant encouragement. The author would also like to thank Laurent Berger for many useful suggestions and for his careful reading of the revised version, especially for the suggestion about the Bézout property of  $B_e \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ , which makes many arguments in the first version of this article easier.

# Appendix A. A relation between two-dimensional potentially semi-stable trianguline E-representations and classical local Langlands correspondence for $\mathrm{GL}_2(K)$ .

In this appendix, we show that a simple relation between two-dimensional potentially semi-stable trianguline E-representations and classical local Langlands correspondence for  $GL_2(K)$ .

# A.1 Classical local Langlands correspondence for $GL_2(K)$

First we briefly recall classical local Langlands correspondence for  $GL_2(K)$ . Let  $W_K \subset G_K$  be the Weil group of K, i.e. the inverse image of  $\langle \operatorname{Frob}_k \rangle_{\mathbb{Z}} \subseteq \operatorname{Gal}(\bar{k}/k)$  by the natural surjection  $G_K \to \operatorname{Gal}(\bar{k}/k)$ . (Here  $\langle \operatorname{Frob}_k \rangle_{\mathbb{Z}}$  is the subgroup of  $\operatorname{Gal}(\bar{k}/k)$  generated by the  $q = p^f$ th power Frobenius  $\operatorname{Frob}_k$  of k.) Here  $W_K$  is a topological group such that the inertia  $I_K := \operatorname{Ker}(G_K \to \operatorname{Gal}(\bar{k}/k))$  equipped with usual profinite topology is an open subgroup of  $W_K$ .

DEFINITION A1. Let L be a field of characteristic zero. We say that a finite-dimensional L-vector space D with discrete topology is an L-Weil-Deligne representation of K if D is equipped with:

- (1) a continuous L-linear action of  $W_K$ , i.e. there is a continuous morphism  $\rho: W_K \to \operatorname{Aut}_L(D)$ ;
- (2) a nilpotent L-linear operator  $N: D \to D$  such that  $N\rho(g) = q^{-\deg(g)}\rho(g)N$  for any  $g \in W_K$ ; here we define  $\deg(g) \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $g = \operatorname{Frob}_k^{\deg(g)} \in \operatorname{Gal}(\bar{k}/k)$  for any  $g \in W_K$ .

We say that an L-Weil–Deligne representation  $D := (D, \rho, N)$  is semi-simple if  $(D, \rho)$  is a semi-simple representation of  $W_K$ .

Next we recall Fontaine's recipe to construct a  $\bar{K}$ -Weil-Deligne representation from a potentially semi-stable E-representation of  $G_K$ . Let V be a potentially semi-stable d-dimensional E-representation of  $G_K$ . Then  $D_{\mathrm{pst}}(V) := \bigcup_{K \subset L, \mathrm{finite}} (B_{\log} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} V)^{G_L}$  is a free  $K_0^{\mathrm{un}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -module of rank d equipped with the natural  $(\varphi, N, G_K)$ -action on which  $\varphi$  and  $G_K$  act semi-linearly and N acts linearly. We define a continuous action of  $W_K$  on  $D_{\mathrm{pst}}(V)$  by  $\rho(g)x := \varphi^{-f\deg(g)}gx$  for any  $g \in W_K$  and  $x \in D_{\mathrm{pst}}(V)$ . We can see that this action is  $K_0^{\mathrm{un}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E$ -linear and satisfies  $N\rho(g) = q^{-\deg(g)}\rho(g)N$  for any  $g \in W_K$ . By using the fixed embeddings  $E \hookrightarrow \bar{K}$  and  $K_0^{\mathrm{un}} \hookrightarrow \bar{K}$ , we define a map  $K^{\mathrm{un}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E \to \bar{K}$ . Extending the scalar by this map, we obtain a  $\bar{K}$ -Weil-Deligne representation  $\bar{D}_{\mathrm{pst}}(V) := D_{\mathrm{pst}}(V) \otimes_{K^{\mathrm{un}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E} \bar{K}$  of K of dimension K. So we obtain a functor  $K \hookrightarrow \bar{D}_{\mathrm{pst}}(K)$  from the category of potentially semi-stable K-representations of K.

Next, for a  $\bar{K}$ -Weil-Deligne representation  $\bar{D}$  of K, we recall the definition of an L-factor of  $\bar{D}$ . Let us fix an isomorphism  $\bar{K} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \mathbb{C}$ . By this isomorphism, we can see  $\bar{D}$  as a  $\mathbb{C}$ -Weil-Deligne representation of K. Put  $\bar{J} := \bar{D}^{N=0,I_K=1}$ , the subspace of  $\bar{D}$  on which N=0 and  $I_K$  acts trivially. Let  $\sigma \in W_K$  be an element such that  $\deg(\sigma) = -1$ . Then  $\sigma$  acts on  $\bar{J}$  and this action does not depend on the choice of a lifting  $\sigma$ . Then we define the L-factor of  $\bar{D}$  by  $L(\bar{D},s) := \det(1 - \sigma q^{-s}|_{\bar{J}})^{-1}$ .

For a two-dimensional semi-simple  $\bar{K}$ -Weil–Deligne representation  $\bar{D}$ , we can define an irreducible smooth admissible representation  $\pi(\bar{D})$  of  $\mathrm{GL}_2(K)$  as in [BH06, § 33.1] (if we fix a non-trivial additive smooth character  $\psi: K \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ ). The irreducible smooth admissible representations of  $\mathrm{GL}_2(K)$  are classified into non-supercuspidal representations (i.e. one-dimensional representations or principal series representations or special series representations) and supercuspidal representations. We do not recall these definitions here. We only need the following proposition concerning this correspondence.

PROPOSITION A2. Let  $\bar{D}$  be a  $\bar{K}$ -Weil-Deligne representation of K. Let  $\bar{D}^{ss}$  be the semi-simplification of  $\bar{D}$ . Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1)  $\pi(\bar{D}^{ss})$  is non-supercuspidal;
- (2) the representation  $(\bar{D}, \rho)$  of  $W_K$  is reducible;
- (3) there is a continuous character  $\delta: W_K \to \bar{K}^\times$  such that  $L(\bar{D} \otimes_{\bar{K}} \bar{K}(\delta), s) \neq 0$ , here  $\bar{K}$  is equipped with discrete topology.

П

*Proof.* This follows from [BH06, Proposition 33.2].

# A.2 Two-dimensional trianguline representations and non-supercuspidal representations

Let V be a two-dimensional potentially semi-stable E-representation of  $G_K$ . Then  $\pi(\bar{D}_{pst}(V)^{ss})$  is an irreducible smooth admissible representation of  $GL_2(K)$ . In this section, we prove a relation between two-dimensional potentially semi-stable trianguline E-representations and non-supercuspidal representations of  $GL_2(K)$ .

Before stating the main result of this appendix, we give another useful characterization of two-dimensional split trianguline E-representations in terms of  $D_{\text{cris}}^K$ . This characterization is also a generalization of [Col08a, Proposition 5.3].

PROPOSITION A3. Let V be a two-dimensional E-representation of  $G_K$ . Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) V is a split trianguline E-representation;
- (2) there exists a continuous character  $\delta: G_K \to E^\times$  and an element  $\alpha \in (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^\times$  such that  $D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(V(\delta))^{\varphi=\alpha} \neq 1$ .

*Proof.* First we prove that condition (1) implies condition (2). Assume that V is a split trianguline E-representation. By definition, W(V) sits in a following short exact sequence of E-B-pairs

$$0 \to W_1 \to W(V) \to W_2 \to 0$$
.

Here  $W_i$  are rank-one E-B-pairs for i=1,2. By Theorem 1.45 and by the construction of  $W(\delta)$  for any  $\delta: K^\times \to E^\times$ , if we fix a uniformizer  $\pi_E$  of E then there exist  $(\delta_i, k_i)$  where  $\delta_i: G_K \to E^\times$  are continuous characters and  $k_i \in \mathbb{Z}$  for i=1,2 such that  $W_i \overset{\sim}{\to} W(E(\delta_i)) \otimes W_0^{\otimes k_i}$ , here  $W_0$  is defined before Theorem 1.45. If we twist the above exact sequence by the character  $\delta_1^{-1}$  and apply the left exact functor  $D_{\text{cris}}^K$ , we obtain an inclusion  $D_0^{\otimes k_1} \subseteq D_{\text{cris}}^K(V(\delta_1^{-1}))$  of E- $\varphi$ -modules of K. If we put  $K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E \overset{\sim}{\to} \bigoplus_{0 \le i \le f-1} K_0 \otimes_{E_0, \varphi^i} Ee_i$ ,  $D_0^{\otimes k_1} \overset{\sim}{\to} \bigoplus_{0 \le i \le f-1} K_0 \otimes_{E_0, \varphi^i} Ee_{i,k_1}$ , then we have  $\varphi(e_{0,k_1} + \cdots + e_{f-1,k_1}) = (\pi_E^{k_1} e_0 + e_1 + \cdots + e_{f-1})(e_{0,k_1} + \cdots + e_{f-1,k_1})$ . In particular,  $(e_{0,k_1} + \cdots + e_{f-1,k_1}) \in D_{\text{cris}}^K(V(\delta_1^{-1}))^{\varphi = (\pi_E^{k_1} e_0 + e_1 + \cdots + e_{f-1})}$  and  $(\pi_E^{k_1} e_0 + e_1 + \cdots + e_{f-1}) \in (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^\times$ . So we have proved that condition (1) implies condition (2).

Next we prove that condition (2) implies condition (1). Assume that  $D_{\text{cris}}^K(V(\delta))^{\varphi=\alpha} \neq 0$  for a character  $\delta: G_K \to E^\times$  and  $\alpha \in (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^\times$ . Because V is split trianguline if and only if  $V(\delta)$  is split trianguline, we may assume that  $V = V(\delta)$ . Let us take a non-zero  $x \in D_{\text{cris}}^K(V)^{\varphi=\alpha}$ . We consider the sub-E-filtered  $\varphi$ -module  $D_1 \subseteq D_{\text{cris}}^K(V)$  of rank one which is generated by x. Then, by Theorem 1.18(3), we have a natural inclusion of E-B-pairs  $W(D_1) \hookrightarrow W(D_{\text{cris}}^K(V)) \hookrightarrow W(V)$ .  $W(D_1)$  is an E-B-pair of rank one by Theorem 1.18(3). Taking the saturation  $W(D_1)^{\text{sat}}$  of  $W(D_1)$  in W(V) (Lemma 1.14), we obtain a short exact sequence of E-B-pairs

$$0 \to W(D_1)^{\text{sat}} \to W(V) \to W_2 \to 0.$$

Here  $W_2$  is the cokernel of  $W(D_1)^{\text{sat}} \hookrightarrow W(D)$ , which is an E-B-pair of rank one. So V is a split trianguline E-representation. We have finished the proof of this proposition.

The main theorem of this appendix is as follows.

THEOREM A4. Let V be a two-dimensional potentially semi-stable E-representation of  $G_K$ . Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) V is trianguline, i.e.  $V \otimes_E E'$  is a split trianguline E'-representation for some finite extension of E' of E;
- (2) the representation  $(\bar{D}_{pst}(V), \rho)$  of  $W_K$  is reducible;
- (3)  $\pi(\bar{D}_{pst}(V)^{ss})$  is a non-supercuspidal representation of  $GL_2(K)$ .

Proof. By Proposition A2, it suffices to show equivalence between conditions (1) and (3). The proof of this is a modified version of the proof of [Kis03, Lemma 1.3]. First we prove that condition (1) implies condition (3). Assume that  $V \otimes_E E'$  is a split trianguline E'-representation for a finite extension E' of E. By construction, we have  $\pi(\bar{D}_{pst}(V \otimes_E E')^{ss}) = \pi(\bar{D}_{pst}(V)^{ss})$ . So we may assume that E' = E and V is a split trianguline E-representation. Then, by Proposition A3, there exist  $\alpha \in (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times}$  and  $\delta : G_K \to E^{\times}$  such that  $D_{cris}^K(V(\delta))^{\varphi=\alpha} \neq 0$ . In this case, we claim that we can take  $\delta$  which is a potentially crystalline character. We show this claim as follows. In the proof of Proposition A3, W(V) sits in a following short exact sequence of E-B-pairs

$$0 \to W_1 \to W(V) \to W_2 \to 0$$
,

where  $W_1 := W_0^{\otimes k_1} \otimes W(E(\delta'))$  and  $W_2$  are rank-one E-B-pairs. In this case, because W(V) is a potentially semi-stable E-B-pair,  $W_1$  is also a potentially semi-stable E-B-pair. Because  $W_0$  is a crystalline E-B-pair, by definition, so  $W(E(\delta')) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} W_1 \otimes W_0^{\otimes -k_1}$  is also potentially semistable. So  $\delta'$  is a potentially crystalline character because rank-one semi-stable E-representations are crystalline. Then, as in the proof of Proposition A3, if we put  $\delta := \delta'^{-1}$ , then we have  $D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(V(\delta))^{\varphi=\alpha} \neq 0$  for some  $\alpha \in (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times}$ . So we have proved the claim. For this  $\delta$ , we have  $\bar{D}_{\mathrm{pst}}(V(\delta)) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} \bar{D}_{\mathrm{pst}}(V) \otimes_{\bar{K}} \bar{D}_{\mathrm{pst}}(E(\delta))$  because both V and  $E(\delta)$  are potentially semi-stable. So, by Proposition A2, it suffices to show that  $L(\bar{D}_{pst}(V(\delta)), s) \neq 1$ . Put  $\bar{J} := \bar{D}_{pst}(V(\delta))^{N=0, I_K=1}$ . If we put  $J := D_{\mathrm{pst}}(V(\delta))^{N=0,I_K=1}$ , then we have  $J \xrightarrow{\sim} \bigcup_{K \subset L \subset K^{\mathrm{un}}} D_{\mathrm{cris}}^L(V(\delta))$ , here  $K^{\mathrm{un}}$  is the maximal unramified extension of K. By using the fact that N is nilpotent on  $D_{\text{pst}}(V(\delta))$ and that  $I_K$  acts discretely on it, we can easily see that  $\bar{J} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} J \otimes_{K_0^{\mathrm{un}} \otimes_{\mathbb{D}_n} E} \bar{K}$ . Moreover, because  $\operatorname{Gal}(K^{\mathrm{un}}/K) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Gal}(K_0^{\mathrm{un}}/K_0)$  acts on J discretely and semi-linearly, so we have  $J \xrightarrow{\sim}$  $J^{\operatorname{Gal}(K^{\operatorname{un}}/K)} \otimes_{K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E} (K_0^{\operatorname{un}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)$  by Hilbert's theorem 90. Because we have  $J^{\operatorname{Gal}(K^{\operatorname{un}}/K)} =$  $D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(V(\delta))$ , we have  $\bar{J} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} D_{\mathrm{cris}}(V(\delta)) \otimes_{K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E} \bar{K}$ . Finally, if we take a non-zero element  $x \in$  $D_{\rm cris}(V(\delta))^{\varphi=\alpha}$  and consider the action of  $\sigma$  on x as a Weil-Deligne representation (here  $\sigma$ is an element in  $W_K$  such that  $\deg(\sigma) = -1$ , then we have  $\rho(\sigma)(x) = \varphi^f \sigma(x) = \varphi^f(x) = \varphi^{f-1}(\alpha) \cdots \varphi(\alpha) \alpha x = \beta x$ , here we put  $\beta := \varphi^{f-1}(\alpha) \cdots \varphi(\alpha) \alpha \in ((K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times})^{\varphi=1} = E^{\times}$ . So  $\bar{J}$ has a non-zero eigenvector of  $\sigma$ , hence we obtain  $L(\bar{D}_{pst}(V(\delta)), s) \neq 1$ . Thus, we have proved that condition (1) implies condition (3) by Proposition A2.

Next we prove that condition (3) implies condition (1). Let V be a two-dimensional potentially semi-stable E-representation such that  $\pi(\bar{D}_{pst}(V)^{ss})$  is non-supercuspidal. Then, by Proposition A2,  $L(\bar{D}_{pst}(V) \otimes_{\bar{K}} \bar{K}(\delta), s) \neq 1$  for a character  $\delta : W_K \to \bar{K}^{\times}$ . By this we can take a non-zero eigenvector  $x \in (\bar{D}_{pst}(V) \otimes_{\bar{K}} \bar{K}(\delta))^{N=0,I_K=1}$  of  $\sigma \in W_K$  with a non-zero eigenvalue  $\beta \in \bar{K}^{\times}$ . If we take E large enough, we may assume that  $\beta \in E^{\times}$  and that there exists a potentially crystalline character  $\delta' : G_K \to E^{\times}$  such that  $\bar{D}_{pst}(E(\delta')) \xrightarrow{\sim} \bar{K}(\delta)$ . Then we can

prove that there is an isomorphism  $(\bar{D}_{\mathrm{pst}}(V) \otimes_{\bar{K}} \bar{K}(\delta))^{N=0,I_K=1} \xrightarrow{\sim} (\bar{D}_{\mathrm{pst}}(V(\delta')))^{N=0,I_K=1} \xrightarrow{\sim} D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(V(\delta')) \otimes_{K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E} \bar{K}$  in the same way as the argument in the proof of condition (1) implies condition (3). If we decompose  $D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(V(\delta')) \xrightarrow{\sim} \oplus_{\tau:K_0 \hookrightarrow_E} D_{\tau} e_{\tau}$ , then we have  $D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(V(\delta')) \otimes_{K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E} \bar{K} = D_{id} \otimes_E \bar{K}$ . So, if we take E large enough, we may assume that x is contained in  $D_{id} e_{id}$ . If we put  $e := x + \varphi(x) + \cdots + \varphi^{f-1}(x) \in \oplus_{\tau:K_0 \hookrightarrow_E} D_{\tau} e_{\tau} = D_{\mathrm{cris}}^K(V(\delta'))$ , then we have  $\varphi^i(x) \in D_{\varphi^{-i}} e_{\varphi^{-i}}$  and  $\varphi(e) = (\beta e'_{id} + e'_{\varphi^{-1}} + \cdots + e'_{\varphi^{-(f-1)}}) e$ , where  $(\beta e'_{id} + \cdots + e'_{\varphi^{-(f-1)}}) \in (K_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}_p} E)^{\times} = (\bigoplus_{0 \le i \le f-1} E e'_{\varphi^{-i}})^{\times}$ . So, by Proposition A3,  $V(\delta')$  is a split trianguline E-representation. Thus, V is also a split trianguline E-representation. We have finished the proof of the theorem.  $\Box$ 

# Appendix B. List of notation

Here is a list of the main notation of the article, in the order of the section in which it appears.

- 0.1:  $p, K, G_K, \varphi, K_\infty, \Gamma_K$ .
- 0.2:  $E, k, K_0, K'_0, \chi, \mathbb{C}_p, \chi_{\mathrm{LT}}, \mathrm{rec}_K$ .
- 1.1:  $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}^{+}$ ,  $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}^{+}$ ,  $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ ,  $\widetilde{\mathbb{B}}^{+}$ ,  $\widetilde{\mathbb{B}}$ ,  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}$ ,  $A_{\mathrm{max}}$ ,  $[\widetilde{p}]$ ,  $B_{\mathrm{max}}^{+}$ , t,  $B_{\mathrm{max}}$ ,  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}$ ,  $B_{e}$ ,  $\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{+}$ ,  $\mathrm{Fil}^{i}B_{\mathrm{dR}}$ ,  $\log[\widetilde{p}]$ ,  $B_{\log}$ , N, V, W,  $W_{e}$ ,  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}^{+}$ ,  $W_{\mathrm{dR}}$ , W(V),  $\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger}$ ,  $\mathrm{rank}(W)$ ,  $W_{1} \otimes W_{2}$ ,  $W^{\vee}$ ,  $W_{1}^{\mathrm{sat}}$ ,  $D_{\mathrm{cris}}^{L}(W)$ ,  $D_{\mathrm{st}}^{L}(W)$ ,  $D_{\mathrm{dR}}^{L}(W)$ , W(D).
- 1.2:  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ ,  $\mathcal{R}_{L}$ ,  $\phi_{L}$ ,  $\mathcal{R}_{L}^{\mathrm{bd}}$ ,  $\mathcal{R}_{L}^{\mathrm{int}}$ ,  $v_{L}$ ,  $\omega$ ,  $\deg(M)$ ,  $\mu(M)$ ,  $[a]_{*}M$ ,  $\widetilde{A}_{[r,s]}$ ,  $\widetilde{B}_{[r,s]}$ ,  $\widetilde{B}^{\dagger,r}$ ,  $\widetilde{B}^{\dagger}$ ,  $\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger,r}$ ,  $\widetilde{B}_{\mathrm{rig}}^{\dagger}$ ,  $i_{n}$ ,  $A_{K_{0}}$ ,  $E_{K_{0}}$ ,  $\mathbb{A}$ ,  $\mathbb{B}$ ,  $A_{K}$ ,  $B_{K}$ ,  $B_{K}^{\dagger}$ ,  $B_{K}^{\dagger,r}$ ,  $E_{K}$ ,  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger,r}$ ,  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ ,  $B_{\mathrm{rig},K}^{\dagger}$ ,
- 1.3:  $W_e(D)$ ,  $W_{dR}^+(D)$ , W(D), D(W).
- 1.4:  $D_0$ ,  $W_0$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $W(\delta)$ ,  $U_{\text{fini}}^{H_K}$ ,  $\nabla_U$ ,  $D_{\text{Sen}}(W)$ ,  $\Theta_{\text{Sen},W}$ ,  $\{w_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}$ .
  - $2: B_E$
- 2.1:  $C^{\bullet}(W)$ ,  $C^{0}(W)$ ,  $C^{1}(W)$ ,  $H^{*}(G_{K}, W)$ ,  $\operatorname{Ext}^{1}(W_{2}, W_{1})$ ,  $\operatorname{H}_{e}^{1}(G_{K}, W)$ ,  $\operatorname{H}_{f}^{1}(G_{K}, W)$ ,  $\operatorname{H}_{q}^{1}(G_{K}, W)$ .
- 2.3:  $\sigma(x), N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_n}(x), |-|, |N_{K/\mathbb{Q}_n}(x)|, \partial.$
- 3.1:  $S^+$ ,  $S(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ ,  $\mathbb{P}_E(M)$ ,  $S'(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ ,  $S'^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ ,  $S'^{\text{non-\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ , W(s), V(s).
- 3.2:  $S_0^+, S_*^+, S'^{\text{ord}}(\delta_1, \delta_2).$
- 4.1:  $S''(\delta_1, \delta_2), S_{\text{st}}(\delta_1, \delta_2), S_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_1, \delta_2).$
- 4.2:  $T_{\text{cris}}$ ,  $G(\delta)_{\sigma}$ ,  $T_{\text{cris}}(\delta_{1}, \delta_{2}, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$ ,  $T_{\text{cris}}^{\text{\'et}}(\delta_{1}, \delta_{2}, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$ ,  $D_{(\delta_{1}, \delta_{2}, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}), x}$ ,  $V_{(\delta_{1}, \delta_{2}, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}), x}$ .
- 4.3:  $T_{\text{st}}$ ,  $T_{\text{st}}(\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma})$ ,  $D_{(\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}), (a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}$ ,  $V_{(\delta, \{k_{\sigma}\}_{\sigma}), (a_{\sigma}e_{\sigma})_{\sigma}}$ .
- A.1:  $W_K$ ,  $I_K$ ,  $D_{pst}(V)$ ,  $\bar{D}_{pst}(V)$ ,  $L(\bar{D}, s)$ ,  $\pi(\bar{D})$ .

# References

- BC06 J. Bellaïche and G. Chenevier, p-adic families of Galois representations and higher rank Selmer groups, Preprint (2006), arXiv:math.NT/0602340.
- Ber02 L. Berger, Représentations p-adiques et équations différentielles, Invent. Math. 148 (2002), 219–284.
- Ber08a L. Berger, Equations différentielles p-adiques et  $(\varphi, N)$ -modules filtrés, Astérisque **319** (2008), 13–38.
- Ber08b L. Berger, Construction de  $(\varphi, \Gamma)$ -modules: représentations p-adiques et B-paires, Algebra Number Theory **2** (2008), 91–120.
- BB06 L. Berger and C. Breuil, Sur quelques représentations potentiellement crystallines de  $GL_2(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ , Preprint (2006), arXiv:math/0601545.

- BC08 L. Berger and P. Colmez, Familles de représentations de de Rham et monodromie p-adique, Astérisque 319 (2008), 303–337.
- BK90 S. Bloch and K. Kato, *L-functions and Tamagawa numbers of motives*, in *The Grothendieck Festschrift*, Vol. I, Progress in Mathematics, vol. 86 (Birkhäuser, Boston, 1990), 333–400.
- BH06 C.-J. Bushnell and G. Henniart, *The local Langlands conjecture for GL(2)*, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenshaften, vol. 335 (Springer, Berlin, 2006).
- CC98 Cherbonnier and P. Colmez, Représentations p-adiques surconvergentes, Invent. Math. 133(3) (1998), 581–611.
- Col02 P. Colmez, Espaces de Banach de dimension finie, J. Inst. of Math. Jussieu 1 (2002), 331–439.
- Col04 P. Colmez, Une correspondance de Langlands locale p-adique pour les représentations semistables de dimension 2, Preprint (2004).
- Col07 P. Colmez, La série principale unitaire de  $GL_2(\mathbb{Q}_p)$ , Preprint (2007).
- Collo8a P. Colmez, Représentations triangulines de dimension 2, Astérisque 319 (2008), 187–212.
- Collo8b P. Colmez, Représentations de  $GL_2(\mathbb{Q}_p)$  et  $(\varphi, \Gamma)$ -modules, Preprint (2008).
- Fon90 J.-M. Fontaine, Représentations p-adiques des corps locaux T, in The Grothendieck Festschrift, Vol. U, Progress in Mathematics, vol. 87 (Birkhäuser, Boston, 1990), 249–309.
- Fon<br/>94a J.-M. Fontaine, Le corps des périodes p-adiques. Périodes p-adiques (Bures-sur-Yvette, 1988),<br/> Astérisque 223 (1994), 59–111.
- Fon94b J.-M. Fontaine, Représentations p-adiques semi-stables. Périodes p-adiques (Bures-sur-Yvette, 1988), Astérisque 223 (1994), 113–184.
- Ked04 K. Kedlaya, A p-adic local monodromy theorem, Ann. of Math. (2) 160 (2004), 93–184.
- Ked05 K. Kedlaya, Slope filtrations revisited, Doc. Math. 10 (2005), 447–525 (electronic).
- Ked07 K. Kedlaya, Some new directions in p-adic Hodge theory, Preprint (2007), arXiv:0709.1970v1.
- Ked08 K. Kedlaya, Slope filtrations for relative Frobenius, Astérisque 319 (2008), 259–301.
- Kis03 M. Kisin, Overconvergent modular forms and the Fontaine–Mazur conjecture, Invent. Math. 153 (2003), 373–454.
- Liu08 R. Liu, Cohomology and duality for  $(\varphi, \Gamma)$ -modules over the Robba ring Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN (3) (2008).

# Kentaro Nakamura kentarou@ms.u-tokyo.ac.jp

Department of Mathematical Sciences, University of Tokyo, 153-8914, Tokyo, Japan